### NEUROPILIN-1 IS UPREGULATED BY HTLV-1 bZIP FACTOR AND INHIBITS

### CELL-TO-CELL TRANSMISSION OF HTLV-1

by

WESLEY LYNN KENDLE

July, 2023

Director of Dissertation Isabelle Lemasson, PhD

Department of Microbiology and Immunology

Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University

### ABSTRACT

Human T-cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 (HTLV-1) is the etiologic agent of devastating diseases, including adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATL) and HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP). HTLV-1 relies heavily on cell-to-cell transmission as free virions are poorly infectious. Although cell-to-cell transmission is critical for efficient spread of HTLV-1, much is unknown about the impact of

extracellular proteins on viral transmission. Infection studies have been predominantly focused on HTLV-1 Transactivator protein (Tax), a viral protein with many roles in infection. HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor (HBZ) has recently been implicated infection, but relatively little is known about the role of HBZ in HTLV-1 viral spread. In this study, we found that HBZ upregulates expression of neuropilin-1 (NRP1). Neuropilin-1 is a ubiquitously expressed transmembrane receptor and an HTLV-1 receptor. HBZ is known to interact with a variety of cellular transcription factors, including AP-1 basic leucine zipper (bZIP) factors and cAMP response element binding protein (CBP)/p300 coactivator proteins. Our results indicate that HBZ interacts with certain AP-1 bZIP factors and CBP/p300 at a putative enhancer site downstream of *NRP1*. We propose a model in which HBZ upregulates NRP1 expression by forming an HBZ/AP-1 bZIP factor heterodimer, which interacts with the putative enhancer site with CBP/p300 coactivators and basal transcription machinery to upregulate expression of NRP1. Intriguingly, we discovered that NRP1 expression on HTLV-1-infected T-cells inhibits cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1. Furthermore, NRP1 expression does not alter virion release from infected cells, suggesting that NRP1 doesn't inhibit transmission through virion retention. We also provide evidence that NRP1 is incorporated into viral particles, resulting in a reduction in virion infectivity. Together, these results indicate that HBZ upregulates expression of NRP1, which reduces infection efficiency.

# NEUROPILIN-1 IS UPREGULATED BY HTLV-1 bZIP FACTOR AND INHIBITS CELL-TO-CELL TRANSMISSION OF HTLV-1

A Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology

The Brody School of Medicine at East Carolina University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in Microbiology and Immunology

by

Wesley Lynn Kendle

July, 2023

Director of Dissertation: Isabelle Lemasson, PhD Dissertation Committee Members: James Coleman, PhD Brandon Garcia, PhD Mark Mannie, PhD Ruth Schwalbe, PhD ©Wesley Lynn Kendle, 2023

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my family and friends for their steadfast support during every step of my academic journey and beyond. My husband, Josh Dalton, has been truly instrumental to my success through his unwavering support and positive attitude. My gratitude also goes out to my parents, Jayne and Paul Kendle, my siblings, Lindsey Gruber and Justin Kendle, my aunt, Rebecca Martin, and my oldest friend, Kayla Sweet, for their endless support and encouragement.

I would also like to acknowledge the Lemasson Lab for providing a research environment for me to use to grow my skills as a scientist and providing feedback during my educational journey. I would like to thank my committee for providing their guidance and support during my graduate education. Last but certainly not least, I to extend my sincerest gratitude to the members of Microbiology and Immunology department who have provided advice and support during my time at East Carolina University.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii
CHAPTER 1	1
AN INTRODUCTION TO HUMAN T-CELL LEUKEMIA VIRUS	1
DISCOVERY.	1
EPIDEMIOLOGY.	1
TRANSMISSION.	2
HTLV-1-Associated Diseases.	2
ADULT T-CELL LEUKEMIA	3
HTLV-1-ASSOCIATED MYELOPATHY/TROPICAL SPASTIC PARAPARESIS.	5
	10
HTLV-1 CELLULAR TROPISM.	12
DE NOVO INFECTION AND PERSISTENCE.	12
VIRION ASSEMBLY, BUDDING AND MATURATION.	17
HTLV-1 RECEPTORS.	18
Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans.	18
Neuropilin-1	20
Glucose Transporter-1	22
RETROVIRAL GENOME INTEGRATION.	25

PROVIRAL GENOME AND VIRAL PROTEINS.	. 26
HTLV-1 TRANS-ACTIVATOR PROTEIN.	. 27
Tax-Mediated Gene Expression and Oncogenesis.	.27
The Roles of Tax in Infectious Spread of HTLV-1.	. 30
HTLV-1 BASIC LEUCINE ZIPPER FACTOR	. 32
Roles of HBZ in Gene Expression.	. 33
The Roles of HBZ in Infectious Spread of HTLV-1.	. 37
CHAPTER 2	. 40
ABSTRACT	.41
	.42
RESULTS	.45
DISCUSSION	.71
MATERIALS AND METHODS	.76
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES	. 84
CHAPTER 3	. 88
NEW UNDERSTANDING OF THE ROLE OF HBZ AND NRP1 IN CELL-TO-CELL TRANSMISSIO	N
OF HTLV-1	.88
REFERENCES	. 99

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1.1. CLASSIC CHARACTERISTICS OF ATL	7
TABLE 1.2. TAX ENHANCES INFECTION THROUGH UPREGULATION OF   CERTAIN CELLULAR GENES.	31
TABLE 2.1. CELL LINES USED IN THIS STUDY.	77

### LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1.1. HTLV-1 VIRION STRUCTURE1	1
FIGURE 1.2. MECHANISMS OF HTLV-1 INFECTIOUS SPREAD1	6
FIGURE 1.3. THE HTLV-1 RECEPTOR COMPLEX1	19
FIGURE 1.4. NRP1 STRUCTURE AND BINDING PARTNERS.	24
FIGURE 1.5. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF THE HTLV-1 PROVIRUS AND MRNA TRANSCRIPTS2	29
FIGURE 1.6. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF THE STRUCTURE OF HBZ AND SELECT HBZ BINDING PARTNERS	) 34
FIGURE 1.7. SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF HTLV-1 VIRAL GENE EXPRESSION BY TAX AND HBZ	39
FIGURE 2.1. HBZ UPREGULATES GENES INVOLVED IN HTLV-1 INFECTION4	17
FIGURE 2.2. HBZ UPREGULATES NRP1 EXPRESSION	51
FIGURE 2.3 HBZ INCREASES C-JUN AND JUNB RECRUITMENT TO AN ENHANCER DOWNSTREAM OF THE NRP1 GENE	55
FIGURE 2.4.P300/CBP IS RECRUITED TO THE <i>NRP1</i> ENHANCER5	59
FIGURE 2.5. NRP1 KNOCK-DOWN INCREASES HTLV-1 INFECTION6	33
FIGURE 2.6. OVEREXPRESSION OF NRP1 REDUCES INFECTION6	<b>3</b> 7
FIGURE 2.7. THE ECTODOMAIN OF NRP1 IS RESPONSIBLE FOR INHIBITION OF HTLV-1 INFECTION.	<b>3</b> 9
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURE 1. HBZ ACTIVATES <i>COL4A1</i> , <i>COL4A2</i> AND <i>GEM</i> EXPRESSION IN ATL-DERIVED CELL LINES	34
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURE 2. NRP1 EXPRESSION IN TAX TRANSFECTED HELA CELLS.	36
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURE 3. THE SITE OF THE HBZ PEAK OF ENRICHMENT8	37

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AA	amino acid
ас	acetylation
AD	activation domain
aHSCT	allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
ATF	Activating transcription factor
ATL	adult T-cell leukemia
AZT	zidovudine
BR	basic region
bZIP	basic leucine zipper
CA	capsid
CBP	CREB-binding protein
CCR4	C-C motif chemokine receptor 4
CD	central domain
CD4	cluster of differentiation 4
CD8	cluster of differentiation 8
CD25	cluster of differentiation 25, also known as IL2RA
CD70	cluster of differentiation 70
CD80	cluster of differentiation 80
CD150	cluster of differentiation 150, also known as SLAMF1
CNS	central nervous system
COL4	type IV Collagen
COL4A1	collagen alpha-1 (IV)
COL4A2	collagen alpha-2 (IV)
CREB	cAMP response element binding protein
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
CTCL	cutaneous T-cell lymphoma
CTL	cytotoxic T-lymphocyte
CXCR3	C-X-C motif receptor 3

DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium		
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid		
ELISA	enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay		
Env	HTLV-1 envelope glycoprotein		
Foxp3	forkhead box P3		
GFP	green fluorescent protein		
GLUT1	glucose transporter-1		
HAM/TSP	HTLV-1-assocaited myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis		
HAT	histone acetyltransferase		
HBZ	HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor		
HSPG	heparin sulfate proteoglycans		
HTLV-1	human T-cell Leukemia Virus type 1		
HTLV-2	human T-cell Leukemia Virus type 2		
HTLV-3	human T-cell Leukemia Virus type 3		
HTLV-4	human T-cell Leukemia Virus type 4		
ICAM-1	intracellular adhesion molecule 1		
IN	integrase		
IFN-α	interferon alpha		
IFN-Y	interferon gamma		
IL2RA	interleukin-2 receptor alpha chain		
IS	immunological synapse		
KIX	kinase-inducible interaction		
LFA-1	lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1		
LTR	long terminal repeat		
MA	matrix		
mRNA	messenger RNA		
MTOC	microtubule organizing center		
NAP1	nucleosome assembly protein 1		
NC	nucleocapsid		
NPC	nuclear pore complex		

NRP1	neuropilin-1
ORF	open reading frame
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PIC	pre-integration complex
Pol	polymerase
Pro	protease
qRT-PCR	quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
Rab5	Ras analog in brain-5
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNAPII	RNA polymerase II
RT	reverse transcriptase
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEM	standard error of the mean
sgRNA	single guide RNA
sHBZ	spliced HBZ
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SLAMF1	signaling lymphocytic activation molecule 1
SMAD3	SMAD family member 3
sMAF	small MAF
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphisms
Sp1	specificity protein 1
SU	surface subunit
TBP	TATA box-binding protein
Th1	T helper type 1
Тах	transactivator-X
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
TIGIT	T-cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains
ТМ	transmembrane glycoprotein
TRE/TxRE	Tax-responsive element

TRE-1	Tax-responsive element-1, also known as vCRE
Treg	regulatory T-cell
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor alpha
U3	unique/ Untranslated 3'
U5	unique/ Untranslated 5'
usHBZ	unspliced HBZ
VS	virological synapse
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis virus
VLP	virus-like particle
WT	wild-type
ZIP	leucine zipper
ZNF	zinc fingers

#### CHAPTER 1

#### An Introduction to Human T-cell Leukemia Virus

#### Discovery.

Human T-cell Leukemia Type 1 (HTLV-1) was first reported in 1980 following the isolation of this virus from T-cells collected from a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma (CTCL)<sup>1</sup>. The first pathogenic human retrovirus to be identified, HTLV-1 is now known to be one of the most potent human oncoviruses and remains the main focus of HTLV research<sup>2</sup>. Since the isolation of HTLV-1, several other subtypes of HTLV have been discovered. HTLV-2 was isolated from a patient with hairy cell leukemia <sup>3</sup>. HTLV-2 is associated with increased cancer mortality, however, the association between HTLV-2 and cancer development is not well understood <sup>4</sup>. HTLV-2 has also been implicated in the development of neurological symptoms, however, a clear link between HTLV-2 and a characterized neurological disorder has not yet been described <sup>5</sup>. HTLV-3 and HTLV-4 were both identified in bushmeat hunters in Africa <sup>6,7</sup> and, to date, have not been implicated in the development of disease.

#### Epidemiology.

It is estimated that 5-10 million people worldwide are infected with HTLV-1<sup>8</sup>. Although HTLV-1 is widely distributed worldwide, it is considered endemic to certain regions including sub-Saharan Africa<sup>9</sup>, South America, the Caribbean basin, northern Iran<sup>10</sup>, Japan, and Central Australia<sup>11-13</sup>. The majority of HTLV-1-infected individuals remain asymptomatic for life but are still able to transmit the infection to others<sup>14</sup>.

#### Transmission.

Interpersonal transmission of HTLV-1 can occur during transfusion of cellular blood products (through blood transfusion or IV drug use), sexual contact and during breastfeeding. Prolonged duration of breastfeeding and high maternal proviral load both contribute to likelihood of transmission from mother to infant during breastfeeding<sup>15,16</sup>. Breastfeeding remains a major route of transmission in certain populations with high infection rates due to a combination of factors, including limited access to HTLV-1 testing and infant formula. Due to increased blood screening methods to detect anti-HTLV-1 antibodies in blood donors, blood transfusions now pose a low risk of HTLV-1 transmission<sup>14</sup>.

#### HTLV-1-Associated Diseases.

Approximately 3-5% of HTLV-1-infected individuals will develop an associated disease<sup>8</sup>. HTLV-1 is associated with a variety of pathologies, including leukemia, immune-mediated inflammatory diseases and increased susceptibility to certain bacterial pathogens. Disease outcomes associated with HTLV-1-infection are broad, which is thought to be due to differences in the host immune response, rather than HTLV-1 genotype differences<sup>17</sup>.

HTLV-1 infection is associated with a number of immune-mediated inflammatory diseases, including HTLV-associated myelopathy/ tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP), uveitis<sup>18,19</sup>, polymyositis<sup>20</sup>, Sjogren's syndrome<sup>21,22</sup>, sicca syndrome<sup>23,24</sup> and infective dermatitis<sup>25</sup>. Although HTLV-1 does not cause generalized immune suppression, as seen with HIV-1, HTLV-1 infection is associated with an increased susceptibility to certain bacterial pathogens including: *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*<sup>26,27</sup>,

*Staphylococcus aureus* (infective dermatitis)<sup>28</sup>, *Strongyloides stercoralis*<sup>29</sup> and *Sarcoptes scabiei*<sup>30</sup>. Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATL), an aggressive leukemia, and HAM/TSP, a progressive neurodegenerative disease are the most common HTLV-1-associated pathologies.

#### Adult T-cell Leukemia.

HTLV-1 is described as one of the most potent oncoviruses with 3-5% of infected individuals developing Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATL)<sup>2,8</sup>. Animal models have recapitulated the oncogenicity of two key HTLV-1 regulatory proteins, HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor (HBZ) and Transactivator-1 (Tax). HBZ and Tax will be discussed in greater detail in subsequent sections<sup>31,32</sup>. Shortly after the discovery of HTLV-1, it was determined that this retrovirus was the causative agent of ATL when T-cells isolated from an individual with ATL were found to contain the HTLV-1 genome<sup>33</sup>.

ATL, a malignancy characterized by the aggressive proliferation of mature CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, develops in 3-5% of HTLV-1-infected individuals<sup>34</sup>. ATL typically occurs in individuals who were infected as infants through breastfeeding. The development of ATL typically occurs decades after initial infection, but median age-at-onset varies geographically<sup>34</sup>. In Japan, ATL is often diagnosed in individuals who are 60-70 years old<sup>35</sup>. In the United States, Europe, South America and Central America, the median age at diagnosis is 40-55 years<sup>35-37</sup>. In Brazil, pediatric cases of ATL have been identified<sup>38</sup>.

ATL was once thought to be a cancer of HTLV-1-infected regulatory T-cells, however, recent studies have shown that HTLV-1 induces features of regulatory T-cells in conventional T-cells<sup>39,40</sup>. The HTLV-1 protein HBZ induces FoxP3 expression through

Smad3-dependent TGF- $\beta$  signaling<sup>32</sup>. Indeed, one study found that in approximately 58% of ATL cases, FoxP3 expression was detectable in ATL cells<sup>41</sup>.

The HTLV-1 genome has little sequence variability and the proviral sequence of asymptomatic individuals is not distinct from those of ATL or HAM/TSP patients, suggesting that the key determining factor(s) in the development of these diseases are due to differences in the hosts<sup>17</sup>. Chromosomal analysis identified chromosomal abnormalities in 96% of ATL patients tested<sup>42</sup>. Analysis of genetic mutations in ATL cells identified high integration of genetic abnormalities in the T-cell receptor (TCR)/NF-KB signaling pathway as the more predominant genetic mutation, seen in over 90% of cases<sup>43</sup>. T-cell receptor (TCR)/NF-KB signaling pathway related genetic mutations include: *PLCG1*, *PRKCB*, *CARD11*, *VAV1*, *IRF4* and *FYN<sup>43</sup>*. Mutations in other signaling factors (*STAT3*, *NOTCH1*), transcription factors (*IKZF2*, *TP53*, *GATA3*, and *IRF4*), epigenetic factors (TET2 and EP300), chemokine receptors (CCR3 and CCR7) and structural variants (CD274) were also identified in ATL cells<sup>43,44</sup>.

ATL typically involves the bone marrow, skin, brain, blood and lymphoid organs. Based on circulating lymphocyte count, solid organ involvement and symptom severity, ATL is categorized into four subtypes: smoldering, chronic, acute, and lymphomatous<sup>45</sup> (**Table 1.1**). Prognosis and response to therapy vary drastically between the different ATL subtypes. For indolent ATL (smoldering and chronic), combination therapy using zidovudine (AZT) and interferon-alpha (IFN- $\alpha$ ) can prolong survival<sup>46</sup>. The prognosis for aggressive ATL (acute and lymphomatous) is particularly poor, with death often occurring within a year of diagnosis<sup>47,48</sup>. The poor prognosis associated with aggressive ATL is due to a large tumor burden associated with multiorgan failure, hypercalcemia,

and/or frequent infections as the result of profound T-cell immune deficiency. Furthermore, aggressive ATL is often intrinsically resistant to chemotherapeutics<sup>49</sup>. Currently, allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (aHSCT) is the best treatment option for aggressive ATL, with one third of individuals achieving long-term survival<sup>48,50</sup>. However, aHSCT is not a feasible treatment option for many individuals<sup>48</sup>. Although aHSCT has been reported to be curative for approximately 35% of patients with aggressive ATL based on 3-year overall survival rates, aHSCT is also associated with transplant-related mortality in up to 40% of cases<sup>48</sup>. Therefore, Japanese guidelines suggest that aHSCT should only be considered after a first line of therapy has failed<sup>48</sup>. The combination of arsenic trioxide and IFN-  $\alpha$  treatment has been found to induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in ATL cells<sup>51</sup> through proteasomal degradation of the HTLV-1 Tax protein and reversal of NF/kB activation<sup>52,53</sup>. More recent studies have found that arsenic trioxide in combination with low-dose AZT/ IFN-α may enhance longterm disease control with moderate side effects<sup>54</sup>. More recently, CCR4, a highly expressed chemokine receptor on ATL cells, has been targeted using the anti-CCR4 monoclonal antibody, mogamulizumab<sup>55-57</sup>. Mogamulizumab and lenalidomide, an immunomodulatory drug, have been approved for treatment of ATL in Japan<sup>58-60</sup>.

#### HTLV-1-Associated Myelopathy/Tropical Spastic Paraparesis.

HTLV-1 is also the etiologic agent of HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP), a disease impacting 0.25-3.8% of HTLV-1-infected individuals<sup>61,62</sup>. First described in 1969, HAM/TSP is a chronic, progressive neurodegenerative disorder of the central nervous system (CNS), which produces symptoms similar to those of multiple sclerosis (MS). HAM/TSP symptoms can vary

greatly, but the following five symptoms are typically present: lower limb stiffness and/or weakness, lumbar back pain, bladder dysfunction, bowel dysfunction and sexual dysfunction<sup>63</sup>. Mild cognitive impairment can also occur in HAM/TSP patients<sup>64</sup>. Symptoms of HAM/TSP usually begin during the fourth or fifth decade of life and 50% of inflicted individuals will become wheelchair-dependent within twenty years of symptom onset<sup>65</sup>. Individuals who are older at age of onset typically experience a more rapid progression of motor dysfunction<sup>64,66</sup>.

	Acute	Lymphoma	Chronic	Smoldering
Circulating HTLV-1 antibodies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Circulating ATL cells	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Lymphocyte count	Elevated	Normal	Elevated	Normal
Ca <sup>2+</sup> level	High	High	Normal	Normal
Rash	Variable	Variable	Variable	Variable
Lymphadenopathy	Variable	Yes	Variable	No
Organomegaly	Variable	Variable	Mild	No
Skin and/or lung involvement	Variable	Variable	Variable	Variable
Bone marrow and/or spleen involvement	Variable	Variable	Variable	No
Bone, gastrointestinal and/or CNS involvement	Variable	Variable	No	No

### Table 1.1. Classic characteristics of ATL.

Table 1.1 modified from previous studies  ${}^{67-69}$ . Yes/No indicates whether or not a feature is characteristic of each subtype of ATL. Normal/Elevated/Low indicates the level of the indicated feature. Variable indicates that the presence/absence of a particular characteristic is not consistent between individuals with a particular ATL subtypes (*i\_e.* variable between ATL cases of a particular subtype).

Individuals with HAM/TSP experience strong peripheral blood and CNS immune response to HTLV-1<sup>70,71</sup>, with the proportion of HTLV-1-targeting cytotoxic Tlymphocytes (CTL) being higher in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) than peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) in HAM/TSP patients<sup>71-74</sup>. The immune response in HAM/TSP patients is severely skewed towards T helper type 1 cells (Th1), with infiltrating cells producing pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interferon-  $\chi$  (IFN- $\chi$ ), tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ )<sup>75-78</sup>. Furthermore, the infiltrating HTLV-1-infected T-cells express Th1 markers T-bet, INF-Y and the C-X-C motif receptor 3 (CXCR3)<sup>79</sup>. Together, this has led to the proposed model for HAM/TSP development in which CXCR3-expressing HTLV-1-infected T-cells cross the blood brain barrier, where they secrete IFN-Y. The secreted IFN-Y induces astrocytes to produce CXCL10, which induces migration of CXCR3+ inflammatory cells. Further production of IFN-Y by infiltrating cells continues the stimulation of astrocytes and continual infiltration of inflammatory cells into the CNS<sup>80</sup>. The resulting inflammatory response results in neuronal demyelination, known as "bystander damage"<sup>81,82</sup>.

Other host immune factors, which are driven by genetics, are thought to impact the overall likelihood of HAM/TSP development. The specificity and efficiency of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells to HTLV-1-infected cells is determined by the HLA class 1 genotype of HTLV-1infected individuals, which is turn determines how effectively the HTLV-1 proviral load is controlled. A significant reduction in proviral load and subsequent protective effects from HAM/TSP has been observed with the HLA class I genes, *HLA-A\*01* (in Southern regions of Japan and Brazil) and *HLA-Cw\*08* (in Southern regions of Japan)<sup>83-85</sup>. Intriguingly, stronger binding to an HBZ peptide was observed with *HLA-A\*01* and *HLA*-

*Cw\*08*, resulting in lower HTLV-1 proviral load and reduced HAM/TSP risk<sup>86</sup>. HLA alleles HLA-B\*07 and HLA-B\*5401 (HLA class I alleles) and HLA-DRB1\*0101 (HLA class II allele) appear to be associated with increased susceptibility to HAM/TSP<sup>83,84,87</sup>. Furthermore, polymorphisms of various genes have been associated with altered risk of HAM/TSP development through analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Polymorphisms in the promoters of IL-10 (*IL10-592A*), stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1: *SDF1* + *801A*) and IL-15 (*IL-15* + *191C*) appear to be protective against HAM/TSP development, while polymorphisms in the promoter of IL-6 (IL6-634C) and TNF (TNF-863A) are detected at higher frequency in HAM/TSP patients<sup>88-90</sup>.

Treatment options for HAM/TSP are limited. Due to a lack of effective treatment targeting the disease pathology, treatment protocols are typically directed at controlling pain, muscle spasms and urinary incontinence. Corticosteroid therapy is the most widely accepted HAM/TSP treatment; however, the benefits of this treatment are questionable<sup>91</sup>. Antiviral treatments, including combination therapies of the reverse transcriptase inhibitors zidovudine and lamivudine, have also been tested. However, these therapies did not reduce proviral load or improve symptoms<sup>92,93</sup>. Mogamulizumab, an anti-CCR4 antibody, has shown promise in the treatment of HAM/TSP. CD4+CCR4+ T-cells represent the main reservoir of HTLV-1<sup>94</sup>. In *in vitro* studies, mogamulizumab eradicated HTLV-1-infected T-cells in peripheral blood from HAM/TSP patients<sup>79,95</sup>. Furthermore, mogamulizumab has been found to reduce proviral load and improve neurological symptoms in patients with HAM/TSP in a recent clinical trial<sup>96</sup>. An additional, controlled trial focusing on mogamulizumab is currently underway in Japan (UMIN000019942).

#### Virion Structure.

HTLV-1 is an enveloped delta-retrovirus with a positive sense, single-stranded RNA genome. The HTLV-1 virion (**Figure 1.1**) is approximately 100nm in diameter and is composed of an outer envelope, which contains viral envelope protein (Env). Env contains two subunits: a transmembrane subunit (TM; gp21) and a surface subunit (SU; gp46). Within the envelope layer lies a layer of matrix protein (MA; p19) and the viral core. The viral core is composed of capsid protein (CA; p24) and contains two copies of the nucleocapsid protein (NC; p15)- studded 9-kb (+) ssRNA HTLV-1 genome, protease (PR), polymerase (Pol) and reverse transcriptase (RT).



**Figure 1.1. HTLV-1 virion structure**. The HTLV-1 virion is composed of an envelope membrane, which contains viral envelope (Env) proteins. Env consists of a transmembrane component (TM) and surface subunit (SU). Beneath the envelope is a matrix (MA) layer and the viral core. The viral core is composed of capsid protein (CA), which contains two copies of the positive-sense (+) ssRNA viral genome, which is studded with nucleocapsid protein (NC), and the following viral enzymes: integrase (IN), reverse transcriptase (RT), and protease (PR).

**HTLV-1 Cellular Tropism.** HTLV-1 utilizes three receptors to infect cells: heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG)<sup>97,98</sup>, neuropilin-1 (NRP1)<sup>99,100</sup>, and glucose transporter-1 (GLUT1)<sup>101,102</sup>. Due to the ubiquitous nature of these receptors, many different cell types are able to become infected by HTLV-1, including: CD4+ T-cells, CD8+ T-cells, endothelial cells, dendritic cells (DCs), B-cells, monocytes and macrophages<sup>103-106</sup>. However, HTLV-1 preferentially infects CD4+/CCR4+ cells and CD4+ T-cells account for over 90% of proviral load *in vivo*<sup>107,108</sup>. Interestingly, while CD4+ T-cells and CD8+ T-cells are similarly susceptible to HTLV-1, selective outgrowth of CD4+ T-cells, but not CD8+ T-cells, appears to contribute to the predominance of HTLV-1 infection of CD4+ T-cells<sup>109</sup>.

The presence of an intragenic viral enhancer was recently discovered in the HTLV-1 provirus<sup>110</sup>. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that this enhancer is important for chromatin openness, the induction of aberrant host gene transcription and regulation of viral gene transcription<sup>110</sup>. Studies using immortalized PBL cell lines established from HTLV-1 carrying the wild-type intragenic viral enhancer compared to a mutated intragenic viral enhancer have demonstrated that the wild-type form of this enhancer results in a T-cell population that is predominantly CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>, rather than CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> as seen with cells infected by the virus containing the mutated enhancer, suggesting that this promoter contributes to the predominance of HTLV-1-infected CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell *in vivo<sup>111</sup>*.

**De novo Infection and Persistence.** HTLV-1 virions are rarely detectable in the serum of infected individuals<sup>112</sup> and only 1 in 10<sup>5</sup> viral particles produced by HTLV-1-infected lymphocytes are infectious<sup>113</sup>. There are multiple factors which appear to contribute to the negligible infectivity of cell-free HTLV-1 particles. Firstly, most viral particles

released into the supernatant of HTLV-1-infected cells have an incomplete capsid shell, indicating an issue with virion assembly<sup>114</sup>. Secondly, the infectious half-life of HTLV-1 virions at 37°C is approximately 36 minutes, which is notably lower than the 8.5 hour half-life of bovine leukemia virus at the same temperature<sup>115</sup>. The relatively low half-life of HTLV-1 is the result of the labile disulfide bonds between the SU and TM components of gp46<sup>115</sup>.

Although HTLV-1 spread primarily occurs through cell-to-cell transmission, HTLV-1-infected T-cells and DCs can generate free virions<sup>116,117</sup>. Cell-free HTLV-1 virions can infect MDDCs and, to a lesser extent, T-cells, based on in vitro studies<sup>117,118</sup> (Figure 1.2). Dendritic cells can either become productively infected by virions and infect other cells (cis-infection), or they can capture virions and transfer them to target cells (trans-infection)<sup>119,120</sup>. Given the primary routes of interpersonal HTLV-1 transmission in which epithelial barriers are exposed to HTLV-1, infection of dendritic cells has also been considered as an early step in infection. Although HTLV-1-infected T-cells are unable to cross the epithelial border or infect epithelial cells in vitro, epithelial cells are able to capture HTLV-1 virions from infected T-cells at their apical surface and release them at their basal surface through transcytosis<sup>121</sup>. Since free virions are rarely detected *in vivo*, this suggests that virions retained at the cell surface of T-cells may be moved across the epithelial layer through transcytosis, facilitating the infection of DCs, which are able to infect T-cells<sup>117,119,120</sup>. HTLV-1 infection may be spread from DCs to Tcells in secondary lymphoid organs, where surveilling T-cells actively interact with antigen presenting DCs. CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in secondary lymphoid tissues express higher levels of NRP1 than CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in peripheral blood<sup>122</sup>. Infected T-cells are then able to

transmit HTLV-1 to other T-cells<sup>123</sup>. Therefore, DCs are thought to represent an important HTLV-1 reservoir, promoting dissemination of HTLV-1 through clonally expanded CD4+ T-cells<sup>119,124-126</sup>.

Transmission of HTLV-1 primarily occurs via cell-to-cell transmission through three non-exclusive mechanisms: the formation of virological synapses (VS), cellular conduits and transfer of the viral biofilm<sup>127-130</sup> (Figure 1.2). The VS is formed when intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) on the surface of an infected cell interacts with lymphocyte function associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) on a target cell. This interaction initiates a signaling event that results in polarization of the microtubule organization center (MTOC) towards the point of cell-cell contact and accumulation of HTLV-1 core protein complexes and genome at the point of contact<sup>131,132</sup>. The VS is reminiscent of an immunological synapse (IS), however, MTOC polarization during the IS occurs within a T-cell following interactions of the T-cell receptor with the major histocompatibility complex of an antigen-presenting cell<sup>133</sup>. Cellular conduits are filopodium-like protrusions that allow for transmission of HTLV-1 over a greater distance<sup>129</sup>. The viral biofilm is carbohydrate-rich, extracellular assembly composed of extracellular matrix proteins and linker proteins, including agrin, collagen, galectin-3, CD4, CD150 (also known as signaling lymphocytic activation molecule 1 [SLAMF1]), CD25 (also known as interleukin-2 receptor alpha chain [IL2RA]), CD70, and CD80<sup>130,134</sup>. It has been proposed that virions are retained within these assemblies, which are rapidly transferred to target cells upon contact<sup>130</sup>. Type IV collagen (COL4) expression specifically has been found to be activated in HTLV-1-infected T-cells. COL4 expression enhances HTLV-1 transmission through enhanced transfer of HTLV-1 virions from effector to

target cell, suggesting a model in which COL4 is important for tethering HTLV-1 virions to the cell surface, promoting efficient cell-to-cell transmission<sup>135</sup>. HTLV-1 persists throughout the lifetime of the host primarily through clonal expansion of infected T-cells, also known as mitotic viral spread<sup>61,136</sup>. However, a recent study determined that infectious viral spread through *de novo* infection is ongoing during HTLV-1 infection<sup>137</sup>.



**Figure 1.2. Mechanisms of HTLV-1 infectious spread**. Infectious spread of HTLV-1 primarily occurs through cell-to-cell transmission between T-cells (**A-C**) or cell-free transmission to DCs (**D**). (**A**) The virological synapse (VS) is characterized by the interaction between ICAM-1 on an infected cell with LFA-1 on the surface of a target cell, creating a point of close cell-cell contact. The interaction between these receptors triggers polarization of the MTOC in the infected cell towards the VS followed by budding and release of viral particles. (**B**) Cellular conduits are filopodium-like projections that extend from an infected cell towards the target cell, allowing for transmission across a greater distance. (**C**) The carbohydrate-dense viral biofilm retains viral particles at the cell surface and potentially serves as a vehicle for viral particle transfer to target cells. (**D**) Cell-free HTLV-1 viral particles can productively infect MDDCs.

#### Virion Assembly, Budding and Maturation.

Given the limited research focusing on the generation of HTLV-1 virions, much of the current knowledge on retroviral assembly, budding and maturation is based on HIV-1 studies. However, it is known that HTLV-1 Rex exports viral mRNAs out of the nucleus through nuclear pore complexes (NPCs) and into the cytoplasm<sup>138-141</sup>. Following nuclear export, the Env precursor is synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum and directed to the plasma membrane by the Golgi apparatus. During transport to the plasma membrane, host furin-like proteases cleave the envelope polyprotein precursor into SU (gp46) and TM (gp21)- the functional forms of the envelope glycoproteins. Covalent interactions maintain the association between the SU and TM subunits, which will be incorporated into the cell membrane<sup>142</sup>.

The remaining steps required for the development of infectious retroviral particles are as follows<sup>143</sup>:

- Assembly of Gag polyprotein at the plasma membrane, facilitating formation of the immature viral capsid. Interactions between Gag-retroviral RNA, Gag-Gag and Gag-membrane are essential for viral particle assembly and budding<sup>144</sup>.
- Budding of the immature capsid from the cell membrane, resulting in envelopment of the capsid. Unlike HIV-1, in which membrane binding of Gag is dependent upon phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate [PI(4,5)P2], there is no preferential binding of HTLV-1 Gag to PI(4,5)P2 for targeting of virion budding sites<sup>145</sup>.
- 3) Release of the immature viral particle from the cell surface

4) Maturation of the viral particle. During virus budding and shortly after virus release, the viral protease is responsible for cleavage of Gag and Pol proteins, which is essential for virion maturation and the development of infectious particles<sup>143,146,147</sup>.

#### HTLV-1 Receptors.

Three receptors are utilized by HTLV-1 to facilitate entry into target cells: heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), neuropilin-1 (NRP1) and glucose transporter-1 (GLUT1)<sup>148</sup>.

#### Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans.

Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) are transmembrane proteins with negatively charged, long, linear heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycan chains covalently attached<sup>149,150</sup>. HSPGs have numerous capabilities, including functioning as: a receptor for proteases and protease inhibitors, a co-receptor for cell adhesion receptors and various tyrosine kinase-type growth factors and binding cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and morphogens to prevent proteolysis<sup>149</sup>. Interestingly, it has been demonstrated that HTLV-1 SU is able to bind to HSPGs, indicating that HSPGs function as a cellular attachment receptor for HTLV-1<sup>97</sup>. More recently, HSPGs have been demonstrated to be important for binding and internalization of HTLV-1 viral particles into CD4+ T-cells<sup>98,151</sup>.



**Figure 1.3. The HTLV-1 receptor complex.** The HTLV-1 receptor complex includes HSPGs, NRP1 and GLUT-1. HSPGs are cell surface receptors composed of a core domain and long heparin glycosaminoglycan chains. NRP1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein composed of 5 extracellular domains. GLUT-1 is a multi-pass transmembrane protein.

#### Neuropilin-1.

The 120 kDa transmembrane glycoprotein, NRP1, is involved in a number of important cellular processes<sup>152,153</sup>. NRP1 is ubiquitously expressed in many cell types, particularly those within the central nervous system and vasculature systems<sup>154,155</sup>. Within the immune system, NRP1 expression is more restricted and tightly regulated and NRP1 is primarily expressed on DCs, monocytes, macrophages, natural killer cells and regulatory T-cells<sup>156-161</sup>. In regulatory T-cells (Tregs), which are important for maintaining immunological self-tolerance, NRP1 is involved in tolerance-mediated responses, transplantation acceptance, and driving tumor growth<sup>162-165</sup>. Overexpression of NRP1 on DCs and Tregs has been implicated in tumor development<sup>165-167</sup>.

Structurally, NRP1 has five extracellular domains (a1, a2, b1, b2, and c), a transmembrane domain, and a short cytoplasmic domain<sup>152</sup> (Figure 1.3). Independently, without the presence of a co-receptor, NRP1 is not known to possess intrinsic signaling capabilities, however, when functioning as a co-receptor, NRP1 is able to impart biological functions<sup>153</sup>. The most well studied NRP1 ligands are semaphorins and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A), which utilize plexin and VEGF receptor (VEGFR) as co-receptors, respectively<sup>168,169</sup>.

NRP1 contains a short cytoplasmic domain which contains a conserved PDZ domain-binding (SEA) motif able to interact with PDZ containing proteins. Due to the small size of the NRP1 cytoplasmic domain, it was once thought that this domain was not involved in cell signaling<sup>170</sup>. However, it has since been indicated that the domain is important for signaling during two conditions in which NRP-1 functions as a co-receptor. Firstly, upon the interaction of the extracellular component of NRP1 with  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 integrin,

the NRP1 SEA motif is able to bind to synectin. Together, these interactions initiate a signaling event that results in the internalization of active  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 1 integrin in Ras analog in brain-5 (Rab5)-positive early endosomes<sup>171</sup>. Additionally, the interaction between the cytoplasmic domain of NRP1 and synectin also appear to be important for efficient complex formation between NRP1 and VEGFR-2<sup>172</sup>.

The a1, a2 and b1 domains of NRP1 can interact with class II semaphorins (Sema3) and class IV semaphorins (Sema4)<sup>170</sup>. NRP1/Sema3 interactions are important for axonal guidance<sup>173</sup>. Sema4A/NRP1 interactions are involved in the stability and function of regulatory T-cells<sup>163</sup>. NRP1 has also been implicated in other immune processes, including the formation of the immunological synapse (IS). Interestingly, treatment of T-cells or DCs with anti-NRP1 antibody reduces duration of T-cell/DC contact, suggesting a role of homotypic NRP1 interactions between T-cells and DCs during the formation of the IS<sup>174</sup>. However, the specific NRP1 domain(s) involved in this process remains unknown<sup>174</sup>.

Interactions between NRP1 and VEGF, mainly VEGF-A<sub>165</sub>, involve vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR)<sup>153</sup>. VEGF-A<sub>165</sub> is secreted, rather than being sequestered in the extracellular matrix, and contains 7 coding exons (1-5, 7 and 8)<sup>175</sup>. VEGF-A<sub>165</sub> interacts with b1 and b2 domains of NRP1<sup>170</sup>. The association of VEGF<sub>165</sub> with NRP1 can occur in either a HSPG-dependent or HSPG-independent manner<sup>176-178</sup>. In the presence of HSPG, the exon 7 domain of VEGF-A<sub>165</sub> can bridge HSPG to the b domain of NRP1<sup>178-180</sup>. In the absence of HSPG, the exon 8 domain of VEGF-A<sub>165</sub> facilitates binding of VEGF<sub>165</sub> to the b domain of NRP1.

In addition to functions in normal physiological processes, NRP1 also serves as a receptor for multiple viruses, including SARS-CoV-2 and HTLV-1<sup>100,151,181,182</sup>. Binding of the SARS-CoV-2 viral spike protein to the b1 domain of NRP1 induced a conformational change in the spike protein, facilitating cleavage of the spike protein by a furin protease into two polypeptides: Spike-1 (S1) and Spike-2 (S2)<sup>183-185</sup>. This process yields an Arg-Arg-Ala-Arg (RRAR) C-terminus sequence motif on S1 that conforms to the "C-end rule" (CendR)<sup>186</sup>. CendR facilitates internalization of particles displaying the C-terminal RRAR motif through NRP1-dependent endocytosis<sup>186,187</sup>.

During HTLV-1 viral entry, HTLV-1 SU binds to the b domain of NRP1 through molecular mimicry of VEGF<sub>165</sub> exon 8<sup>99</sup>. Specifically, residues 85-94 and 304-312 of HTLV-1 SU bind to the b1 domain of NRP1<sup>188</sup>. Interestingly, the SU/NRP1 interaction is enhanced by HSPGs<sup>99</sup>. Unlike SARS-CoV-2, which exploits the CendR for NRP1mediated endocytosis, HTLV-1 utilizes NRP1 as a binding factor and GLUT1 for internalization<sup>99,189</sup>.

#### Glucose Transporter-1.

Glucose transporter-1 (GLUT-1) is a class I facultative glucose transporter composed of 12 hydrophobic transmembrane α-helices involved in the transport of glucose, galactose, mannose, glucosamine and ascorbic acid<sup>190</sup>. GLUT-1 a ubiquitous transporter and is expressed at very low levels in quiescent T-cells<sup>191</sup>. However, expression of this transporter is induced following activation of T-cells<sup>191</sup>. GLUT-1 was the first HTLV-1 receptor to be identified and is required for HTLV-1 infection of CD4+ T-cells<sup>102,189,192</sup>. Residues D106 and Y114 of SU have been demonstrated to be involved in GLUT-1 binding<sup>192</sup>. Based on retroviral studies, it's thought that the interaction
between HTLV-1 Env and GLUT1 initiates a conformational change in the SU-TM complex and that activates a fusion domain within the TM subunit, facilitating fusion of the viral and cell membranes<sup>193-197</sup>.



**Figure 1.4. NRP1 structure and binding partners.** NRP1 has 5 extracellular domains (a1, a2, b1, b2 and c), a transmembrane domain and a small cytoplasmic domain. Domains a1, a2 and b1 are important for binding of semaphorins, an interaction which utilizes plexin as a co-receptors. Domains b1 and b2 are important for binding of VEGF, which involves VEGFR as a co-receptor. The b1 domain also serves as a binding site for HTLV-1 gp46 and SARS-CoV-2 S1. The c domain is important for receptor oligomerization. NRP1 also contains a transmembrane (TM) domain and a cytoplasmic (ctyo) domain, which can interact with PDZ domain-containing proteins.

# **Retroviral Genome Integration.**

After viral entry has occurred, the viral CA core, which contains two copies of the viral RNA genome, RT, IN, and PR is delivered to the cytoplasm where the positive sense ssRNA genome is reverse transcribed into a dsDNA intermediate by the viral reverse transcriptase and integrated into the host cell genome by the viral integrase<sup>198</sup>. Naturally infected T-cells typically contain one copy of the HTLV-1 provirus<sup>199</sup>. Viral integration was previously thought to occur at random sites within the host's genome, however, it is now known that integration is directed toward a nonpalindromic DNA motif<sup>200</sup> within transcriptionally active regions of the genome<sup>201</sup>. Furthermore, integration is more likely to occur near certain host genes, particularly *STAT1*, *HDAC6* and *TP53*<sup>202</sup>. HTLV-1 genome integration into acrocentric chromosomes 13, 14 and 15 is associated with improved survival of infected cells based on the frequency in which these integration sites were identified in HTLV-1-infected cells<sup>199,203</sup>.

Following integration of the HTLV-1 genome into a host-cell chromosome, the HTLV-1 provirus is flanked by the 5' and 3' long terminal repeats (LTR) which contain bidirectional promoters to facilitate viral gene transcription<sup>204-207</sup> (**Figure 1.5**). Each LTR contains three regions: the unique 3' (U3), the repeated (R), and the unique 5' (U5)<sup>208-210</sup>. The U3 region of the 5' LTR contains a segment known as the Tax response element I (TRE-1)<sup>204</sup>. Although the TRE-1 contains three discontinuous base pair (bp) repeats, the middle TRE-1 repeat (TRE-1 II) is the most important for efficient transcription<sup>204</sup>. Each TRE-1 contains three conserved domains (A, B, and C)<sup>209,211-213</sup>. Of these conserved domains, the B domain is especially important for viral gene expression as it contains five of the eight base pairs that make up what is known as the

viral cAMP response element (vCRE), the location at which the HTLV-1 *trans*-activator protein (Tax) is able to initiate transcription from the viral promoter. Tax is able to utilize the B domain and either the A or C domain for transactivation<sup>214</sup>.

### **Proviral Genome and Viral Proteins.**

HTLV-1 is a complex retrovirus, indicating that it contains genes common to all retroviruses (*pro*, *pol*, *gag* and *env*) and genes encoding regulatory and accessory proteins within the 9 kilo base (kb) genome<sup>215</sup> (Figure 1.5). The *pro* and *pol* genes encode the viral protease and reverse transcriptase, respectively. The *gag* gene encodes capsid, matrix and nucleocapsid (structural proteins). The *env* gene encodes the two components of the viral envelope protein: the transmembrane protein and surface glycoprotein.

Genes encoding regulatory and accessory proteins are located within the *pX* region, which has 6 open reading frames (ORF I-VI). p12, a protein which can be further processed to p8, is encoded in ORF-I<sup>216</sup>. p8 is important for infection as it has been observed to induce cellular conduit formation<sup>127,129</sup>. ORF-II encodes p13 and p30<sup>216,217</sup>. p8/12, p13 and p30 are expressed at low levels *in vivo* and have roles infectivity and persistence but are not essential for HTLV-1-infected cells<sup>218-223</sup>.

Three alternatively spliced regulatory genes are located within the *pX* region: *rex* and *tax* on the plus-strand and *hbz* on the minus-strand<sup>224</sup>. ORF- III and ORF-IV encode Rex and Tax as the result of doubly spliced RNA<sup>225</sup>. *hbz*, the only viral gene in the antisense orientation, is transcribed from the 3' LTR and encodes HBZ<sup>226-228</sup>.

#### HTLV-1 Trans-activator Protein.

### Tax-Mediated Gene Expression and Oncogenesis.

Tax is a viral transcription factor that is indispensable for high-level expression of HTLV-1 genes<sup>229-232</sup>. Activation of the 5' LTR by Tax involves recruitment of cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) to the vCRE region of TRE-1. CREB can form homodimers or a CREB/ATF heterodimer through leucine zipper domain interactions<sup>209,233,234</sup>. Importantly, the phosphorylation of CREB at serine 133 enables its transcriptional activity<sup>235</sup>. The zinc-finger domain of Tax facilitates the formation of a Tax homodimer, which subsequently binds to the CREB dimer<sup>209,233,234</sup>. The Tax dimer associates with the G/C rich regions flanking the vCRE, stabilizing the complex, promoting enhanced binding specificity of CREB dimers and facilitating efficient proviral transcription from the 5' LTR<sup>236-240</sup>.

Efficient sense viral transcription is also highly dependent upon CBP or p300 coactivator protein recruitment to the Tax/CREB complex<sup>241-244</sup>. CBP and p300 are paralogous proteins with several conserved domains, including: the SRC-interacting domain, two cysteine-histidine-rich domains (CH1 and CH3), and the KIX domain<sup>245,246</sup>. These domains serve as binding sites for a variety of cellular and viral transcription factors. Tax is able to interact with the CH1, the SRC-interacting and the KIX domains of CBP/p300 coactivators<sup>241,247-251</sup>. CBP/p300 coactivators are able to acetylate histone and non-histone substrates and promote chromatin remodeling to facilitate gene expression<sup>252-255</sup>. Nucleosome assembly protein 1 (NAP1), a histone chaperone molecule, has also been implicated in Tax-mediated chromatin remodeling<sup>254</sup>.

Tax contributes to the oncogenesis of infected cells through various mechanisms. Tax activates the non-canonical NF-kB pathway, which contributes to cell survival and oncogenesis<sup>255</sup>. In addition to activating the NF-kB pathway, Tax interacts with host signaling proteins to facilitate persistent activation of this pathway<sup>256-258</sup>. However, hyper-activation of NF-kB signaling leads to cellular senescence<sup>259,260</sup>. Tax can also drive senescence through interactions with the deubiquitinase USP10 and subsequent reactive oxygen species (ROS) induction<sup>261,262</sup>.



# Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the HTLV-1 provirus and mRNA

**transcripts.** The integrated HTLV-1 genome is flanked by long terminal repeats (LTRs) at the 5' and 3' ends. The LTRs are the result of the integration process and contain untranslated regions (U3 and U5) and a repetitive region (R). Most viral genes, including tax, are expressed from the 5' LTR. Spliced HBZ (sHBZ) and unspliced HBZ (usHBZ) are expressed from the 3' LTR.

## The Roles of Tax in Infectious Spread of HTLV-1.

Tax is a potent activator of numerous transcription pathways, affecting many cellular functions and products<sup>248,263-270</sup>. Tax is capable of deregulating over one hundred genes and is of particular importance in HTLV-1 pathogenesis, including cellular transformation and infection<sup>271</sup>. Tax has various functions that support spread of HTLV-1 infection, including *trans*-activation of proviral transcription through the 5' LTR promoter, which is required for virion production<sup>229</sup>. Tax also promotes infection by activating the signaling cascade that stimulates MTOC polarization during formation of the VS<sup>272</sup>. Cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1 through upregulation of components of the viral biofilm and other cellular factors would enhance infection, including: ICAM1, fascin, type IV collagen and gem (**Table 1.2**)

Tax is highly immunogenic and promotes an anti-HTLV-1 cytotoxic T-cell response<sup>273-275</sup>. Consequently, Tax expression is tightly controlled, resulting in intermittent expression throughout infection<sup>276,277</sup>. Tax expression is downregulated through deletion of the 5' LTR, methylation of the 5' LTR and non-sense mutations<sup>278-284</sup>. Interestingly, propagation of HTLV-1 continues throughout infection<sup>201,285</sup>, even when Tax is not expressed<sup>202</sup>, which may be supported by constitutive expression of HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor (HBZ)<sup>286</sup>.

Cellular Gene	Protein Product	Proposed Role in Infection	Reference
CCL22	Chemokine ligand 22	Attraction of CCR4+ T-cells	107
COL4A1	Collagen 4 alpha 1	Biofilm component	130,135,287
COL4A2	Collagen 4 alpha 2	Biofilm component	130,135
FSCN-1	Fascin	Enhanced virion release and cell-to-cell transmission	288,289
LGALS3	Galectin-3	Biofilm component	130,290
GEM	GTP-binding mitogen- induced T-cell protein	Cytoskeleton remodeling	290,291
ICAM-1	Intracellular adhesion molecule-1	VS formation, MTOC polarization, and syncytium formation	292,293
TNFAIP2	M-sec	Enhanced membrane protrusions and Gag clustering	294
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1	Syncytium formation	295,296

 Table 1.2. Tax enhances infection through upregulation of certain cellular genes.

### HTLV-1 Basic Leucine Zipper Factor.

HBZ is constitutively expressed throughout HTLV-1 infection and impacts numerous cellular functions<sup>297</sup>. The *hbz* gene is transcribed from TATA-less bidirectional promoter in the 3' LTR that contains transcription start sites dispersed throughout the U5 and R regions of the 3' LTR<sup>205,297</sup>. Consistent with previous studies implicating specificity protein 1 (Sp1) in transcription from TATA-less promoters, Sp1 is important for *hbz* transcription<sup>298,299</sup>. Two isoforms of HBZ have been described: unspliced HBZ (usHBZ) and spliced HBZ (sHBZ) which are 209 and 206 amino acids (AA), respectively<sup>205,300</sup>. The AA sequences of the two HBZ isoforms only differ in a small region of the N-terminus and the domains involved in transcriptional regulation are highly conserved in both HBZ isoforms<sup>205,300,301</sup>. Spliced HBZ, the predominant isoform, has a longer half-life and more strongly suppresses Tax-mediated sense viral transcription<sup>205,228,297,300</sup>.

HBZ protein contains an N-terminal activation domain (AD), two central basic regions, and a C-terminal basic leucine zipper domain (bZIP) (**Figure 1.6**)<sup>226,227</sup>. Based on the presence of nuclear localization signals within the basic regions of HBZ (two within the central domain and one within the bZIP domain) and the demonstrated presence of HBZ in the nucleus, HBZ is traditionally classified as a nuclear protein<sup>226,302,303</sup>. Due to the lack of a high-quality antibody targeting HBZ, HBZ localization has primarily been explored using cells transfected with tagged HBZ plasmids. Recent studies from one laboratory have indicated that HBZ is only present in the cytoplasm of asymptomatic carriers and HAM/TSP patients, while tumor cells from leukemic patients contain HBZ in the cytoplasm and the nucleus<sup>304</sup>. However, the HBZ

antibody generated and utilized by for the latter study has not been validated for immunofluorescence microscopy<sup>305</sup>. Furthermore, there is some discrepancy when comparing HBZ localization using GFP-tagged HBZ and the recently developed HBZ antibody (*i.e.* one study determined that HBZ is localized to the nucleus and the cytoplasm, while another study determined that HBZ is only localized to the nucleus)<sup>305</sup>. Given the complicating factor described above and the abundance of evidence supporting nuclear localization of HBZ, nuclear localization of HBZ is widely accepted.

# Roles of HBZ in Gene Expression.

# Viral Gene Expression.

HBZ is able to downregulate sense proviral transcription through multiple mechanisms. The HBZ bZIP domain can interact with CREB to inhibit binding of CREB to vCREs<sup>226,306</sup>. The HBZ AD contains two LxxLL-like motifs, which interact directly with the kinase-inducible domain (KID) interacting domain (KIX) of CBP/p300<sup>307</sup>. Recruitment of CBP/p300 by HBZ through this interaction results in sequestration of these coactivators from Tax, ultimately down-regulating Tax-mediated proviral transcription (**Figure 1.7**)<sup>306-308</sup>. sHBZ represses Tax-mediated proviral transcription much more strongly than usHBZ<sup>205</sup>. sHBZ and Sp1, together, are able to have the opposite impact on the HBZ promoter, upregulating expression of HBZ (**Figure 1.7**)<sup>205</sup>. Furthermore, recent studies have demonstrated that HBZ RNA can also downregulate sense viral transcription by impacting the interaction of RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) with the 5' LTR through displacement the basal transcription initiator, TATA box-binding protein (TBP)<sup>309</sup>.



**Figure 1.6. Schematic representation of the structure of HBZ and select HBZ binding partners.** HBZ is a 206 amino acid protein that can be divided into three distinct domains: the activation domain (AD), the central domain, and the bZIP domain. The AD can interact with the KIX domain of p300/CBP. The central domain contains two basic regions and is involved in nuclear localization. The bZIP domain can interact with the HAT domain of p300/CBP and members of the AP-1, ATF/CREB, and Maf families of transcription factors (indicated by green boxes).

### Cellular Gene Expression.

HBZ can also interact with CBP/p300 to alter cellular gene expression. HBZ can bind to the HAT and C/H3 domains of CBP/p300, which results in a reduction in p53 acetylation and activity<sup>310</sup>. It has also been demonstrated that HBZ, through its Nterminal LxxLL-like motif, can form a ternary complex with p300 and SMAD family member 3 (SMAD3) to enhance activation of the TGF- $\beta$  signaling, resulting in forkhead box P3 (Foxp3) expression<sup>39</sup>. Activation of TGF- $\beta$  signaling and subsequent Foxp3 expression is advantageous for HTLV-1-infected T-cells as it promotes the conversion to regulatory T-cells, thereby promoting viral persistence<sup>39</sup>.

The bZIP domain of bZIP transcription factors contains a basic region involved in DNA binding and a ZIP region that facilitates dimerization through coiled-coil interactions with similar domains of other bZIP factors. The basic region of HBZ, however, is atypical and lacks consensus amino acid motifs present in most bZIP factors that facilitate efficient DNA binding and DNA binding only occurs in rare situations. Although unable to form homodimers, HBZ can form heterodimers with certain members of the Jun, Maf and activating transcription factor (ATF)/CREB families of cellular bZIP factors (Figure 1.6)<sup>311</sup>. Interactions between c-Jun or JunB and unspliced HBZ often results in transcriptional repression through bZIP factor sequestration and proteosomal degradation, which effectively prevents c-Jun and JunB from activating transcription<sup>302,311,312</sup>. Recently, it was shown that HBZ splice variant 1 actually stabilizes c-Jun and JunB expression<sup>313</sup>. HBZ can activate gene expression by stimulating JunD-dependent transcription from an AP-1 consensus site<sup>302</sup>. HBZ-JunD heterodimers have also been shown to activate transcription of *hbz* and *hTERT* through

interactions with the *hbz* and *hTERT* promoters, respectively. This mechanism occurs through binding of an HBZ/JunD heterodimer to the transcription factor SP-1 when SP-1 is prebound to the DNA (**Figure 1.7**)<sup>314-316</sup>. HBZ can also heterodimerize with members of the Maf transcription factor family and ATF/CREB bZIP factors<sup>226,306,311,317-319</sup>. Although most of these interactions results in transcriptional repression, HBZ is able to activate transcription of certain genes. For example, HBZ can form dimers with small Mafs, which can bind MARE sequences within the *HMOX1* upstream enhancer site, resulting in activation of gene expression<sup>317</sup>. HBZ can also stimulate expression of the bZIP transcriptional factor, activating transcription factor (ATF)-like 3 (BATF3), which results in upregulation of BATF3 and subsequent regulation of downstream targets of BATF3<sup>320</sup>. Post-transcriptionally, HBZ impacts gene expression by altering mRNA splicing events<sup>321,322</sup>.

It has been demonstrated that both HBZ mRNA and HBZ protein, the only viral protein constitutively expressed in ATL cells, are able to alter normal cellular functions<sup>297</sup>. HBZ RNA and protein can both induce C-C motif chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4), promoting T-cell migration and proliferation<sup>323</sup>. HBZ RNA and protein are also able to activate T-cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT) expression, resulting in impaired anti-viral immunity<sup>324</sup>. However, the most well-known role of HBZ RNA and protein is in oncogenesis. HBZ RNA has been implicated in ATL as it promotes proliferation and inhibits apoptosis of T-cells<sup>325</sup>. Alternatively, HBZ protein increases apoptosis<sup>297</sup>. Further promoting oncogenesis, HBZ promotes genetic instability and interferes with normal DNA repair mechanisms<sup>326,327</sup>. Indeed, the bZIP domain of HBZ reduces non-homologous end joining repair of double-stranded DNA

breaks<sup>326</sup>. The oncogenic potential of HBZ has been further demonstrated using a mouse model, in which transgenic mice expressing HBZ in CD4+ T-cells developed T-cell lymphoma and inflammation<sup>32</sup>.

### The Roles of HBZ in Infectious Spread of HTLV-1.

Interestingly, *in vivo* analyses exploring the role of HBZ in infection using HTLV-1 molecular clones and rabbit model system identified a possible role of HBZ in infection<sup>328</sup>. The ability of HTLV-1 producer cell lines encoding wildtype HBZ, a severely truncated HBZ mutant or a C-terminal leucine zipper mutant to infect rabbits was assessed. Infection with virus from either HBZ mutant resulted in a significantly lower proviral load compared to infection from virus produced by wildtype HBZ-expressing cells. Furthermore, the similar trend exhibited from infection with virus from HBZ truncation mutant and leucine zipper mutant cells supports a potential role of the ZIP domain in HBZ-mediated enhancement of HTLV-1 infection<sup>328</sup>. A similar study was performed using rhesus macaques. Rhesus macaques were inoculated with HTLV-1 molecular clone-derived virus expressing an HBZ knockout through two point mutations. Interestingly, spontaneous partial or full seroconversion to wildtype was identified following inoculation<sup>223</sup>. Together, results of these *in vivo* studies support a potential role of HBZ in cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1.

Furthermore, our laboratory recently demonstrated *in vitro* that HBZ significantly enhances cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1<sup>329</sup>. We found that expression of HBZ in Tcells increases cellular aggregation, a phenotype attributed to elevated levels of ICAM-1 <sup>329</sup>. This is consistent with previous reports implicating ICAM-1 as an important adhesion molecule during formation of the virological synapse<sup>292</sup>. Additionally, we also

found that HBZ upregulates transcription of the *MYOF* gene, which encodes for myoferlin, a protein involved in vesicles trafficking<sup>330</sup>. Upregulation of myoferlin inhibits HTLV-1 envelope degradation and increases adhesion. Other genes reported to be involved in infection, including *NRP1*, *COL4A1* and *GEM* were also identified by our lab as potentially upregulated by HBZ. However, the possibility that *NRP1* could potentially be upregulated by HBZ was particularly intriguing as NRP1 is known to be important for infection of target cells. Until now a role for NRP1 on HTLV-1-infected cells has not been demonstrated. Given this, the focus of our study was to determine the implications of NRP1 expression on HTLV-1-infected T-cells, specifically in terms of viral infectivity.



**Figure 1.7. Schematic representation of HTLV-1 viral gene expression by Tax and HBZ.** Tax forms complexes with CREC and p300/CBP, which can interact with the 5' LTR to activate sense viral transcription. HBZ can form a complex with Sp1 and JunD to activate antisense viral transcription from the 3' LTR. Tax mRNAs are exported from the nucleus by Rex. HBZ can down-regulate Tax-mediate proviral transcription by sequestering CREB, p300/CBP or Rex.

# **CHAPTER 2**

Upregulation of Neuropilin-1 inhibits HTLV-1 infection.

Wesley Kendle<sup>1</sup>, Kimson Hoang<sup>1</sup>, Erica Korleski<sup>1</sup>, Amanda R. Panfil<sup>2</sup>, Nicholas Polakowski<sup>1</sup> and Isabelle Lemasson<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, North Carolina, United States of America.

<sup>2</sup> Center for Retrovirus Research and Department of Veterinary Biosciences, College of Veterinary Medicine, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, United States of America.

# ABSTRACT

Infection with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) can produce a spectrum of pathological effects ranging from inflammatory disorders to leukemia. In vivo, HTLV-1 predominantly infects CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells. Infectious spread within this population involves the transfer of HTLV-1 virus particles from infected cells to target cells only upon cell-to-cell contact. The viral protein, HBZ, was found to enhance HTLV-1 infection through transcriptional activation of ICAM1 and MYOF, two genes that facilitate viral infection. In this study, we found that HBZ upregulates transcription of COL4A1, GEM and NRP1. COL4A1 and GEM are genes involved in viral infection, while NRP1, which encodes neuropilin-1 (Nrp1) serves as an HTLV-1 receptor on target cells but has no reported function on HTLV-1-infected cells. With a focus on Nrp1, cumulative results from chromatin immunoprecipitation assays and analyses of HBZ mutants support a model in which HBZ upregulates *NRP1* transcription by augmenting recruitment of Jun proteins to an enhancer downstream of the gene. Results from *in vitro* infection assays demonstrate that Nrp1 expressed on HTLV-1-infected cells inhibits viral infection. Nrp1 was found to be incorporated into HTLV-1 virions, and deletion of its ectodomain removed the inhibitory effect. These results suggest that inhibition of HTLV-1 infection by Nrp1 is caused by the ectodomain of Nrp1 extended from virus particles, which may inhibit binding of virus particles to target cells. While HBZ has been found to enhance HTLV-1 infection using cell-based models, there may be certain circumstances in which activation of Nrp1 expression negatively impacts viral infection, which is discussed.

## INTRODUCTION

Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) is a complex retrovirus that primarily infects CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells *in vivo*. Worldwide, 5-10 million people are estimated to be infected with HTLV-1 of which 5-10% will experience pathological effects associated with the viral infection<sup>8,285</sup>. Specifically, HTLV-1 is the etiologic agent of an often fatal form of leukemia designated adult T-cell leukemia (ATL) and, separately, a progressive inflammatory neurodegenerative disease known as HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP)<sup>80,331</sup>. HTLV-1 infection is additionally associated with other inflammatory maladies that include infective dermatitis, uveitis, polymyositis, and Sjogren's syndrome<sup>81</sup>.

Infectious spread of HTLV-1 within the T-cell population requires direct contact between HTLV-1-infected and target T-cells. Once cell-to-cell contact is established, virions are transferred to target cells through a virological synapse or through cellular conduits or from virions contained in an extracellular biofilm-like matrix that is released from the surface of the infected cell<sup>127-130,289</sup>. These infection mechanisms are not believed to be mutually exclusive. Subsequently, HTLV-1 virions bind to the cell surface and fuse with the plasma membrane through interactions of the surface unit (SU) of the HTLV-1 envelope protein with three receptors: heparin sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), neuropilin 1 (Nrp1) and glucose transporter 1 (Glut1)<sup>97,100,189</sup>. These receptors are believed to act in concert as a tri-receptor complex with HSPGs mediating initial virion attachment that, through interactions between HSPG and Nrp1, deliver the virion to Nrp1 to establish high-affinity binding. At this stage a conformational change in SU is believed to promote Glut1 binding, which induces fusion and entry<sup>148</sup>.

Nrp1 displays a diverse array of coreceptor functions. It interacts with plexins to mediate class 3 Semaphorin signaling, which is involved in repulsive axon quidance<sup>168,169</sup>. It also functions as a coreceptor for multiple growth factor receptors involved in angiogenesis, specifically augmenting signaling activated by vascular endothelial growth factor 165, platelet-derived growth factor-B, hepatocyte growth factor and fibroblast growth factor<sup>332-335</sup>. In addition, Nrp1 enhances signaling through transforming growth factor  $\beta 1$  (TGF- $\beta 1$ )<sup>336</sup>, which is associated with maintaining regulatory T-cells and, through a non-canonical signaling pathway, has also been implicated in cancer progression<sup>362</sup>. The composition of the extracellular region of Nrp1 is critical to the binding of this diverse set of signaling ligands. This region of the protein contains two tandem N-terminal CUB domains (a1 and a2) for Semaphorin binding followed by two tandem Factor V/VIII homology domains (b1 and b2) for growth factor binding followed by a membrane proximal MAM domain (c) that is proposed to position the other domains away from the membrane, allowing for an extended ectodomain<sup>337,338</sup>.

The HTLV-1 protein, HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper (bZIP) factor (HBZ), regulates transcription through its capacity to interact with an array of cellular transcriptional regulators. HBZ contains an N-terminal activation domain with two LxxLL motifs that mediate high-affinity binding to the paralogous cellular coactivators p300 and CBP (interchangeably denoted p300/CBP)<sup>307,308</sup>. Within its C-terminal region, HBZ contains a leucine zipper (ZIP) domain that forms heterodimers with certain cellular bZIP factors, including Jun proteins, members of the maf family and certain members of the ATF/CREB family<sup>226,302,306,311,317-319,339,340</sup>. In addition, HBZ has been reported to interact

with other transcriptional regulators<sup>341,342</sup>. One consequence of its transcriptional regulator function is to activate cellular genes important for HTLV-1 infection. Specifically, HBZ upregulates expression of ICAM-1<sup>329</sup>, which facilitates binding of infected cells to target cells and promotes formation of the virological synapse<sup>131,289</sup>. In addition, HBZ induces expression of myoferlin, which abrogates lysosomal-mediated degradation of the HTLV-1 envelope protein and promotes cell adhesion<sup>330</sup>.

In this study, we provide evidence that HBZ increases expression of two other genes that contribute to HTLV-1 infection, COL4A1 and GEM. Additionally, we found that HBZ increases expression of NRP1. While contributions of the former genes to viral infection have been investigated<sup>135,291</sup>, no role for Nrp1 expressed on HTLV-1-infected cells has been reported, which prompted us to investigate Nrp1 further. We identified an enhancer downstream of the NRP1 gene that was bound by HBZ, resulting in increased recruitment of Jun proteins and p300/CBP to this chromosomal region. Analysis of HBZ mutants and results from ChIP assays support a primary role for HBZ in increasing binding of Jun proteins to the enhancer. Unexpectedly, mutations in the LxxLL motifs of HBZ did not reduce NRP1 transcription, indicating that HBZ is not directly involved in the recruitment of p300/CBP to this enhancer. In in vitro infection assays, Nrp1 inhibited infection, an effect that was associated with its incorporation into cell-free virions produced by HTLV-1-infected T-cell lines. Finally, using HEK293T cells, we found that inhibition of infection by Nrp1 was abolished by deletion of its extracellular domain. suggesting that the extended ectodomain of Nrp1 on HTLV-1 virions inhibits infection. Given the overall positive role of HBZ toward viral infection, we speculate that negative effects on infection caused by activation of Nrp1 might only arise during specific stages

of HTLV-1 pathogenesis, such as progression from an indolent to an aggressive form of ATL, which is discussed.

# RESULTS

Genes involved in HTLV-1 infection are upregulated in HBZ-expressing cells. HBZ was shown to enhance HTLV-1 infection by activating transcription of ICAM1 and *MYOF*<sup>329,330</sup>. Analysis of previous gene expression microarray data using HeLa cell clones lacking or expressing HBZ<sup>343</sup>, revealed three additional genes potentially upregulated by HBZ that were previously reported to be involved in viral infection. These included COL4A1, GEM, and NRP1. COL4A1 along with COL4A2 encode collagen type IV alpha 1 and 2 chains, respectively, and are expressed in HTLV-1infected T-cells<sup>135</sup>. COL4A1 and COL4A2 likely form the collagen matrix of biofilm-like viral assemblies on HTLV-1-infected cells that transfer virions to target cells during cell contact<sup>130</sup>. Gem is a GTP-binding protein with roles in signal transduction<sup>344</sup>. In HTLV-1infected T-cells, Gem promotes formation of cell-to-cell conjugates, potentially increasing infection of target T-cells<sup>291</sup>. Lastly, NRP1 encodes neuropilin-1 (Nrp1), which is the cellular receptor that interacts with the HTLV-1 envelope protein to facilitate stable binding of virions to target cells<sup>99</sup>. Using quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR), expression of all three genes was confirmed to be elevated in the HBZexpressing cells (Figures 2.1A, 2.1C and 2.1D). Given that COL4A1 and COL4A2 are "head-to-head" genes, they are expected to share certain promoter elements, which led us to also analyze COL4A2 expression. Expression of this gene was also slightly elevated in HBZ-expressing cells (Figure 2.1B). It is important to note that COL4A1/A2

expression is high in HeLa cells, which might partially mask levels of activation by HBZ. Regulation of *COL4A1* and *GEM* expression by HBZ was partly supported by *in silico* analysis of RNA-seq data from Nakagawa *et al.* who used CRISPR-Cas9 to disrupt the *hbz* gene in ATL cells<sup>320</sup> (**Supplemental Figure 1**). Furthermore, analysis of ChIP-seq data from the same study revealed peaks of HBZ-enrichment associated with each gene<sup>320</sup> (**Supplemental Figure 1**). The identification of upregulation of these genes is particularly interesting because HBZ generally downregulates expression of certain genes through sequestration of transcription factors<sup>226,306,311,317-319</sup>.



Figure 2.1. HBZ upregulates genes involved in HTLV-1 infection. (A) Relative COL4A1 mRNA levels in HeLa clonal cell lines expressing wild-type HBZ (HBZ) or carrying an empty expression vector (pcDNA). The graph shows qRT-PCR results average from four independent experiments using one set of HeLa pcDNA and HeLa HBZ cells lines. (B) Relative COL4A2 mRNA levels in HeLa cells transduced with lentiviral vectors to express wild-type HBZ (HBZ) or insert the empty expression vector (pQCXIP). The graph shows gRT-PCR results averaged from six independent transduction sets using one set of HeLa pcDNA and HeLa HBZ cells lines. (C) Relative GEM mRNA levels in HeLa clonal cell lines expressing wild-type HBZ (HBZ) or carrying an empty expression vector (pcDNA). The graph shows gRT-PCR results average from eight independent experiments using one set of HeLa pcDNA and HeLa HBZ cells lines. (D) Relative NRP1 mRNA levels in HeLa clonal cell lines expressing wild-type HBZ (HBZ) or carrying an empty expression vector (pcDNA). The graph shows gRT-PCR results average from five independent experiments using one set of HeLa pcDNA and HeLa HBZ cells lines. For all graphs, HBZ values are normalized to that of the empty vector (set to 1), and error bars show standard deviations; \*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.01. (E) Nrp1 expression in empty vector (pcDNA) and HBZ-HeLa clones. Whole cell extracts

(40 µg for Nrp1 and  $\beta$ -actin, 75 µg for His) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1, HBZ (His) and  $\beta$ -actin. Credit: (A) (B) (C) (D) RNA, cDNA, qRT-PCR/data input - Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis: Wesley Kendle; Graph creation: Wesley Kendle and Isabelle Lemasson. (B) Transduction: Nicholas Polakowski. (E) Western blot- Kimson Hoang. Nrp1 expression is elevated in HTLV-1-infected T-cells lines and primary cells infected with HTLV-1. Roles for COL4A1, COL4A2 and Gem in HTLV-1 infection have been investigated. In contrast, in the context of expression by the infected cell, whether Nrp1 participates in viral infection is not known. This point led us to pursue further analyses of Nrp1. We first correlated higher mRNA levels with higher protein levels in HeLa cells expressing HBZ compared to cells carrying the empty vector (Figure 2.1E). HeLa cells, rather than HTLV-1-infected cells, were utilized to examine the relationship between HBZ and Nrp1 expression at the protein level because there currently isn't a quality HBZ antibody available and the use of HeLa cells expressing His-tagged HBZ allowed for identification of HBZ based on the presence of the His tag. In addition to HBZ, the HTLV-1 Tax protein is a transcriptional regulator<sup>343</sup>. However, unlike HBZ, expression of Tax in HeLa cells did not lead to an increase in the level of Nrp1 (Supplemental Figure 2). In silico analysis of the microarray data from the HBZ knockout cells of the Nakagawa et al. study<sup>320</sup> revealed reduced NRP1 mRNA levels by each of the two hbz-targeted guide RNAs used in the two ATL cell lines tested (Figure **2.2A).** Due to limitations of the data provided from the Nakagawa *et al* study<sup>320</sup> (ie. only relative expression values provided), statistical analysis could not be performed. Furthermore, sufficient control data was not available for these data, limiting the ability to draw conclusions from the data. Western blot analysis confirmed that Nrp1 is present in HTLV-1-infected T-cell lines, with the highest levels of the protein found in ATL-2 and MT-2 cells (Figure 2.2B). Importantly, flow cytometric analysis confirmed the presence of Nrp1 on the surface of infected cells (Figure 2.2C). gRT-PCR analysis also indicated that Nrp1 is expressed in recently established HTLV-1-immortalized clones from human peripheral blood lymphocytes<sup>111</sup> (**Figure 2.2D**). Interestingly, some clones exhibited substantially higher levels of *NRP1* mRNA than ATL-2 cells. This comparison of recently established HTLV-1-immortilized clones and long-term HTLV-1 cell lines suggests that Nrp1 may be activated early in the course of infection, however, additional studies with appropriate statistical analysis are needed to further support these findings.



**Figure 2.2. HBZ upregulates NRP1 expression. (A)** Deletion of HBZ in ST1 and KK1 ATL-derived cells reduces *NRP1* expression. The graph was generated from published microarray data (GEO accession number GSE94409<sup>320</sup> and shows the percent reduction in *NRP1* transcript levels after inducing CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of HBZ in the ATL-derived cell lines, ST1 and KK1, using two different guide RNAs (sgHBZ\_1 and \_2). Values are from day 8 post-induction except for sgHBZ\_2 in KK1, which is the day 7 values (no day 8 data provided for this specimen). Data were obtained using GEO2R with calculations based on averaged values from the four array features probing for different regions of the *NRP1* transcript; \**p*<0.05, \*\**p*<0.01. (**B**) Nrp1 expression in non-infected activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-lymphocytes (aCD4) and T-cell lines. Whole cell extracts (45 μg for Nrp1 and β-actin, 50 μg for Tax) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1, Tax and β-actin. (**C**) Nrp1 expression on the cell surface of T-cell lines. Jurkat and ATL-2 cells were labeled with an Nrp1 antibody, fixed and analyzed by flow cytometry. Histograms are representative of three independent experiments and show relative cell surface labeling as follows: unlabeled

cells (CT, light grey) and Nrp1 antibody (dark gray). **(D)** Relative *NRP1* mRNA levels in HTLV-1-immortalized human T-cell clones recently established from peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL). The graph shows qRT-PCR results averaged from three separate RNA extractions. Values were normalized to those for activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (set to 1). Error bars represent standard deviations. Credit: (A) *in situ* analysis (data collection and compilation): Wesley Kendle; graph creation: Wesley Kendle, Isabelle Lemasson (B) Western blot: Wesley Kendle (Nrp1 and  $\beta$ -actin) and Kimson Hoang (Tax). (C) Flow cytometry, data analysis, figure creation: Kimson Hoang and Isabelle Lemasson; (D) Cell lines provided by Amanda Panfil; RNA, cDNA, qRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; data compilation, statistical analysis: Wesley Kendle; Graph creation: Wesley Kendle, Isabelle Lemasson.

HBZ activates NRP1 transcription from an enhancer downstream of the gene. To characterize the mechanism through which HBZ upregulates NRP1 transcription, we first analyzed ChIP-seq data from the Nakagawa et al. study<sup>320</sup>. In the two cell lines examined in this study, a peak of HBZ-enrichment was identified approximately 50 kb downstream of NRP1 (Figure 2.3A and data not shown). This site is also 176 kb upstream of ITGB1 (Supplemental Figure 3A); however, expression of this gene is not affected by HBZ according to microarray data (data not shown). To test for HBZenrichment at this site in another HTLV-1-infected T-cell line, we performed ChIP assays using SLB-1 cells. SLB-1 cells were utilized as they express low levels of Nrp1 in hopes that the induction of additional HBZ expression via transduction with Histagged HBZ would not induce Nrp1 expression to a toxic level in the cells. As antibodies against HBZ that are suitable for ChIP assays have not been developed, cells were transduced to express HBZ with a C-terminal 6xHis epitope tag for immunoprecipitation. Through this approach we observed significant enrichment of HBZ at the peak region identified in KK1 cells compared to a downstream off-target region (Figure 2.3B). These results support our analysis of data from the previous study, showing that HBZ is recruited to a chromosomal region downstream of the NRP1 gene. A general analysis of this region using the UCSC genome browser revealed that it is denoted as an enhancer independent of HBZ and HTLV-1 infection<sup>345,346</sup>. Specifically, it shows hypersensitivity to DNase I and is flanked by peaks of histone H3 lysine 27 (H3K27ac; Supplemental Figure 3). Although our data suggests that the identified region approximately 50kB downstream of NRP1 may serve as an NRP1 enhancer based on recruitment of certain

transcription factors, including HBZ, further studies are needed to confirm that this region truly functions as an enhancer.



Figure 2.3. HBZ increases c-Jun and JunB recruitment to an enhancer downstream of the NRP1 gene. (A) HBZ associates with a chromosomal site (enhancer peak) approximately 200kb downstream of the NRP1 transcription start site (indicated by the bent arrow). Peaks of enrichment for HBZ, H3K27ac and IgG (negative control) at the NRP1 locus in KK1 cells are shown in the IGV Browser. Genomic coordinates are based on the NCBI36/hg18 assembly. Data were obtained from published ChIP-Seg data sets (GEO accession number GSE94732<sup>320</sup>. (B) HBZ binds to the enhancer region in SLB-1 cells. The graph shows levels of HBZ enrichment at the off-target control site and the enhancer region averaged from four independent ChIP assays using SLB-1 cells transduced to express HBZ with a C-terminal 6xHis tag. (C) c-Jun and JunB are enriched at the enhancer region in ATL-2 cells. The graph shows average levels of factor enrichment at the off-target control site, the enhancer region, and at the AP-1 site in the WEE1 promoter (WEE1-AP1). Data are from four (c-Jun) and three (JunB and MafG) independent ChIP assays. (D) Relative NRP1 mRNA levels in HeLa clonal cell lines expressing wild-type HBZ (HBZ-WT), the activation domain mutant (HBZ-MutAD), the leucine zipper domain mutant (HBZ-MutZIP), the translational-defective mutant (HBZ- $\Delta$ ATG), or carrying the empty expression vector

(pcDNA). The graph shows qRT-PCR results average from five independent experiments, with values normalized to that for pcDNA (set to 1). (E) HBZ binds to the enhancer region in HeLa cells. The graph shows levels of HBZ enrichment at the offtarget control site and the enhancer region averaged from three independent ChIP assays using HeLa cells expressing HBZ or carrying the empty vector (pcDNA). (F) JunB binds to the enhancer region in HeLa cells. The graph shows levels of HBZ enrichment at the off-target control site and the enhancer region averaged from three independent ChIP assays using HeLa cells expressing HBZ or carrying the empty vector (pcDNA). For all graphs, error bars show standard deviations; \*, p<0.05, \*\*, p<0.01. Credit: (A) Analysis and figure creation: Wesley Kendle; (B) ChIP method development / optimization and transduction: Nicholas Polakowski; ChIP: Wesley Kendle / Nick Polakowski; : RT-PCR/data input Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis/graph generation: Wesley Kendle and Isabelle Lemasson (C) ChIP: Wesley Kendle; gRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis/graph generation: Wesley Kendle and Isabelle Lemasson (D) RNA, cDNA, qRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang and Erica Korleski; Statistical analysis and graph generation: Wesley Kendle and Isabelle Lemasson. (E) ChIP: Wesley Kendle / Nick Polakowski; gRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis/graph generation: Wesley Kendle (F) ChIP: Wesley Kendle; gRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis and graph generation: Wesley Kendle.

Recent evidence indicates that, through dimerization with small Mafs and Jun proteins, HBZ can associate with the DNA<sup>311,317,330</sup>. We therefore analyzed enrichment of these proteins at the downstream enhancer. ChIP analysis of ATL-2 cells revealed significant enrichment of c-Jun and JunB at this site compared to the off-target region (**Figure 2.3C**). Strikingly, the level of enrichment of these proteins at the enhancer matched that at the AP-1 site in the *WEE1* promoter, which served as the positive control. Consistent with these results, the DNA sequence of the enhancer region contained two full consensus AP-1 binding sites as well as several partial sites (**Supplemental Figure 3**). No significant enrichment was detected for the small Maf, MafG, at the enhancer (**Figure 2.3C**).

We then used HeLa clonal cell lines to expand on these observations. First, we compared *NRP1* mRNA levels in a clone expressing wild-type HBZ and two clones expressing mutant versions of the viral protein: HBZ-MutAD, which is defective for binding to p300/CBP, and HBZ-MutZIP, which is defective for binding to cellular bZIP factors<sup>307,317</sup>. In addition, we analyzed a start codon mutant (HBZΔATG) that is not translated into the viral protein<sup>306</sup>. Cell lines expressing either HBZ-MutZIP or HBZΔATG showed a significant reduction in *NRP1* mRNA levels compared to cells expressing wild-type HBZ, while no significant change was observed with HBZ-MutAD (**Figure 2.3D**). Using ChIP assays, we verified that HBZ was enriched at the *NRP1* enhancer in the HeLa cells expressing wild-type HBZ (**Figure 2.3E**). Lastly, using ChIP assays to compare the HeLa clones expressing HBZ and carrying the empty expression vector, we observed enrichment of JunB at the enhancer in the presence of HBZ

(**Figure 2.3F**). Together, these results indicate that HBZ activates *NRP1* transcription by forming heterodimers with Jun proteins on the enhancer.

Analysis of ChIP-seq data from the Nakagawa *et al.* study<sup>320</sup> also revealed peaks of H3K27ac at and around the *NRP1* enhancer (**Figure 2.3A**). This modification is generated by the KAT activity of p300 and CBP, suggesting the involvement of these coactivators in HBZ-mediated *NRP1* transcription. In the HeLa clones, ChIP assay results revealed that both p300 and CBP were enriched at the enhancer compared to at the off-target region with substantially greater coactivator enrichment in the presence of HBZ (Figure 2.4A and 2.4B). Consistent with this observation, siRNA-mediated knockdown of both coactivators reduced NRP1 mRNA levels in both the HBZexpressing and empty vector clones (Figure 2.4C). Knockdown of p300 and CBP was confirmed by western blot (Figure 2.4D). In ATL-2 cells, treatment with the p300/CBP KAT-specific inhibitor, A485, significantly reduced NRP1 mRNA levels (Figure 2.4E). A similar effect of A485 was observed in a recently established HTLV-1-immortalized clone (Figure 2.4F). Together, these results indicate that HBZ upregulation of NRP1 transcription is associated with enhanced recruitment of p300/CBP to the downstream enhancer.


Figure 2.4. p300/CBP is recruited to the NRP1 enhancer. p300 (A) and CBP (B) bind the NRP1 enhancer region. Graphs show average values from three independent ChIP assays using empty vector (pcDNA) and HBZ-expressing HeLa cells. (C) siRNAmediated depletion of p300 and CBP abrogates activation of NRP1 transcription by HBZ. HeLa clonal cell lines expressing wild-type HBZ (HBZ) or carrying an empty expression vector (pcDNA) were transfected with an siRNA pool targeting p300 and CBP or a non-targeting siRNA pool (Control). The graph shows gRT-PCR results averaged from four independent transfection experiments with values normalized to those for the empty-vector clone (pcDNA) transfected with the non-targeting siRNA pool (set to 1). (D) siRNA-mediated depletion of p300 and CBP. HeLa cells were transfected with an siRNA pool targeting p300 and CBP (p300/CBP) or a non-targeting siRNA pool (Control). Whole cell extracts (15  $\mu$ g for p300, 40  $\mu$ g for CBP and  $\beta$ -actin) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against p300, CBP and β-actin. Inhibition of p300/CBP KAT activity reduces NRP1 transcription in (E) an HTLV-1-infected T-cell line (ATL-2) and (F) an HTLV-1-immortalized primary human T-cell clone (CJ4). Cells were treated with A485 (10 µM) or the carrier (DMSO) for 3h. Graphs show gRT-PCR results averaged from four (ATL-2 cells) and two (CJ4 cells) independent experiments with A485 values normalized to those for DMSO (set to 1). For all graphs, error bars show standard deviations; \*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.01. Credit: (A) ChIP: Nick Polakowski; gRT-

PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis and graph generation: Wesley Kendle; (B) ChIP: Nick Polakowski; qRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis/Graph Generation: Wesley Kendle; (C) Transfection/RNA: Isabelle Lemasson; cDNA, qRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analyis/graph generation: Wesley Kendle; (D) Whole cell extract: Isabelle Lemasson; Western blots: Wesley Kendle; (E) Cell treatment: Isabelle Lemasson; RNA, cDNA, qRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis/graph generation: Wesley Kendle; (F) Cell treatment: Isabelle Lemasson; qRT-PCR/data input: Kimson Hoang; Statistical analysis/graph generation: Wesley Kendle. Nrp1 expression in HTLV-1-infected T-cells inhibits HTLV-1 infection. We were interested in establishing whether Nrp1 expressed by HTLV-1-infected T-cells influenced HTLV-1 infection. To test this possibility, we first analyzed how knocking down Nrp1 expression in these cells influenced their ability to infect target reporter cells. In these experiments, we used MT-2 and ATL-2 cells based on their higher Nrp1 expression compared to SLB-1 cells. These two effector cell lines were transduced to express shRNA targeting the NRP1 transcript (shNRP1) or, as a negative control, GFP (shGFP) and then co-cultured with Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE reporter cells (Figure 2.5A). Following HTLV-1 infection, cells express the viral protein, Tax, which trans-activates the promoter driving luciferase expression in the Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE cells<sup>329</sup>. C8166/45 cells were used as negative control effector cells, as they do not produce HTLV-1 virus particles due to defects in their proviruses<sup>347</sup>. In MT-2 cells, knockdown of Nrp1 led to a significant increase in HTLV-1 infection over that of shGFP-transduced cells (Figure 2.5B). Western blot analysis showed that levels of the HTLV-1 structural protein, p19<sup>gag</sup>, and the HTLV-1 envelope surface unit (SU), gp46, were not affected by Nrp1 knockdown (Figure 2.5C). Furthermore, clarified culture supernatants contained similar levels of p19<sup>gag</sup>, indicating that Nrp1 knockdown does not affect the production of HTLV-1 virus particles (Figure 2.5D). However, it's important to note that, while detecting p19 in the cell supernatant is widely accepted method to quantify viral particles, this method cannot differentiate between infectious and non-infectious virions. Furthermore, quantification of infectivity of cell-free virus from transduced HTLV-1infected T-cells using cell-free infection assays is challenging due to insufficient

amounts of cell-free virus produced by these cells. Comparable results were obtained using transduced ATL-2 cells (Figure 2.5E-5G).



Figure 2.5. NRP1 knock-down increases HTLV-1 infection. (A) The flow diagram shows the co-culture/infection assay procedure using HTLV-1-infected cells as donor cells and Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE cells as target cells. (B) shRNA-mediated depletion of Nrp1 in MT-2 cells increases HTLV-1 infection. Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE cells were cocultured with MT-2 cells under puromycin selection following transduction with expression vectors for a negative control shRNA (shGFP) or an shRNA targeting the NRP1 transcript (shNRP1), or co-cultured with non-infectious C8166/45 cells. The graph shows luciferase values averaged from three replicates of a single experiment and is representative of three independent experiments. (C) shRNA-mediated depletion of Nrp1 in MT-2 cells does not affect levels of gp46 (SU) and Gag p19. Whole cell extracts (50  $\mu$ g for Nrp1 and  $\beta$ -actin; 15  $\mu$ g for gp46 and Gag p19) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1, gp46, Gag p19 and  $\beta$ -actin. (D) shRNA-mediated depletion of Nrp1 in MT-2 cells does not affect levels of cell-free virus. Levels of Gag p19 in clarified culture media were measured by ELISA. The graph shows relative values averaged from two independent transduction experiments. (E) shRNA-mediated depletion of Nrp1 in ATL-2 cells increases HTLV-1 infection. Experiments were done as described in (B) above. The graph shows luciferase values averaged from three replicates of a single experiment and is representative of two independent experiments.

(F) shRNA-mediated depletion of Nrp1 in ATL-2 cells does not affect levels of gp46 (SU) and Gag p19. Western blots were done as described in (C) above. (G) shRNAmediated depletion of Nrp1 in ATL-2 cells does not affect levels of cell-free virus. Experiments were done as described in (D) above. The graph shows values averaged from two independent transduction experiments. (H) The flow diagram shows the coculture/infection assay procedure using Jurkat cells as donor cells and CHO-LFA-1 cells as target cells. (I) shRNA-mediated depletion of Nrp1 in Jurkat donor cells increases HTLV-1 infection. Jurkat cells were co-transfected with pcDNA3.1, pCRU5HT1-inLuc and pSG-Tax (no infection, CT) or pCMVHT1, pCRU5HT1-inLuc, pSG-Tax and the shGFP or shNRP1 vector, and cocultured with CHO-LFA1 cells. The graph shows luciferase values averaged from replicates from three independent experiments. For all graphs, error bars show standard deviations; \*, p<0.05, \*\*, p<0.01. Credit: (A) Method development and optimization (B) (E) Cell expansion, transfection, transduction, antibiotic selection, infection assay, cell lysate collection, Bradford assay, luciferase assay, graph generation, statistical analysis: Wesley Kendle; Graph modification: Isabelle Lemasson. optimization (C) (F) Cell expansion, transfection, transduction, antibiotic selection, whole cell extracts, Western blots, figure generation: Wesley Kendle; (D) (G) Cell expansion, transfection, transduction, antibiotic selection, supernatant collection, ELISA, graph generation, statistical analysis: Wesley Kendle; Graph modification: Isabelle Lemasson.

Additionally, we analyzed Jurkat cells stably expressing HBZ (Jurkat-HBZ) as effector cells using a single-cycle, replication-dependent luciferase infection assav<sup>272</sup>. We used these cells based on the strong luciferase signal they generate in target cells<sup>329</sup>. For these assays, Jurkat-HBZ cells were co-transfected with an HTLV-1 packaging vector (pCMVHT1M), the replication-dependent HTLV-1 reporter vector (pCRU5HT1-inLuc), and to increase infection efficiency, a Tax expression vector. To examine effects of Nrp1 in this system, cells were additionally co-transfected with the shRNA expression vectors targeting NRP1 or GFP transcripts. Transfected cells were co-cultured with adherent CHO-LFA-1 target cells and then removed, and luciferase activity was measured in the CHO-LFA-1 cells (Figure 2.5H). As target cells, CHO-LFA-1 express lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1), which binds ICAM-1 on effector cells to stabilize cell-cell contact and induces formation of a virological synapse from which infection occurs<sup>127</sup>. With this approach, we observed that Jurkat-HBZ cells co-transfected with the shRNA vector targeting NRP1 produced a higher level of infection than cells co-transfected with the shGFP control vector (Figure 2.5I).

We performed reciprocal experiments using SLB-1 cells, which display low Nrp1 expression compared to ATL-2 and MT-2 cells. Cells were transduced with an Nrp1 expression vector or the empty expression vector and then co-cultured with Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE reporter cells (**Figure 2.6A**). Western blot results confirmed higher Nrp1 expression in the cells transduced with the Nrp1 expression vector compared to those transduced with the empty vector (**Figure 2.6B**). Consistent with the knockdown experiments, p19<sup>gag</sup> and gp46 were not affected by the variations in the level of Nrp1. However, higher Nrp1 expression was associated with a significant decrease in HTLV-1

infection (**Figure 2.6C**). These and the Nrp1 knockdown results indicate that Nrp1 expressed by effector cells has an inhibitory role in HTLV-1 infection.



Figure 2.6. Overexpression of Nrp1 reduces infection. (A) The flow diagram shows the co-culture/infection assay procedure using HTLV-1-infected SLB-1 cells as donor cells and Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE cells as target cells. SLB-1 cells were transduced with pLJM1-NRP1 (NRP1) or the pLJM1 empty vector (EV) and place under puromycin selection. (B) Nrp1 expression in transduced SLB-1 cells. Whole cell extracts (50 µg for Nrp1, Gag p19 and  $\beta$ -actin; 15 µg for gp46) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1, gp46, Gag p19 and β-actin. (C) Increased expression of Nrp1 in SLB-1 cells decreases HTLV-1 infection. Jurkat-pminLUC-vCRE cells were cocultured with SLB-1 cells transduced with pLJM1-NRP1 (NRP1) or the pLJM1 empty vector (EV), or co-cultured with non-infectious C8166/45 cells. The graph shows luciferase values averaged from three replicates of each infection condition from a single experiment and is representative of three independent experiments. Error bars show standard deviations; \*, p<0.05, \*\*\*, p<0.001). Credit: (A) Method development and optimization: Wesley Kendle; (B) Cell expansion, transfection, transduction, antibiotic selection, whole cell extracts, Western blots, figure generation: Wesley Kendle; (C) Cell expansion, transfection, transduction, antibiotic selection, infection assay, cell lysate collection, Bradford assay, luciferase assay, graph generation, statistical analysis: Wesley Kendle.

Nrp1 is incorporated into the viral particle. Consistent with our findings, a recent study demonstrated that, when expressed in effector cells, Nrp1 inhibits HIV infection<sup>348</sup>. This effect was found to be due to incorporation of Nrp1 into HIV virions, which led us to test whether Nrp1 is similarly incorporated into HTLV-1 virions. Western blot analysis revealed the possible presence of Nrp1 in cell-free HTLV-1 virions isolated by ultracentrifugation (Figure 2.7A). However, the ultracentrifugation method utilized cannot differentiate between protein associated with viral particles or exosomes. Given the extended extracellular structure of Nrp1 and its heavily glycosylated state, the authors of the previous study proposed that Nrp1 may sterically disrupt binding of HIV virions to target cells. To address this hypothesis in the context of HTLV-1, we analyzed an Nrp1 deletion mutant lacking most of its extracellular region (Figure 2.7B and E). HEK293T cells were transfected with the set of single-cycle, replication-dependent luciferase infection assay plasmids and co-transfected with an expression vector for fulllength Nrp1 or the deletion mutant (Figure 2.7C). Subsequent analysis of luciferase activity from the cultures revealed a significant decrease in infection in cultures with ectopic expression of full-length Nrp1, while cultures with the deletion mutant showed no change in infection (Figure 2.7D). These results show that the extracellular region of Nrp1 is important for impairing infection and may be due to occlusion of virion-target cell interactions. However, these experiments could be better optimized to mitigate any potential impacts based on differential protein expression levels between the wild-type Nr1 and the mutant Nrp1.



## Figure 2.7. The ectodomain of Nrp1 is responsible for inhibition of HTLV-1

**infection.** (A) Nrp1 is incorporated into HTLV-1 virus particles. Culture media from MT-2, SLB-1 and ATL-2 cells were filtered, ultracentrifuged and analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1 and gp46. (B) The schematic shows full-length Nrp1 and the truncation mutant, Nrp1-Δabc. (C) The flow diagram shows the co-culture/infection assay procedure using HEK293T cells. (D) HTLV-1 infection is not inhibited by a Nrp1 truncation mutant lacking the ectodomain. HEK293T cells were co-transfected with pCMVHT1M, pCRU5HT1-inLuc and pQCXIP (EV), pQCXIP-NRP1 or pQCXIP-NRP1-Δabc. Luciferase assays were performed 48 h later. The graph shows luciferase values averaged from three independent experiments each performed in triplicate. Error bars show standard deviations; \*, *p*<0.05; \*\*, *p*<0.01. (E) Nrp1 expression in transfected HEK293T cells. Whole cell extracts (50 μg) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1 (Flag-tagged) and β-actin. Credit: (A) Method development and optimization: Wesley Kendle; Ultracentrifugation: Wesley Kendle (left), Kimson Hoang (right); Western blot: Wesley Kendle (left), Kimson Hoang (right). (B) (C) Figure creation: Isabelle Lemasson, Kimson Hoang (D) Transfection, infection assay, graph creation: Isabelle Lemasson, Kimson Hoang; (E) Transfection, Western blot, figure creation: Isabelle Lemasson, Kimson Hoang.

## DISCUSSION

HBZ was previously shown to enhance HTLV-1 infection by activating the expression of *ICAM1* and *MYOF*<sup>329,330</sup>, and in this study we found that HBZ upregulates two additional cellular genes involved in infection, COL4A1 and GEM<sup>135,291</sup>. Interestingly, apart from *MYOF*, these genes are also activated by the HTLV-1 encoded protein, Tax, which plays an essential role in HTLV-1 infection<sup>289</sup>. While the interplay between Tax and HBZ in infection has not been addressed, it is possible that both proteins act together to augment the expression of these genes. Alternatively, HBZ may play a supporting role to maintain some level of HTLV-1 infectivity when Tax expression switches to the off state. Indeed, in an HTLV-1-induced leukemic cell line, Tax expression was found to stochastically alternate between on and off states<sup>276</sup>. Moreover, when Tax is in the off state, virus particles may be retained on the surface of the cell in an extracellular matrix<sup>130</sup> and poised for infection. Finally, while mitotic expansion appears to be the primary mode of viral replication once the adaptive immune response is activated and a proviral set point is established, some infectious spread persists at this state<sup>137,349,350</sup>.

In addition to these genes, HBZ upregulated expression of Nrp1, which on target cells, serves as the high-affinity binding receptor for HTLV-1 virions<sup>148</sup>. While the significance of *NRP1* expression by HTLV-1-infected T-cells has not been reported, *NRP1* expression was found to be upregulated in mouse primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells transduced to express HBZ<sup>324</sup>. This observation prompted us to explore this gene further. We first analyzed how HBZ upregulates *NRP1* transcription. A peak of HBZ-enrichment was identified approximately 50 kb downstream of the gene. Interestingly,

independent of HBZ or HTLV-1 infection, cumulative data from multiple cell specimens show that this chromosomal region acts as an enhancer<sup>346</sup>. For example, it comprises a DNase I hypersensitive peak tightly flanked by peaks of histone H3 lysine 27 acetylation. These features are indicative of a nucleosome-free region bound by transcriptional regulators including p300/CBP that acetylates H3K27. The presence of p300 has been found to be a common feature of enhancers<sup>351,352</sup>.

We speculate that HBZ primarily serves to increase association of Jun members (*i.e.*, c-Jun, JunB and JunD) with the enhancer. HBZ is known to form heterodimers with these factors through interactions between the leucine zipper (ZIP) domain of each protein<sup>302,311,339</sup>, and mutations in the ZIP domain of HBZ that disrupt Jun protein-binding also abrogated *NRP1* transcription. The enhancer contains two consensus AP-1 binding sites as well as multiple partial sites. While heterodimers formed between HBZ and a Jun member may bind one or both consensus AP-1 sites, it is alternatively possible that such heterodimers target an AP-1 partial site. AP-1 transcription factors bind DNA through the basic region of the bZIP domain of each subunit<sup>353</sup>, and in HBZ, this region lacks the conserved amino acid motifs involved in binding the AP-1 sequence. Therefore, in the context of an HBZ/Jun member heterodimer, the Jun member may contact an AP-1 half site while HBZ contacts an adjacent unrelated sequence. The observation that JunB is enriched at the enhancer in the absence of HBZ suggests that the cellular AP-1 factors are binding the consensus AP-1 sites.

It is possible that a second mechanism also contributes to the increased association of Jun members with the enhancer that involves increased abundance of these proteins in the presence of HBZ. We reported that the splice 1 variant of HBZ

(HBZ<sub>S1</sub>), which was used in this study, stabilizes c-Jun and JunB by inhibiting their proteosomal degradation initiated by the E3 ubiquitin ligase, constitutive photomorphogenesis protein 1<sup>313</sup>. Of note, HBZ<sub>S1</sub> is the most abundant variant in HTLV-1-infected T-cells<sup>205,228,354,355</sup>.

In contrast to mutations in the ZIP domain, mutations in the AD of HBZ did not significantly affect transcription. This observation diverges from some previous results in which the AD has been shown to be central to transcriptional activation by HBZ<sup>39,314,330,343</sup>. While the AD appeared to be dispensable for activating *NRP1* transcription, both p300 and CBP displayed higher levels of association with the enhancer in the presence of HBZ. This observation might suggest that the increased association of Jun members with the enhancer augments recruitment of p300/CBP.

In addition to this proposed model, there are likely HBZ-independent mechanisms contributing to regulation of *NRP1* transcription in HTLV-1-infected T-cells. Indeed, there was a wide range of *NRP1* expression levels among the HTLV-1 T-cells lines and HTLV-1-immortalized clones we tested that did not necessarily reflect HBZ expression levels according to our previous results<sup>330,343,356</sup>. We cannot explain this variation in transcript and protein levels but suspect it may relate to genetic heterogeneity across the cell lines and clones.

In this study, we approached Nrp1 expression in HTLV-1-infected T-cells based on its role as the viral receptor that forms a high affinity interaction with SU. The ability of HBZ to increase expression of one of the HTLV-1 receptors appears to oppose conventional replication strategies used by some avian retroviruses and HIV. Expression of the viral receptor on cells infected with these retroviruses promotes

reinfection, leading to the accumulation of unintegrated DNA, which is cytopathic<sup>357,358</sup>. Through multiple virus-mediated mechanisms, HIV has been shown to generally prevent reinfection by eliminating CD4 from the surface of the infected cell<sup>359</sup>. While fusion and virus entry for HIV requires the chemokine receptors CCR5 or CXCR4<sup>360</sup>, for HTLV-1 these processes are believed to require Glut1<sup>148</sup>. Interestingly, the HTLV-1 protein, Tax, was shown to reduce Glut1 at the cell surface by binding sorting nexin 27 (SNX27) and preventing SNX27 from trafficking Glut1 to the cell surface<sup>361</sup>. Therefore, HTLV-1 reinfection might be impaired by removal of Glut1 rather than Nrp1 from the plasma membrane.

We found that expression of Nrp1 on HTLV-1-infected T-cells and HTLV-1 producing cells was associated with decreased cell-to-cell viral infection without any significant effect on viral production. A similar observation was reported recently regarding HIV-infected cells of the monocyte lineage<sup>348</sup>. In this other study, Nrp-1 expressed by macrophages and dendritic cells was found to be packaged into the HIV virions produced by these cells, leading to reduced binding of these virions to target cells. The authors of this study speculated that the extended ectodomain of Nrp1 along with its heavily glycosylated state sterically inhibits attachment of virions to target cells. We similarly found that Nrp1 is incorporated into HTLV-1 virions, and consistent with the hypothesis of steric inhibition, an Nrp1 mutant lacking most of the ectodomain did not reduce viral infection. Therefore, Nrp1 might also reduce binding of HTLV-1 virions to target cells, however further investigation would be required to draw conclusions about the potential the impact of virion-incorporated Nrp1 on HTLV-1 infection.

The negative effect of Nrp1 on HTLV-1 infection appears to be outweighed by positive contributions from other HBZ-regulated genes, at least in the cell culture models we have tested<sup>329,330</sup>. It is possible that in some HTLV-1 carriers host genetic factors participate with HBZ to increase Nrp1 expression. Indeed, we found variability in *NRP1* transcript levels in the different HTLV-1-immortalized clones (from different donors) and, through analysis of GEO datasets, in CD4+ T-cells/PBMC from different HTLV-1 carriers (data not shown). Perhaps, Nrp1 might impact infection in cases where it is more highly expressed.

Finally, it is possible that Nrp1 contributes to other aspects of HTLV-1 biology not addressed in this study. One example involves the role of Nrp1 as a coreceptor for TGF- $\beta$  receptor signaling<sup>336,362</sup>, which is interesting considering that HBZ activates transcription through the downstream signaling effector, Smad3<sup>39</sup>. In addition, Nrp1 is capable of converting the latent form of TGF- $\beta$  into the active form<sup>336</sup>. Therefore, increasing Nrp1 expression might represent a second mechanism by which HBZ enhances TGF- $\beta$  signaling. This signaling pathway is implicated in establishing the regulatory T-cell-like phenotype documented for most HTLV-1 infected cells<sup>363</sup>. It would be interesting to investigate this, and other potential effects of Nrp-1 related to HTLV-1 infection and pathogenesis.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

**Plasmids.** pSG-Tax, pSG-Tax-His, pQC-HBZ-IP, pCMVHT1, pCRU5HT1-inLuc and pHCMV-G have been described<sup>272,329,364-366</sup>. pLJM1 was a gift from Joshua Mendell (Addgene plasmid # 91980)<sup>367</sup>. pUMVC was a gift from Bob Weinberg (Addgene plasmid # 8449)<sup>368</sup>. Nrp1 expression vectors were generated by cloning DYK-tagged *NRP1* from pcDNA3.1-C-(k)-NRP1-DYK (GenScript) into pQCXIP (Clontech) and pLJM1 at the BamH1 and EcoRI sites, respectively, using a Gibson Assembly Cloning Kit (New England Biolabs). shRNA vectors shGFP (SHC202) and shNRP1 [TRCN0000300917 (MT-2 transductions), TRCN0000322980 (Jurkat transfections and ATL-2 transductions)] were purchased from MilliporeSigma. pQCXIP-NRP1-TM was constructed by PCR-amplification of the transmembrane/cytoplasmic domain sequence, which was inserted into the PacI and EcoRI sites. pQCXIP-NRP1-Δabc was constructed by amplification of the signal peptide sequence, which was inserted into the BgIII and Mlul sites of pQCXIP-NRP1-TM (an Mlul site had been added to the forward primer used to amplify the NRP-1-TM sequence).

**Cell culture.** Jurkat, CEM, C8166/45, MT-2, SLB-1 and ATL-2 cells were cultured in Isocove's modified Dulbecco medium (IMDM). Primary CD4+ lymphocytes, TL-Om1, and HTLV-1-immortalized lymphocyte clones<sup>111</sup> were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) medium. HeLa and HeLa-HBZ clonal cell lines<sup>343</sup>, CHO-LFA-1 clones<sup>329</sup>, and HEK293T cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM). All cells were supplemented with 10% FBS or 10% FetalPlex (GeminiBio) and 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 50 μg/mL streptomycin. Jurkat pminLuc-

viral CRE cells<sup>329</sup> and Jurkat-HBZ cells<sup>329</sup> were supplemented with 1.5 mg/mL of G418. HeLa and CHO clones were supplemented with 0.5 mg/mL of G418. Primary lymphocytes and lymphocyte clones were cultured with IL-2. Primary lymphocytes were activated in culture wells coated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies. Where indicated, cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M A-485 (MedChem Express) or DMSO for 3h.

Table 2.1 Cell lines u	sed in this study.
------------------------	--------------------

Cell Line(s)	Transfected or Transduced	Vectors used:	Stable or Transient	Details
HeLa	Transfected	HBZ wild-type or mutant HBZ	Stable	Single, stable cell line used per HBZ condition (wild-type or mutant)
Jurkat	Transfected	shGFP (SHC202) or shNRP1 (TRCN0000322980)	Transient	Independent transfections
MT-2	Transduced	shGFP (SHC202) or shNRP1 (TRCN0000300917)	Transient (with short-term antibiotic selection)	Independent transductions
ATL-2	Transduced	shGFP (SHC202) or shNRP1 (TRCN0000322980)	Transient (with short-term antibiotic selection)	Independent transductions
SLB-1	Transduced	pLJM1- Empty or pLJM1- NRP1	Transient (with short-term antibiotic selection)	Independent transductions

**RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, and quantitative real-time PCR.** RNA was isolated from cells using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen), and cDNA was synthesized with random hexamers using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad) or the Revert Aid kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) as described by the manufacturers. Primer sequences are as follows:

UBE2D2, 5'- TGCCTGAGATTGCTCGGATCTACA- 3' and 5'-

ACTTCTGAGTCCATTCCCGAGCTA -3'; COL4A1, 5'- TCTGGCTGTGGCAAATGT-3' and 5'- GGTAGTCCTGGTTCTCCAGTAT-3'; COL4A2, 5'- GCTTCTGGAAGGGCCAAT -3' and 5'- CACGGCACATCAAACTTCTTC -3'; GEM, 5'-

AATGAATGGCTCCATGACCACTGC -3' and 5'- CTTGCAGTCAAACACCACTGCACA -3'; and NRP1c 5'- CAGAGCGCTCCCGCCTGAAC-3' and 5'-

AAATGGCGCCCTGTGTCCCG-3'. Real-time PCR was performed using iTaq Universal Supermix (Bio-Rad) and a CFX Connect Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad), and relative mRNA levels were determined as described<sup>343</sup>. Serial dilutions of an appropriate experimental sample were used to generate standard curves for all primer sets included on a PCR plate. From the compilation of all the standard curves for all primers and all PCR plates (analyses), including ChIP PCR plates, the amplification efficiencies ranged from 63.1-129% with correlation coefficients ranging from 0.935-0.999.

**Western blot analysis.** Cells were normalized to 5 x  $10^5$  cells/mL, cultured overnight, and harvested. Whole cell extracts were prepared, and western blotting was done as described<sup>249</sup>. Antibodies used were as follows: anti-His (ab9108), anti-Nrp1 (ab81321) and anti-MafG (ab154318) were purchased from Abcam; anti- $\beta$ -actin clone C4 (MAB1501) was purchased EMD Millipore; anti-CBP (sc-1211), anti-p300 (sc 57865), anti-gp46 (sc 57865) and anti-p19 (sc 57870) was purchased from Santa Cruz; and anti-Tax (hybridoma 168B17-46-92) was obtained from NIH AIDS Research and Reagent Program. Blots were developed using Pierce ECL Plus (Thermo Fisher

Scientific) and scanned with a Typhoon RGB imager (Cytiva). Images were analyzed using ImageQuant TL v8.1 (GE Healthcare Lifesciences).

**Flow cytometry.** A total of  $10^6$  cells/labelling reaction was collected by centrifugation at 800 x g for 3 min at 4°C, washed once in 2 mL of cold PBS/0.2% BSA (FACS buffer), and suspended in 50 µL of cold FACS buffer, to which 1 µg of anti-Nrp1 Alexa Fluor 647 (R&D Systems, FAB3870R) was added. Cells were labeled on ice for 1 h and then washed with 2 mL of FACS buffer. Cells were fixed with PBS/2% paraformaldehyde at 4°C for at least 30 m, suspended in 500 µL FACS buffer, and analyzed using a Cytek Aurora flow cytometer (Cytek Biosciences). Data were analyzed using FlowLogic Software.

**Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays**. ChIP assays were performed using the ZymoSpin ChIP Kit (Zymo Research) according to the manufacturer's instructions with minor modifications. For p300 and CBP immunoprecipitations, chromatin was crosslinked using 10 mM disuccinimidyl glutarate (Thermo Scientific) for 45m and then crosslinked with formaldehyde; for all other immunoprecipitations, only formaldehyde was used. Crosslinked chromatin was sonicated using a Misonix Sonicator 4000 (20s pulse on, 30s pulse off, amplitude 40, 5m processing time). Each immunoprecipitation reaction contained 5 µg of antibody and 200 µg of crosslinked, sonicated chromatin. Antibodies used were as follows: anti-p300 (C-20, sc-585) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology; anti-CBP (D6C5, #7389), anti-JunB (C37F9, #3753) and anti-c-Jun (60A8, #9165) from Cell Signaling Technology; anti-MafG (ab154318) from Abcam.

HBZ was immunoprecipitated through its C-terminal 6xHis tag using an anti-6xHis antibody (Abcam, ab9108). Purified ChIP DNA was amplified in iTaq Universal Supermix (Bio-Rad) using a CFX Connect Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad). Primer sequences are as follows: NRP1 HBZ peak 5'-GCCAGTTCAGTACCCAGTAATA -3' and 5'- CTGGAAATTAAGGTGGCTGTTT -3'; NRP1 off-target 5'-

CTGAGACTTCTGGAGGCTAAAT-3' and 5'-GGTATCCCAAATTCCCAGAGT-3'; WEE1AP1 5'- CCAATCGGCTTATCGGCTTAT-3' and 5'-

ACAGGAGCGTGTTTAGGTATTG -3'. Standard curves were generated for primer sets using 10-fold serial dilutions of each input DNA from the ChIP procedure and were included on each experimental plate. Enrichment values were quantified relative to the input as described<sup>369,370</sup>.

Small RNA interference. The siGENOME SMART pool M-003486-04-0005 and M-003477-02-0005 were used to knock-down p300 and CBP respectively, while the siGENOME Non-Targeting siRNA pool#1 D-001206-13-05 was used as a control (Dharmacon). Cells were seeded to reach ~50% confluence on the day of transfection. Cells were transfected with 25 nM of siRNA using DharmaFECT 1 siRNA transfection reagent (Dharmacon) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The medium was changed 24 h after transfection, and cells were cultured for an additional 48 h prior to harvesting the cells.

**Transfection and single-cycle, replication-dependent infection assays.** Single-cycle, replication-dependent luciferase assays were performed using Jurkat-HBZ or

HEK293T cells as effector cells. Jurkat-HBZ cells (3 x 10<sup>6</sup>) were electroporated with 4.5 µg of pCMVHT1<sup>272</sup> or pcDNA3.1 and 8 µg of pCRU5HT1-inLuc<sup>272</sup>, 1.25 µg of pSG-Tax<sup>365</sup> and 1.25 µg of shRNA expression vector in 300 µL of RPMI/10 mM dextrose/0.1 mM dithiothreitol per 0.4 cm electroporation cuvette. Cells were exposed to a single exponential decay pulse of 200V/950µF. Forty-eight hours after electroporation, 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> transfected Jurkat-HBZ cells were co-cultured with 8 x 10<sup>4</sup> CHO-LFA-1 cells for 3h. Jurkat-HBZ cells were then removed, and the CHO-LFA-1 cells were washed four times with PBS. CHO-LFA-1 cells were cultured for an additional 48 hours, washed with PBS and lysed with Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega). HEK293T cells were plated at 2.4 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well in 24-well plates the day before transfection. Cells were transfected with 1.12 µg of pCMVHT1, 1.68 µg of pCRU5HT1-inLuc, and 1.2 µg of pQCXIP, pQCXIP-NRP1 or pQCXIP-NRP1-Δabc using TurboFect (ThermoFisher) as described by the manufacturer. The cells were washed with PBS and lysed with Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega) 48 hours later. Luciferase activity was measured using the luciferase assay system (Promega) and a GloMax 20/20 luminometer (Promega). Luminescence values were normalized to protein concentrations. HeLa cells were plated at 2.4 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well in a 6-well plate and cultured overnight. Cells were then transfected with 4 µg of pSG5 or pSG-Tax-His using TurboFect (ThermoFisher) as described by the manufacturer.

**Retrovirus and Lentiviral transduction.** For retroviral transfections, 2.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> HEK293T cells/10 cm dish were cultured overnight and then transfected with 8.4 µg pHCMV-G, 31.1 µg pUMVC and 50.5 µg pQCXIP or pQC-HBZ-IP using calcium phosphate. The medium was replaced with 9 mL/dish fresh medium 18h later. One day

later, the culture medium was passed through a 0.4  $\mu$ m polyethersulfone (PES) filter and used to transduce HeLa cells in 6-well plates (1.5 mL viral supernatant/well); HeLa cells had been plated at 2.4 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/well the previous day. Cells were placed under 2  $\mu$ g/mL puromycin selection 48h later. Lentivirus transductions were done as described<sup>330</sup> but with the following modification: Media of transfected HEK293T cells were replaced with 10 mL IMDM supplement with 5% FBS to concentrate virus from viral supernatants using LentiX Concentrator (Takara). Cells were placed under puromycin selection (MT-2, 2 $\mu$ g/ml; SLB-1, 6 $\mu$ g/mL; ATL-2, 0.5 $\mu$ g/mL) three days later. Cells were processed for co-culture/infections, western blotting and/or ELISA following three to four days of antibiotic selection. Co-culture/infection assays were done as described<sup>330</sup>.

Detection of virion and Gag p19 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) in the culture medium. HTLV-1-infected T-cells, ATL-2, MT-2 and SLB-1, were cultured at 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL overnight at 37°C. Supernatants were collected by centrifugation at 1300 RPM for 3 min at room temperature and filtered through a 0.2 µm PES filter to ensure complete removal of cells. Supernatants were centrifugated in a SW-40 Ti rotor (Beckman Coulter) at 20,000 RPM for 2 h at 4°C. Concentrated virus was collected in 2x sodium dodecyl sulfate dye for western blot analysis. For ELISA detection, cells were equalized and cultured for 24h-48h. Supernatants were collected, filtered through 0.45µm PES filters, and virus was inactivated at 55°C for 30 min. HTLV p19 Antigen ELISA (ZeptoMetrix) kit was used as described by the manufacturer. Absorbances were detected with an accuSkan FC (Fisher Scientific).

*In silico* analysis and statistical analysis. Microarray data sets used in this study are available at NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO): GSE94409<sup>320</sup>. For each sample, probes corresponding to the *COL4A1*, *COL4A2*, *GEM* and *NRP1* transcripts in KK1 and ST1 cells infected with Ctrl, HBZ\_1 or HBZ\_2 sgRNAs were identified and GEO2R was used to obtain expression values. ChIP-Seq data sets from GEO accession number GSE94732<sup>320</sup> were analyzed using the Human Mar. 2006 (NCBI36/hg18) assembly with the IGV Browser<sup>371</sup>. Two-tailed Student's t-tests were used for two-group comparisons and significance was established at *p* < 0.05. For analysis of the ELISA data, average relative p19 values from multiple independent experiments were utilized to generate the figures.

**Acknowledgements.** We would like to thank D. Mazurov for the gift of the single-cycle replication-dependent luciferase assay plasmids. Funding was provided by the National Institute of Health through grants R15AI133412 and R21AI166077 to IL. The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, the decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES



Supplemental Figure 1. HBZ activates *COL4A1*, *COL4A2* and *GEM* expression in ATL-derived cell lines. HBZ associates with chromosomal sites near the (A) *COL4A1/COL4A2* and (B) *GEM* transcription start sites (indicated by the arrows). ChIP-seq tracks for HBZ, H3K27ac, and negative control IgG are shown across the *NRP1* locus in KK1 cells using the IGV Browser. Genomic coordinates are based on the NCBI36/hg18 assembly. Data were obtained from published Data sets (GEO accession number GSE94732)<sup>320</sup>. Changes in (C) *COL4A1*, (D) *COL4A2* and (E) *GEM* expression following deletion of HBZ in ST1 and KK1 ATL-derived cell lines. Graphs were generated from published microarray data (GEO accession number GSE94409)<sup>320</sup> and show transcript levels after inducing CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of HBZ, using two different guide RNAs (sgHBZ\_1 and \_2). Data are from day 8 post-induction except for sgHBZ\_2 in KK1, which is the day 7 values (no day 8 data provided for this specimen). Values were obtained using GEO2R with calculations based on averaged values from the two array features for *COL4A1* and the single features for *COL4A2* and

*GEM*. Credit: (A) (B) Analysis and figure creation: Wesley Kendle; (C) Data compilation, data analysis and graph creation: Wesley Kendle; Graph update: Isabelle Lemasson. (D) (E) Data compilation, data analysis and graph creation- Wesley Kendle.



Supplemental Figure 2: Nrp1 expression in Tax transfected HeLa cells. HeLa cells were transfected with 4  $\mu$ g of empty vector (EV) (pSG5) or pSG-Tax-6His (Tax) for 48h. Whole cell extracts (50  $\mu$ g) were analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Nrp1, HBZ (6xHis epitope) and  $\beta$ -actin. Credit: Transfection, Western blot and figure creation: Isabelle Lemasson and Kimson Hoang.





Supplemental Figure 3. The site of the HBZ peak of enrichment (A) The site of the HBZ peak of enrichment, denoted in red and labeled HBZ enhancer, and neighboring genes (*ITGB1* and *NRP1*) are shown using the NCBI Genome Data Viewer (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/gdv/?org=homo-sapiens</u>). (B) The chromosomal features in and around the peak of HBZ-enrichment were derived from ENCODE data<sup>346</sup> and are shown using the UCSC Genome Browser<sup>345,372</sup>. The vertical hatched lines show the boundaries of the peak of HBZ enrichment. AP-1 binding site predictions are shown as peaks in the density graph<sup>373</sup>. (C) The DNA sequence corresponding to the HBZ peak encompasses bp 33,134,089-33,134,518 of chromosome 10 (GRCh38.p14 Primary Assembly). The bold sequences correspond to consensus AP-1 binding sites shown as the two peaks in panel B. Partial AP-1 binding sites are underlined. Credit: (A)(B) Analysis: Nicholas Polakowski; (C) Analysis: Wesley Kendle.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

# New Understanding of the Role of HBZ and NRP1 in Cell-to-Cell Transmission of HTLV-1

Although the viral protein Tax has long since been considered the main viral protein involved in cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1, recent insights into the roles of HBZ during infection have expanded our understanding of the complex retrovirus HTLV-1 infection process. The goal of this research was to identify cellular genes upregulated by HBZ which impact viral transmission and to understand subsequent impacts on cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1.

## HBZ alters expression of cell surface proteins involved in infection:

Regarding regulation of gene expression, HBZ often downregulates gene expression through sequestration of cellular bZIP factors<sup>226,302,312</sup>. However, a growing pool of knowledge about the ability of this intriguing viral protein to upregulate expression of certain cellular genes, accentuates how much is left to uncover about this bZIP factor. Indeed, HBZ is able to activate gene expression through dimerization with cellular AP-1 transcription factors, as is the case with the transcriptional activation of the human telomerase gene, *hTERT*. Activation of *hTERT* gene expression by HBZ occurs through the formation of HBZ/JunD heterodimer and recruitment of this heterodimer to SP-1, a protein that binds directly to the DNA<sup>314</sup>.

We have found that ICAM-1, an integral component of the virological synapse, expression is also enhanced in the presence of HBZ<sup>329</sup>. Enhanced ICAM-1 expression increases the efficiency of HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission, which we attributed to enhanced homotypic aggregation<sup>329</sup>. This is consistent with the cell-to-cell contact dependent nature of HTLV-1 transmission. Intriguingly, we have also found that HBZ upregulates COL4A1 and COL4A2 expression (**Figure 2.1**), two proteins which associate to form a heterotrimer in the extracellular matrix and enhance cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1. In this work, we found that HBZ upregulates expression of another cell surface receptor: NRP1.

HBZ regulates NRP1 expression during HTLV-1 infection: We found that NRP1 expression is enhanced in the presence of HBZ. Since HBZ can interact with certain members of AP-1 family of transcription factors<sup>302,311,312,314,339,374</sup>, we specifically assessed enrichment of HBZ and AP-1 bZIP factors at a downstream *NRP1* enhancer. HBZ, c-Jun and JunB were found to be enriched at a putative enhancer downstream of *NRP1* (Figure 2.5). Due to an atypical basic region, HBZ is generally unable to bind directly to DNA, however, it was recently discovered that HBZ/small Maf dimers are able to bind directly to DNA at MARE sites<sup>311,317</sup>. Based on our findings, we hypothesize that HBZ heterodimerizes with c-Jun or JunB and this heterodimer binds to the identified downstream *NRP1* enhancer site, either at one or both of the two identified AP-1 sequences or to the sequence flanking one of these AP-1 sites. It is also possible that

the HBZ heterodimer can bind to an AP-1 half site with a sequence similar to that of a complete AP-1 site. Due to an atypical basic region, it is possible that rather than bind perfectly to the AP-1 site, HBZ may bind in a unique way to the identified region. Further experimentation is needed to confirm the binding of an HBZ/AP-1 heterodimer to the identified sequence and to identify the specific nucleotides required for this binding. HBZ is also known to interact with p300/CBP coactivators proteins to alter normal cellular gene expression<sup>39,307,308</sup>. Interestingly, we also found that p300/CBP coactivators are enriched at the putative enhancer downstream of NRP1 (Figure 2.5). Our results support a model where recruitment of an HBZ/AP-1 heterodimer (HBZ/JunB or HBZ/c-Jun) to the identified downstream promoter sequence, followed by recruitment of CBP/p300 coactivators and subsequent recruitment of basal transcription machinery, including RNA Pol II, to the NRP1 transcription start site through a looping mechanism (Figure 3.1). Based on this model, looping of the DNA occurs between transcription factors bound to the downstream NRP1 enhancer and to the NRP1 promoter. This mechanism brings the enhancer and promoter elements into close proximity, allowing the enhancer element to promote transcriptional activation. Alternatively, HBZ may also be contributing to upregulation of NRP1 through de-repression of NRP1 transcription at the *NRP1* promoter. The *NRP1* promoter contains an SP1 binding site<sup>375</sup>. The *hTERT* promoter also contains an SP1 site which is important for transcriptional regulation<sup>314</sup>. In the absence of HBZ, the hTERT SP1 site is occupied by Sp1 in a complex with JunD and the transcriptional repressor menin<sup>316</sup>. In the presence of HBZ, Sp1/JunD/HBZ complexes activate transcription at the *hTERT* promoter, which also contains an Sp1 binding site<sup>314</sup>. Based on these data, it is possible that HBZ facilitates the upregulation

of NRP1 through a similar mechanism, by relieving menin-mediated repression of gene expression. It is important to note that not all HBZ-expressing cells overexpress NRP1 and this may be for a number of reasons. It is possible that differential NRP1 expression in HTLV-1-infected cells is due to genomic differences, including differences in host cell genome and viral integration sites, both of which can alter expression of cellular and viral genes and potentially lead to downstream impacts on NRP1 expression in the HTLV-1-infected T-cell.

**NRP1 and HTLV-1 infection:** As an HTLV-1 receptor, NRP1 has been the focus of numerous studies, primarily focusing on NRP1 expression on target cells. Indeed, human primary MDDCs are more susceptible to HTLV-1 infection than primary lymphocytes, which has been attributed to the higher NRP1 expression level on MDDCs than T- cells<sup>117</sup>. Furthermore, blocking of NRP1 on target cells with VEGF<sub>165</sub> reduces the susceptibility of cells to HTLV-1 infection<sup>99</sup>.

Elevated NRP1 expression during HTLV-1 infection is unexpected because viral receptors are often downregulated during retroviral infection to prevent superinfection<sup>376,377</sup>. For example, Tax reduces GLUT1 expression during HTLV-1 infection<sup>361</sup>. Furthermore, during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection CD4, CXCR4 and CCR-5 expression are downregulated<sup>376,378-380</sup>. Upregulation of NRP1 in infected T-cells suggests a beneficial role for this protein during HTLV-1 infection.





Figure 3.1. Proposed model of activation of NRP1 expression by HBZ and subsequent impact on HTLV-1 transmission. (A) An HBZ/JunB or HBZ/c-Jun heterodimer binds to the identified NRP1 enhancer. CBP/p300 coactivator is recruited and interacts with HBZ. CBP/p300 recruits RNA Pol II, which activates transcription of NRP1. (B-C) Proposed model of the impact of NRP1 expression on HTLV-1-infected Tcells on the efficiency of cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1. Figure for illustrative purposes and is not to scale. (B) In HTLV-1-infected T-cells in which NRP1 expression is intermediately upregulated (NRP1<sub>intermediate</sub>), ICAM-1 on the surface of the infected cell can successfully interact with LFA-1 on the surface of the target cell, resulting in the formation of the virological synapse and transfer of viral particles from the infected cell to the target CD4+ T-cell. (C) In HTLV-1-infected T-cells in which NRP1 expression is highly upregulated (NRP1<sub>high</sub>), ICAM-1 on the surface of the infected cell can not successfully interact with LFA-1 on the surface of the target cell, reducing the likelihood of successful formation of the virological synapse and viral particle transfer from the infected cell to the target CD4+ T-cell. (D-E) Proposed alternative model of the impact of NRP1 expression on HTLV-1 transmission through altered interactions of the virion with the target cell. Figure for illustrative purposes and is not to scale. (D) HTLV-1 with low levels of NRP1 (NRP1<sub>low</sub>) are able to more efficiently interact with target T-cells, resulting in increased likelihood of infection of target cells. (E) Higher levels of NRP1

 $(NRP1_{high})$  on HTLV-1 inhibits the ability of the virion to successfully infect target T-cells, possibly due to the glycosylation of NRP1.
Upon discovering that NRP1 is actually upregulated during HTLV-1 infection, we initially hypothesized that NRP1 would enhance infection through retention of virions at the cell surface or improved cell-to-cell adhesion. Indeed, NRP1-mediated homotypic aggregation between T-cells and DCs during the formation of the immunological synapse enhances the duration of this interaction<sup>174</sup>. However, our studies found that NRP1 on effector cells reduces cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1 (Figure 2.7), without impacting virion release from the cell surface (Figure 2.8). Also, our data indicates that the extracellular portion of NRP1 is important for hindering infection (Figure 2.7). Based on these findings, we propose a model in which the relatively large size of NRP1, combined with the expression level, inhibits cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1 by reducing the ability of ICAM-1 on the surface of the HTLV-1 infected cell and LFA-1 on the surface of the target cell to successfully interact and form the virological synapse, thereby blocking effective cell-to-cell contact, resulting in a reduction in infection when NRP1 is more highly expressed (Figure 3.1. B-C). Interestingly, NRP1 has also been found to reduce the infection efficiency of HIV-1<sup>348</sup>. Indeed, NRP1 expression in MDDCs and DCs, both of which express high levels of NRP1 compared to many cell types, inhibits infectivity of the progeny virions<sup>348</sup>. NRP1 is incorporated into HIV-1 viral particles and inhibits the ability of the viral particles to attach to target CD4+ T-cells<sup>348</sup>. Wang et al. (2022) hypothesized that the inhibitory impact of NRP1 is because NRP1 is heavily glycosylated. As an alternative model, we hypothesize that virion-incorporated NRP1 hinders the ability of HTLV-1 to efficiently infect target cells (Figure 3.1. D-E).

Based on these findings, it is reasonable to hypothesize that relatively high NRP1 expression on DCs may hinder HTLV-1 transmission to target CD4+ T-cells. Another

95

potential explanation for the reduction in infection with elevated NRP1 expression is that elevated cellular expression of NRP1 potentially leads to an increase in NRP1 in HTLV-1 progeny viruses which may hinder binding of HTLV-1 virions to target cells. Furthermore, NRP1 mediated inhibition of infection could potentially be the result of the large molecular size of NRP1 or the glycosylation of NRP1.

Additional potential roles for NRP1 during HTLV-1 infection: Our data indicates that elevated NRP1 expression in T-cells during HTLV-1 infection inhibits HTLV-1 infectivity. This is surprising given that HBZ has been shown to upregulate certain genes involved in infection<sup>329,330</sup>. However, it is possible that NRP1 has another role during HTLV-1 infection. One possibility is that upregulation of Nrp1 serves as an additional mechanism to prevent superinfection of the HTLV-1-infected cell. Indeed, HTLV-1 is known to downregulation GLUT1 expression likely to prevent superinfection<sup>361</sup>. NRP1 is known to be involved in angiogenesis, cell survival, cell migration and invasion<sup>362</sup>. NRP1 is often upregulated in tumor cells and NRP1 expression in cancer cells is correlated with likelihood of metastasis<sup>381-384</sup>. Based on this, it is possible that elevated NRP1 levels in HTLV-1-infected T-cells promote dissemination of ATL cells. This hypothesis could be tested using a xenograft mouse model in which xenograft mice are injected with ATL cells (from a single cell line) manipulated to express either relatively low or high amounts of NRP1<sup>385</sup>. Subsequent comparison of the organ and tissue infiltration of the ATL cells based on NRP1 expression levels would provide valuable insight into a potential novel role of NRP1 during HTLV-1 infection. If high NRP1 levels promote dissemination, xenograft mice infected with NRP1<sub>high</sub> ATL cells would experience more widespread dissemination of ATL cells. It is also possible that restriction of HTLV-1

96

infection is advantageous *in vivo* to restrict the number of infected cells synthesizing immunogenic proteins, limiting the immune response against HTLV-1.

Like NRP1, HBZ is also involved in cell migration and cell survival through the inhibition of apoptosis. HBZ attenuates FoxO3a function and alter its cellular localization, resulting in a suppression of apoptosis<sup>386</sup>. HBZ also induces CCR4 to promote T-cell migration<sup>323</sup>. Both of these functions of HBZ occur independently of NRP1. Therefore, because NRP1 also promotes cell migration and cell survival independently of the mechanisms driven directly by HBZ and HBZ drives NRP1 expression, it is possible that HBZ is able to promote cell survival and migration directly and indirectly.

In conclusion, the work presented here describes novel roles of HBZ and NRP1 in the HTLV-1 infection process. Our findings offer new insights into the differential roles of NRP1 during various stages of HTLV-1 infection. While NRP1 on a target cell enhances the likelihood of a cell becoming infected with HTLV-1, our study shows that NRP1 expression on the HTLV-1-infected T-cell hinders the cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1<sup>99,100</sup>. These findings illuminate the differing impacts of NRP1 at different points in the HTLV-1 infection process, an important distinction in the development of anti-HTLV-1 therapeutics. Indeed, since NRP1 on a target cell promotes infection, the development of prophylactic anti- HTLV-1 drugs involving a mechanism of action in which NRP1 is temporarily blocked or downregulated could be advantageous. Alternatively, for therapeutic anti-HTLV-1 drug development targeted at reducing viral spread, enhancing NRP1 expression in HTLV-1-infected cells could be advantageous.

97

## ATTRIBUTIONS

Chapters 1-3 contain an adaptation of or reference results published in *Upregulation of Neuropilin-1 inhibits HTLV-1 infection* by Kendle *et al. Pathogens* **2023**, 12(6), 831; https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens12060831, which is under a CC BY 4.0 license. Changes include rewriting of some of the sections and adjustments to certain figures.

## REFERENCES

1. Poiesz BJ, Ruscetti FW, Gazdar AF, Bunn PA, Minna JD, Gallo RC. Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Dec 1980;77(12):7415-9. doi:10.1073/pnas.77.12.7415

2. Tagaya Y, Gallo RC. The Exceptional Oncogenicity of HTLV-1. *Front Microbiol*. 2017;8:1425. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.01425

3. Kalyanaraman VS, Sarngadharan MG, Robert-Guroff M, Miyoshi I, Golde D, Gallo RC. A new subtype of human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-II) associated with a T-cell variant of hairy cell leukemia. *Science*. Nov 5 1982;218(4572):571-3. doi:10.1126/science.6981847

4. Martin F, Bangham CR, Ciminale V, et al. Conference highlights of the 15th International Conference on Human Retrovirology: HTLV and related retroviruses, 4-8 June 2011, Leuven, Gembloux, Belgium. *Retrovirology*. Oct 28 2011;8:86. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-8-86

5. Biglione MM, Pizarro M, Salomón HE, Berría MI. A possible case of myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis in an Argentinian woman with human T lymphocyte virus type II. *Clin Infect Dis*. Aug 1 2003;37(3):456-8. doi:10.1086/376620

6. Calattini S, Chevalier SA, Duprez R, et al. Discovery of a new human T-cell lymphotropic virus (HTLV-3) in Central Africa. *Retrovirology*. May 9 2005;2:30. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-2-30

7. Wolfe ND, Heneine W, Carr JK, et al. Emergence of unique primate Tlymphotropic viruses among central African bushmeat hunters. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. May 31 2005;102(22):7994-9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0501734102

8. Gessain A, Cassar O. Epidemiological Aspects and World Distribution of HTLV-1 Infection. *Front Microbiol.* 2012;3:388. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2012.00388

9. Fox JM, Mutalima N, Molyneux E, et al. Seroprevalence of HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 amongst mothers and children in Malawi within the context of a systematic review and meta-analysis of HTLV seroprevalence in Africa. *Trop Med Int Health*. Mar 2016;21(3):312-24. doi:10.1111/tmi.12659

10. Salehi M, Shokouhi Mostafavi SK, Ghasemian A, Gholami M, Kazemi-Vardanjani A, Rahimi MK. Seroepidemiology of HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 Infection in Neyshabur City, North-Eastern Iran, during 2010-2014. *Iran Biomed J*. Jan 2017;21(1):57-60. doi:10.6091/.21.1.57

11. Einsiedel L, Cassar O, Spelman T, Joseph S, Gessain A. Higher HTLV-1c proviral loads are associated with blood stream infections in an Indigenous Australian population. *J Clin Virol*. May 2016;78:93-8. doi:10.1016/j.jcv.2016.03.006

12. Einsiedel L, Woodman RJ, Flynn M, Wilson K, Cassar O, Gessain A. Human T-Lymphotropic Virus type 1 infection in an Indigenous Australian population:

epidemiological insights from a hospital-based cohort study. *BMC Public Health*. Aug 15 2016;16:787. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3366-5

13. Einsiedel LJ, Pham H, Woodman RJ, Pepperill C, Taylor KA. The prevalence and clinical associations of HTLV-1 infection in a remote Indigenous community. *Med J Aust*. Oct 3 2016;205(7):305-9. doi:10.5694/mja16.00285

14. Gonçalves DU, Proietti FA, Ribas JG, et al. Epidemiology, treatment, and prevention of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-associated diseases. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* Jul 2010;23(3):577-89. doi:10.1128/cmr.00063-09

15. Hino S. Establishment of the milk-borne transmission as a key factor for the peculiar endemicity of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1): the ATL Prevention Program Nagasaki. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci*. 2011;87(4):152-66. doi:10.2183/pjab.87.152

16. Lu SC, Kao CL, Chin LT, et al. Intrafamilial transmission and risk assessment of HTLV-I among blood donors in southern Taiwan. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci*. Mar 2001;17(3):126-32.

17. Bangham CR, Meekings K, Toulza F, et al. The immune control of HTLV-1 infection: selection forces and dynamics. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)*. Jan 1 2009;14(8):2889-903. doi:10.2741/3420

18. Mochizuki M, Watanabe T, Yamaguchi K, et al. HTLV-I uveitis: a distinct clinical entity caused by HTLV-I. *Jpn J Cancer Res.* Mar 1992;83(3):236-9. doi:10.1111/j.1349-7006.1992.tb00092.x

19. Mochizuki M, Yamaguchi K, Takatsuki K, Watanabe T, Mori S, Tajima K. HTLV-I and uveitis. *Lancet*. May 2 1992;339(8801):1110. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(92)90699-4

20. Morgan OS, Rodgers-Johnson P, Mora C, Char G. HTLV-1 and polymyositis in Jamaica. *Lancet*. Nov 18 1989;2(8673):1184-7. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(89)91793-5 21. Eguchi K, Matsuoka N, Ida H, et al. Primary Sjögren's syndrome with antibodies to HTLV-I: clinical and laboratory features. *Ann Rheum Dis*. Jun 1992;51(6):769-76. doi:10.1136/ard.51.6.769

22. Nishioka K. HTLV-I arthropathy and Sjögren syndrome. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol*. 1996;13 Suppl 1:S57-62. doi:10.1097/00042560-199600001-00011

23. Merle H, Cabre P, Smadja D, Josset P, Landau M, Vernant JC. Sicca syndrome and HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. *Jpn J Ophthalmol.* Nov-Dec 1999;43(6):509-12. doi:10.1016/s0021-5155(99)00106-9

24. Pinheiro SR, Martins-Filho OA, Ribas JG, et al. Immunologic markers, uveitis, and keratoconjunctivitis sicca associated with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1. *Am J Ophthalmol*. Nov 2006;142(5):811-15. doi:10.1016/j.ajo.2006.06.013

25. Lee R, Schwartz RA. Human T-lymphotrophic virus type 1-associated infective dermatitis: a comprehensive review. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. Jan 2011;64(1):152-60. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2009.10.021

26. Verdonck K, González E, Henostroza G, et al. HTLV-1 infection is frequent among out-patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in northern Lima, Peru. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis*. Oct 2007;11(10):1066-72.

27. Verdonck K, González E, Schrooten W, Vanham G, Gotuzzo E. HTLV-1 infection is associated with a history of active tuberculosis among family members of HTLV-1-infected patients in Peru. *Epidemiol Infect*. Aug 2008;136(8):1076-83. doi:10.1017/s0950268807009521

28. LaGrenade L, Hanchard B, Fletcher V, Cranston B, Blattner W. Infective dermatitis of Jamaican children: a marker for HTLV-I infection. *Lancet*. Dec 1 1990;336(8727):1345-7. doi:10.1016/0140-6736(90)92896-p

29. Gotuzzo E, Terashima A, Alvarez H, et al. Strongyloides stercoralis hyperinfection associated with human T cell lymphotropic virus type-1 infection in Peru. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* Jan 1999;60(1):146-9. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.1999.60.146

30. Bittencourt AL, de Oliveira Mde F. Cutaneous manifestations associated with HTLV-1 infection. *Int J Dermatol*. Oct 2010;49(10):1099-110. doi:10.1111/j.1365-4632.2010.04568.x

31. Hasegawa H, Sawa H, Lewis MJ, et al. Thymus-derived leukemia-lymphoma in mice transgenic for the Tax gene of human T-lymphotropic virus type I. *Nat Med*. Apr 2006;12(4):466-72. doi:10.1038/nm1389

32. Satou Y, Yasunaga J, Zhao T, et al. HTLV-1 bZIP factor induces T-cell lymphoma and systemic inflammation in vivo. *PLoS Pathog*. Feb 10 2011;7(2):e1001274. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001274

33. Yoshida M. Molecular approach to human leukemia: isolation and characterization of the first human retrovirus HTLV-1 and its impact on tumorigenesis in adult T-cell leukemia. *Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci*. 2010;86(2):117-30. doi:10.2183/pjab.86.117

34. Iwanaga M, Watanabe T, Yamaguchi K. Adult T-cell leukemia: a review of epidemiological evidence. *Front Microbiol*. 2012;3:322. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2012.00322

35. Iwanaga M. Epidemiology of HTLV-1 Infection and ATL in Japan: An Update. *Front Microbiol.* 2020;11:1124. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.01124

36. Shah UA, Shah N, Qiao B, et al. Epidemiology and survival trend of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma in the United States. *Cancer*. Feb 1 2020;126(3):567-574. doi:10.1002/cncr.32556

37. Shah UA, Chung EY, Giricz O, et al. North American ATLL has a distinct mutational and transcriptional profile and responds to epigenetic therapies. *Blood*. Oct 4 2018;132(14):1507-1518. doi:10.1182/blood-2018-01-824607

38. Rosadas C, Puccioni-Sohler M, Oliveira ACP, Casseb J, Sousa M, Taylor GP. Adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma in Brazil: A rare disease or rarely diagnosed? *Br J Haematol*. Feb 2020;188(4):e46-e49. doi:10.1111/bjh.16318

39. Zhao T, Satou Y, Sugata K, et al. HTLV-1 bZIP factor enhances TGF-β signaling through p300 coactivator. *Blood*. Aug 18 2011;118(7):1865-76. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-12-326199

40. Anderson MR, Enose-Akahata Y, Massoud R, et al. Epigenetic modification of the FoxP3 TSDR in HAM/TSP decreases the functional suppression of Tregs. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol*. Sep 2014;9(4):522-32. doi:10.1007/s11481-014-9547-z

41. Karube K, Ohshima K, Tsuchiya T, et al. Expression of FoxP3, a key molecule in CD4CD25 regulatory T cells, in adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma cells. *Br J Haematol*. Jul 2004;126(1):81-4. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.04999.x

42. Kamada Y, Iwamasa T, Miyazato M, Sunagawa K, Kunishima N. Kaposi sarcoma in Okinawa. *Cancer*. Aug 15 1992;70(4):861-8. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19920815)70:4<861::aid-cncr2820700423>3.0.co;2-4

43. Kataoka K, Nagata Y, Kitanaka A, et al. Integrated molecular analysis of adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Nat Genet*. Nov 2015;47(11):1304-15. doi:10.1038/ng.3415

44. Kataoka K, Ogawa S. [Genetic landscape of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma]. *Rinsho Ketsueki*. Apr 2016;57(4):417-24. doi:10.11406/rinketsu.57.417

45. Shimoyama M. Diagnostic criteria and classification of clinical subtypes of adult T-cell leukaemia-lymphoma. A report from the Lymphoma Study Group (1984-87). *Br J Haematol.* Nov 1991;79(3):428-37. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.1991.tb08051.x

46. Hodson A, Crichton S, Montoto S, et al. Use of zidovudine and interferon alfa with chemotherapy improves survival in both acute and lymphoma subtypes of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol*. Dec 10 2011;29(35):4696-701. doi:10.1200/jco.2011.35.5578

47. Utsunomiya A, Choi I, Chihara D, Seto M. Recent advances in the treatment of adult T-cell leukemia-lymphomas. *Cancer Sci*. Apr 2015;106(4):344-51. doi:10.1111/cas.12617

48. Katsuya H, Ishitsuka K, Utsunomiya A, et al. Treatment and survival among 1594 patients with ATL. *Blood*. Dec 10 2015;126(24):2570-7. doi:10.1182/blood-2015-03-632489

49. Bazarbachi A, Abou Merhi R, Gessain A, et al. Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I-infected cells extravasate through the endothelial barrier by a local angiogenesislike mechanism. *Cancer Res.* Mar 15 2004;64(6):2039-46. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-03-2390

50. Utsunomiya A, Miyazaki Y, Takatsuka Y, et al. Improved outcome of adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma with allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant*. Jan 2001;27(1):15-20. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1702731

51. Bazarbachi A, El-Sabban ME, Nasr R, et al. Arsenic trioxide and interferon-alpha synergize to induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I-transformed cells. *Blood*. Jan 1 1999;93(1):278-83.

52. El-Sabban ME, Nasr R, Dbaibo G, et al. Arsenic-interferon-alpha-triggered apoptosis in HTLV-I transformed cells is associated with tax down-regulation and reversal of NF-kappa B activation. *Blood.* Oct 15 2000;96(8):2849-55.

53. Nasr R, Rosenwald A, El-Sabban ME, et al. Arsenic/interferon specifically reverses 2 distinct gene networks critical for the survival of HTLV-1-infected leukemic cells. *Blood*. Jun 1 2003;101(11):4576-82. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-09-2986

54. Bazarbachi A, Suarez F, Fields P, Hermine O. How I treat adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Blood*. Aug 18 2011;118(7):1736-45. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-03-345702

55. Yoshie O, Fujisawa R, Nakayama T, et al. Frequent expression of CCR4 in adult T-cell leukemia and human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-transformed T cells. *Blood*. Mar 1 2002;99(5):1505-11. doi:10.1182/blood.v99.5.1505

56. Wong RWJ, Ngoc PCT, Leong WZ, et al. Enhancer profiling identifies critical cancer genes and characterizes cell identity in adult T-cell leukemia. *Blood*. Nov 23 2017;130(21):2326-2338. doi:10.1182/blood-2017-06-792184

57. Ishida T. [Leukemia: recent progress in diagnosis and treatment. Topics: IV. Recent topics; 1. Novel antibody therapy targeting CCR4 for adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma]. *Nihon Naika Gakkai Zasshi*. Jul 10 2013;102(7):1744-50. doi:10.2169/naika.102.1744

58. Ishida T, Joh T, Uike N, et al. Defucosylated anti-CCR4 monoclonal antibody (KW-0761) for relapsed adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma: a multicenter phase II study. *J Clin Oncol*. Mar 10 2012;30(8):837-42. doi:10.1200/jco.2011.37.3472

59. Ishida T, Utsunomiya Á, Jo T, et al. Mogamulizumab for relapsed adult T-cell leukemia-lymphoma: Updated follow-up analysis of phase I and II studies. *Cancer Sci.* Oct 2017;108(10):2022-2029. doi:10.1111/cas.13343

60. Ishida T, Fujiwara H, Nosaka K, et al. Multicenter Phase II Study of Lenalidomide in Relapsed or Recurrent Adult T-Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma: ATLL-002. *J Clin Oncol*. Dec 2016;34(34):4086-4093. doi:10.1200/jco.2016.67.7732

61. Wattel E, Vartanian JP, Pannetier Ć, Wain-Hobson S. Clonal expansion of human T-cell leukemia virus type I-infected cells in asymptomatic and symptomatic carriers without malignancy. *J Virol*. May 1995;69(5):2863-8. doi:10.1128/jvi.69.5.2863-2868.1995

62. Usuku K, Sonoda S, Osame M, et al. HLA haplotype-linked high immune responsiveness against HTLV-I in HTLV-I-associated myelopathy: comparison with adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Ann Neurol*. 1988;23 Suppl:S143-50. doi:10.1002/ana.410230733

63. Araujo A, Bangham CRM, Casseb J, et al. Management of HAM/TSP: Systematic Review and Consensus-based Recommendations 2019. *Neurol Clin Pract*. Feb 2021;11(1):49-56. doi:10.1212/cpj.00000000000832

64. Nakagawa M, Izumo S, Ijichi S, et al. HTLV-I-associated myelopathy: analysis of 213 patients based on clinical features and laboratory findings. *J Neurovirol*. Mar 1995;1(1):50-61. doi:10.3109/13550289509111010

65. Sato T, Yagishita N, Tamaki K, et al. Proposal of Classification Criteria for HTLV-1-Associated Myelopathy/Tropical Spastic Paraparesis Disease Activity. *Front Microbiol*. 2018;9:1651. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.01651

66. Olindo S, Cabre P, Lézin A, et al. Natural history of human T-lymphotropic virus 1-associated myelopathy: a 14-year follow-up study. *Arch Neurol*. Nov

2006;63(11):1560-6. doi:10.1001/archneur.63.11.1560

67. Marçais A, Lhermitte L, Artesi M, et al. Targeted deep sequencing reveals clonal and subclonal mutational signatures in Adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma and defines an unfavorable indolent subtype. *Leukemia*. Mar 2021;35(3):764-776. doi:10.1038/s41375-020-0900-3

68. Yared JA, Kimball AS. Optimizing Management of Patients with Adult T Cell Leukemia-Lymphoma. *Cancers (Basel)*. Nov 25 2015;7(4):2318-29. doi:10.3390/cancers7040893

69. Cook LB, Phillips AA. How I treat adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Blood*. Jan 28 2021;137(4):459-470. doi:10.1182/blood.2019004045

70. Jacobson S, Shida H, McFarlin DE, Fauci AS, Koenig S. Circulating CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for HTLV-I pX in patients with HTLV-I associated neurological disease. *Nature*. Nov 15 1990;348(6298):245-8. doi:10.1038/348245a0

71. Nagai M, Brennan MB, Sakai JA, Mora CA, Jacobson S. CD8(+) T cells are an in vivo reservoir for human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I. *Blood*. Sep 15 2001;98(6):1858-61. doi:10.1182/blood.v98.6.1858

72. Brunetto GS, Massoud R, Leibovitch EC, et al. Digital droplet PCR (ddPCR) for the precise quantification of human T-lymphotropic virus 1 proviral loads in peripheral

blood and cerebrospinal fluid of HAM/TSP patients and identification of viral mutations. *J Neurovirol*. Aug 2014;20(4):341-51. doi:10.1007/s13365-014-0249-3

73. Greten TF, Slansky JE, Kubota R, et al. Direct visualization of antigen-specific T cells: HTLV-1 Tax11-19- specific CD8(+) T cells are activated in peripheral blood and accumulate in cerebrospinal fluid from HAM/TSP patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jun 23 1998;95(13):7568-73. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.13.7568

74. Kubota R, Soldan SS, Martin R, Jacobson S. An altered peptide ligand antagonizes antigen-specific T cells of patients with human T lymphotropic virus type I-associated neurological disease. *J Immunol*. May 15 2000;164(10):5192-8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.10.5192

75. Goon PK, Hanon E, Igakura T, et al. High frequencies of Th1-type CD4(+) T cells specific to HTLV-1 Env and Tax proteins in patients with HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. *Blood.* May 1 2002;99(9):3335-41. doi:10.1182/blood.v99.9.3335

76. Narikawa K, Fujihara K, Misu T, et al. CSF-chemokines in HTLV-I-associated myelopathy: CXCL10 up-regulation and therapeutic effect of interferon-alpha. *J Neuroimmunol.* Feb 2005;159(1-2):177-82. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.10.011

77. Umehara F, Izumo S, Nakagawa M, et al. Immunocytochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in the spinal cord lesions in HTLV-I-associated myelopathy. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. Jul 1993;52(4):424-30. doi:10.1097/00005072-199307000-00010

78. Umehara F, Izumo S, Ronquillo AT, Matsumuro K, Sato E, Osame M. Cytokine expression in the spinal cord lesions in HTLV-I-associated myelopathy. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. Jan 1994;53(1):72-7. doi:10.1097/00005072-199401000-00009

79. Araya N, Sato T, Ando H, et al. HTLV-1 induces a Th1-like state in CD4+CCR4+ T cells. *J Clin Invest*. Aug 2014;124(8):3431-42. doi:10.1172/jci75250

80. Bangham CR, Araujo A, Yamano Y, Taylor GP. HTLV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. Jun 18 2015;1:15012. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2015.12

81. Martin F, Taylor GP, Jacobson S. Inflammatory manifestations of HTLV-1 and their therapeutic options. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*. Nov 2014;10(11):1531-46. doi:10.1586/1744666x.2014.966690

82. Ijichi S, Izumo S, Eiraku N, et al. An autoaggressive process against bystander tissues in HTLV-I-infected individuals: a possible pathomechanism of HAM/TSP. *Med Hypotheses*. Dec 1993;41(6):542-7. doi:10.1016/0306-9877(93)90111-3

83. Jeffery KJ, Siddiqui ÁA, Bunce M, et al. The influence of HLA class I alleles and heterozygosity on the outcome of human T cell lymphotropic virus type I infection. *J Immunol*. Dec 15 2000;165(12):7278-84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.12.7278

84. Jeffery KJ, Usuku K, Hall SE, et al. HLA alleles determine human T-lymphotropic virus-I (HTLV-I) proviral load and the risk of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Mar 30 1999;96(7):3848-53. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.7.3848

85. Catalan-Soares BC, Carneiro-Proietti AB, Da Fonseca FG, et al. HLA class I alleles in HTLV-1-associated myelopathy and asymptomatic carriers from the Brazilian cohort GIPH. *Med Microbiol Immunol*. Feb 2009;198(1):1-3. doi:10.1007/s00430-008-0096-z

86. Macnamara A, Rowan A, Hilburn S, et al. HLA class I binding of HBZ determines outcome in HTLV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog*. Sep 23 2010;6(9):e1001117. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001117

87. Treviño A, Vicario JL, Lopez M, et al. Association between HLA alleles and HAM/TSP in individuals infected with HTLV-1. *J Neurol*. Oct 2013;260(10):2551-5. doi:10.1007/s00415-013-7014-z

88. Sabouri AH, Saito M, Lloyd AL, et al. Polymorphism in the interleukin-10 promoter affects both provirus load and the risk of human T lymphotropic virus type I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. *J Infect Dis*. Oct 1 2004;190(7):1279-85. doi:10.1086/423942

89. Gadelha SR, Junior Alcântara LC, Costa GC, et al. Correlation between polymorphisms at interleukin-6 but not at interleukin-10 promoter and the risk of human T lymphotropic virus type I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis in Brazilian individuals. *J Med Virol*. Dec 2008;80(12):2141-6. doi:10.1002/jmv.21341

90. Vine AM, Witkover AD, Lloyd AL, et al. Polygenic control of human T lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) provirus load and the risk of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. *J Infect Dis*. Oct 1 2002;186(7):932-9. doi:10.1086/342953

91. Yamauchi J, Araya N, Yagishita N, Sato T, Yamano Y. An update on human Tcell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-1)-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP) focusing on clinical and laboratory biomarkers. *Pharmacol Ther*. Feb 2021;218:107669. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2020.107669

92. Macchi B, Balestrieri E, Ascolani A, et al. Susceptibility of primary HTLV-1 isolates from patients with HTLV-1-associated myelopathy to reverse transcriptase inhibitors. *Viruses*. May 2011;3(5):469-83. doi:10.3390/v3050469

93. Taylor GP, Goon P, Furukawa Y, et al. Zidovudine plus lamivudine in Human T-Lymphotropic Virus type-I-associated myelopathy: a randomised trial. *Retrovirology*. Sep 19 2006;3:63. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-3-63

94. Yamano Y, Araya N, Sato T, et al. Abnormally high levels of virus-infected IFNgamma+ CCR4+ CD4+ CD25+ T cells in a retrovirus-associated neuroinflammatory disorder. *PLoS One*. Aug 5 2009;4(8):e6517. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006517

95. Yamauchi J, Coler-Reilly A, Sato T, et al. Mogamulizumab, an anti-CCR4 antibody, targets human T-lymphotropic virus type 1-infected CD8+ and CD4+ T cells to treat associated myelopathy. *J Infect Dis*. Jan 15 2015;211(2):238-48. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu438

96. Sato T, Coler-Reilly ALG, Yagishita N, et al. Mogamulizumab (Anti-CCR4) in HTLV-1-Associated Myelopathy. *N Engl J Med*. Feb 8 2018;378(6):529-538. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1704827

97. Piñon JD, Klasse PJ, Jassal SR, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp46 interacts with cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *J Virol*. Sep 2003;77(18):9922-30. doi:10.1128/jvi.77.18.9922-9930.2003

98. Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Bertolette DC, Huang Y, Ruscetti FW. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate attachment and entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 virions into CD4+ T cells. *J Virol*. Oct 2005;79(20):12692-702. doi:10.1128/jvi.79.20.12692-12702.2005

99. Lambert S, Bouttier M, Vassy R, et al. HTLV-1 uses HSPG and neuropilin-1 for entry by molecular mimicry of VEGF165. *Blood*. May 21 2009;113(21):5176-85. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-04-150342

100. Ghez D, Lepelletier Y, Lambert S, et al. Neuropilin-1 is involved in human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 entry. *J Virol*. Jul 2006;80(14):6844-54. doi:10.1128/jvi.02719-05

101. Manel N, Kinet S, Kim FJ, Taylor N, Sitbon M, Battini JL. [GLUT-1 is the receptor of retrovirus HTLV]. *Med Sci (Paris)*. Mar 2004;20(3):277-9. GLUT-1 est le récepteur des rétrovirus humains HTLV. doi:10.1051/medsci/2004203277

102. Jin Q, Alkhatib B, Cornetta K, Alkhatib G. Alternate receptor usage of neuropilin-1 and glucose transporter protein 1 by the human T cell leukemia virus type 1. *Virology*. Jan 20 2010;396(2):203-12. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2009.10.015

103. Koyanagi Y, Itoyama Y, Nakamura N, et al. In vivo infection of human T-cell leukemia virus type I in non-T cells. *Virology*. Sep 1993;196(1):25-33. doi:10.1006/viro.1993.1451

104. Macatonia SE, Cruickshank JK, Rudge P, Knight SC. Dendritic cells from patients with tropical spastic paraparesis are infected with HTLV-1 and stimulate autologous lymphocyte proliferation. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*. Sep 1992;8(9):1699-706. doi:10.1089/aid.1992.8.1699

105. Ho DD, Rota TR, Hirsch MS. Infection of human endothelial cells by human Tlymphotropic virus type I. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Dec 1984;81(23):7588-90. doi:10.1073/pnas.81.23.7588

106. Longo DL, Gelmann EP, Cossman J, et al. Isolation of HTLV-transformed Blymphocyte clone from a patient with HTLV-associated adult T-cell leukaemia. *Nature*. Aug 9-15 1984;310(5977):505-6. doi:10.1038/310505a0

107. Hieshima K, Nagakubo D, Nakayama T, Shirakawa AK, Jin Z, Yoshie O. Taxinducible production of CC chemokine ligand 22 by human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-infected T cells promotes preferential transmission of HTLV-1 to CCR4expressing CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol*. Jan 15 2008;180(2):931-9. doi:10.4049/iimmunol.180.2.931

108. Richardson JH, Edwards AJ, Cruickshank JK, Rudge P, Dalgleish AG. In vivo cellular tropism of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1. *J Virol*. Nov 1990;64(11):5682-7. doi:10.1128/jvi.64.11.5682-5687.1990

109. Kannian P, Yin H, Doueiri R, Lairmore MD, Fernandez S, Green PL. Distinct transformation tropism exhibited by human T lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2 is the result of postinfection T cell clonal expansion. *J Virol*. Apr 2012;86(7):3757-66. doi:10.1128/jvi.06900-11

110. Matsuo M, Ueno T, Monde K, et al. Identification and characterization of a novel enhancer in the HTLV-1 proviral genome. *Nat Commun*. May 3 2022;13(1):2405. doi:10.1038/s41467-022-30029-9

111. Maksimova V, Smith S, Seth J, et al. HTLV-1 intragenic viral enhancer influences immortalization phenotype in vitro, but is dispensable for persistence and disease development in animal models. *Front Immunol*. 2022;13:954077. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.954077

112. Ilinskaya A, Derse D, Hill S, Princler G, Heidecker G. Cell-cell transmission allows human T-lymphotropic virus 1 to circumvent tetherin restriction. *Virology*. Feb 5 2013;436(1):201-9. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.11.012

113. Derse D, Hill SA, Lloyd PA, Chung H, Morse BA. Examining human Tlymphotropic virus type 1 infection and replication by cell-free infection with recombinant virus vectors. *J Virol*. Sep 2001;75(18):8461-8. doi:10.1128/jvi.75.18.8461-8468.2001 114. Cao S, Maldonado JO, Grigsby IF, Mansky LM, Zhang W. Analysis of human Tcell leukemia virus type 1 particles by using cryo-electron tomography. *J Virol*. Feb 2015;89(4):2430-5. doi:10.1128/jvi.02358-14

115. Shinagawa M, Jinno-Oue A, Shimizu N, et al. Human T-cell leukemia viruses are highly unstable over a wide range of temperatures. *J Gen Virol*. Mar 2012;93(Pt 3):608-617. doi:10.1099/vir.0.037622-0

116. Jones KS, Huang YK, Chevalier SA, et al. The receptor complex associated with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 3 (HTLV-3) Env-mediated binding and entry is distinct from, but overlaps with, the receptor complexes of HTLV-1 and HTLV-2. *J Virol*. May 2009;83(10):5244-55. doi:10.1128/jvi.02285-08

117. Alais S, Mahieux R, Dutartre H. Viral Source-Independent High Susceptibility of Dendritic Cells to Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection Compared to That of T Lymphocytes. *J Virol*. Oct 2015;89(20):10580-90. doi:10.1128/jvi.01799-15

118. de Rossi A, Aldovini A, Franchini G, Mann D, Gallo RC, Wong-Staal F. Clonal selection of T lymphocytes infected by cell-free human T-cell leukemia/lymphoma virus type I: parameters of virus integration and expression. *Virology*. Jun 1985;143(2):640-5. doi:10.1016/0042-6822(85)90405-2

119. Jones KS, Petrow-Sadowski C, Huang YK, Bertolette DC, Ruscetti FW. Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells. *Nat Med.* Apr 2008;14(4):429-36. doi:10.1038/nm1745

120. Jain P, Manuel SL, Khan ZK, Ahuja J, Quann K, Wigdahl B. DC-SIGN mediates cell-free infection and transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 by dendritic cells. *J Virol*. Nov 2009;83(21):10908-21. doi:10.1128/jvi.01054-09

121. Martin-Latil S, Gnädig NF, Mallet A, et al. Transcytosis of HTLV-1 across a tight human epithelial barrier and infection of subepithelial dendritic cells. *Blood*. Jul 19 2012;120(3):572-80. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-08-374637

122. Battaglia A, Buzzonetti A, Monego G, et al. Neuropilin-1 expression identifies a subset of regulatory T cells in human lymph nodes that is modulated by preoperative chemoradiation therapy in cervical cancer. *Immunology*. Jan 2008;123(1):129-38. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02737.x

123. Matsuoka M, Jeang KT. Human T-cell leukaemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) infectivity and cellular transformation. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Apr 2007;7(4):270-80. doi:10.1038/nrc2111

124. de Castro-Amarante MF, Pise-Masison CA, McKinnon K, et al. Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Infection of the Three Monocyte Subsets Contributes to Viral Burden in Humans. *J Virol*. Nov 25 2015;90(5):2195-207. doi:10.1128/jvi.02735-15 125. Furuta R, Yasunaga JI, Miura M, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 infects multiple lineage hematopoietic cells in vivo. *PLoS Pathog*. Nov 2017;13(11):e1006722. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1006722 126. Moles R, Sarkis S, Galli V, et al. NK cells and monocytes modulate primary HTLV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog.* Apr 2022;18(4):e1010416.

doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1010416

127. Gross C, Thoma-Kress AK. Molecular Mechanisms of HTLV-1 Cell-to-Cell Transmission. *Viruses*. Mar 9 2016;8(3):74. doi:10.3390/v8030074

128. Igakura T, Stinchcombe JC, Goon PK, et al. Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virus-induced polarization of the cytoskeleton. *Science*. Mar 14 2003;299(5613):1713-6. doi:10.1126/science.1080115

129. Van Prooyen N, Gold H, Andresen V, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 p8 protein increases cellular conduits and virus transmission. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Nov 30 2010;107(48):20738-43. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009635107

130. Pais-Correia AM, Sachse M, Guadagnini S, et al. Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses. *Nat Med.* Jan 2010;16(1):83-9. doi:10.1038/nm.2065

131. Barnard AL, Igakura T, Tanaka Y, Taylor GP, Bangham CR. Engagement of specific T-cell surface molecules regulates cytoskeletal polarization in HTLV-1-infected lymphocytes. *Blood*. Aug 1 2005;106(3):988-95. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-07-2850
132. Nejmeddine M, Barnard AL, Tanaka Y, Taylor GP, Bangham CR. Human T-lymphotropic virus, type 1, tax protein triggers microtubule reorientation in the virological synapse. *J Biol Chem*. Aug 19 2005;280(33):29653-60. doi:10.1074/jbc.M502639200
133. Dustin ML. The immunological synapse. *Cancer Immunol Res*. Nov 2014;2(11):1023-33. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-14-0161

134. Tarasevich A, Filatov A, Pichugin A, Mazurov D. Monoclonal antibody profiling of cell surface proteins associated with the viral biofilms on HTLV-1 transformed cells. *Acta Virol*. Sep 2015;59(3):247-56. doi:10.4149/av 2015 03 247

135. Millen S, Gross C, Donhauser N, Mann MC, Péloponèse JM, Jr., Thoma-Kress AK. Collagen IV (COL4A1, COL4A2), a Component of the Viral Biofilm, Is Induced by the HTLV-1 Oncoprotein Tax and Impacts Virus Transmission. *Front Microbiol.* 2019;10:2439. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.02439

136. Tanaka G, Okayama A, Watanabe T, et al. The clonal expansion of human T lymphotropic virus type 1-infected T cells: a comparison between seroconverters and long-term carriers. *J Infect Dis*. Apr 1 2005;191(7):1140-7. doi:10.1086/428625

137. Laydon DJ, Sunkara V, Boelen L, Bangham CRM, Asquith B. The relative contributions of infectious and mitotic spread to HTLV-1 persistence. *PLoS Comput Biol*. Sep 2020;16(9):e1007470. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007470

138. Nosaka T, Siomi H, Adachi Y, et al. Nucleolar targeting signal of human T-cell leukemia virus type I rex-encoded protein is essential for cytoplasmic accumulation of unspliced viral mRNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Dec 1989;86(24):9798-802. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.24.9798

139. Rehberger S, Gounari F, DucDodon M, et al. The activation domain of a hormone inducible HTLV-1 Rex protein determines colocalization with the nuclear pore. *Exp Cell Res.* Jun 15 1997;233(2):363-71. doi:10.1006/excr.1997.3562

140. Palmeri D, Malim MH. The human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 posttranscriptional trans-activator Rex contains a nuclear export signal. *J Virol*. Sep 1996;70(9):6442-5. doi:10.1128/jvi.70.9.6442-6445.1996

141. Bai XT, Sinha-Datta U, Ko NL, Bellon M, Nicot C. Nuclear export and expression of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax/rex mRNA are RxRE/Rex dependent. *J Virol.* Apr 2012;86(8):4559-65. doi:10.1128/jvi.06361-11

142. Pique Ć, Pham D, Tursz T, Dokhélar MC. The cytoplasmic domain of the human T-cell leukemia virus type I envelope can modulate envelope functions in a cell typedependent manner. *J Virol*. Jan 1993;67(1):557-61. doi:10.1128/jvi.67.1.557-561.1993 143. Lingappa JR, Reed JC, Tanaka M, Chutiraka K, Robinson BA. How HIV-1 Gag assembles in cells: Putting together pieces of the puzzle. *Virus Res*. Nov 26 2014;193:89-107. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2014.07.001

144. Zhang SM, Jejcic A, Tam JP, Vahlne A. Membrane-Active Sequences within gp41 Membrane Proximal External Region (MPER) Modulate MPER-Containing Peptidyl Fusion Inhibitor Activity and the Biosynthesis of HIV-1 Structural Proteins. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(7):e0134851. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0134851

145. Inlora J, Collins DR, Trubin ME, Chung JY, Ono A. Membrane binding and subcellular localization of retroviral Gag proteins are differentially regulated by MA interactions with phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate and RNA. *mBio*. Dec 9 2014;5(6):e02202. doi:10.1128/mBio.02202-14

146. Morita E, Sundquist WI. Retrovirus budding. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* 2004;20:395-425. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.010403.102350

147. Demirov DG, Freed EO. Retrovirus budding. *Virus Res.* Dec 2004;106(2):87-102. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2004.08.007

148. Jones KS, Lambert S, Bouttier M, et al. Molecular aspects of HTLV-1 entry: functional domains of the HTLV-1 surface subunit (SU) and their relationships to the entry receptors. *Viruses*. Jun 2011;3(6):794-810. doi:10.3390/v3060794

149. Sarrazin S, Lamanna WC, Esko JD. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* Jul 1 2011;3(7)doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a004952

150. Iozzo RV. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans: intricate molecules with intriguing functions. *J Clin Invest*. Jul 2001;108(2):165-7. doi:10.1172/jci13560

151. Jones KS, Fugo K, Petrow-Sadowski C, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2 use different receptor complexes to enter T cells. *J Virol*. Sep 2006;80(17):8291-302. doi:10.1128/jvi.00389-06

152. Roy S, Bag AK, Singh RK, Talmadge JE, Batra SK, Datta K. Multifaceted Role of Neuropilins in the Immune System: Potential Targets for Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8:1228. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01228

153. Nakamura F, Goshima Y. Structural and functional relation of neuropilins. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2002;515:55-69. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-0119-0\_5

154. Kawasaki T, Kitsukawa T, Bekku Y, et al. A requirement for neuropilin-1 in embryonic vessel formation. *Development*. Nov 1999;126(21):4895-902. doi:10.1242/dev.126.21.4895

155. Kitsukawa T, Shimizu M, Sanbo M, et al. Neuropilin-semaphorin III/D-mediated chemorepulsive signals play a crucial role in peripheral nerve projection in mice. *Neuron*. Nov 1997;19(5):995-1005. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80392-x

156. Dzionek A, Fuchs A, Schmidt P, et al. BDCA-2, BDCA-3, and BDCA-4: three markers for distinct subsets of dendritic cells in human peripheral blood. *J Immunol*. Dec 1 2000;165(11):6037-46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6037

157. Miyauchi JT, Caponegro MD, Chen D, Choi MK, Li M, Tsirka SE. Deletion of Neuropilin 1 from Microglia or Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages Slows Glioma Progression. *Cancer Res.* Feb 1 2018;78(3):685-694. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-17-1435

158. Wilson AM, Shao Z, Grenier V, et al. Neuropilin-1 expression in adipose tissue macrophages protects against obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Sci Immunol.* Mar 16 2018;3(21)doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.aan4626

159. Casazza A, Laoui D, Wenes M, et al. Impeding macrophage entry into hypoxic tumor areas by Sema3A/Nrp1 signaling blockade inhibits angiogenesis and restores antitumor immunity. *Cancer Cell*. Dec 9 2013;24(6):695-709.

doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2013.11.007

160. Milpied P, Massot B, Renand A, et al. IL-17-producing invariant NKT cells in lymphoid organs are recent thymic emigrants identified by neuropilin-1 expression. *Blood.* Sep 15 2011;118(11):2993-3002. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-329268

161. Bruder D, Probst-Kepper M, Westendorf AM, et al. Neuropilin-1: a surface marker of regulatory T cells. *Eur J Immunol*. Mar 2004;34(3):623-630. doi:10.1002/eji.200324799

162. Schwartz M, Kipnis J. Autoimmunity on alert: naturally occurring regulatory CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells as part of the evolutionary compromise between a 'need' and a 'risk'. *Trends Immunol*. Nov 2002;23(11):530-4. doi:10.1016/s1471-4906(02)02322-0 163. Delgoffe GM, Woo SR, Turnis ME, et al. Stability and function of regulatory T cells is maintained by a neuropilin-1-semaphorin-4a axis. *Nature*. Sep 12 2013;501(7466):252-6. doi:10.1038/nature12428

164. Hansen W, Hutzler M, Abel S, et al. Neuropilin 1 deficiency on CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells impairs mouse melanoma growth. *J Exp Med*. Oct 22 2012;209(11):2001-16. doi:10.1084/jem.20111497

165. Gao YL, Chai YF, Qi AL, et al. Neuropilin-1highCD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Regulatory T Cells Exhibit Primary Negative Immunoregulation in Sepsis. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2016;2016:7132158. doi:10.1155/2016/7132158

166. Gotot J, Dhana E, Yagita H, Kaiser R, Ludwig-Portugall I, Kurts C. Antigenspecific Helios(-), Neuropilin-1(-) Tregs induce apoptosis of autoreactive B cells via PD-L1. *Immunol Cell Biol*. Sep 2018;96(8):852-862. doi:10.1111/imcb.12053

167. Yang ZG, Wen RT, Qi K, et al. The Neuropilin-1 Ligand, Sema3A, Acts as a Tumor Suppressor in the Pathogenesis of Acute Leukemia. *Anat Rec (Hoboken)*. Jul 2019;302(7):1127-1135. doi:10.1002/ar.24016

168. He Z, Tessier-Lavigne M. Neuropilin is a receptor for the axonal chemorepellent Semaphorin III. *Cell*. Aug 22 1997;90(4):739-51. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80534-6 169. Kolodkin AL, Levengood DV, Rowe EG, Tai YT, Giger RJ, Ginty DD. Neuropilin is a semaphorin III receptor. *Cell*. Aug 22 1997;90(4):753-62. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80535-8

170. Chuckran CA, Liu C, Bruno TC, Workman CJ, Vignali DA. Neuropilin-1: a checkpoint target with unique implications for cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *J Immunother Cancer*. Jul 2020;8(2)doi:10.1136/jitc-2020-000967

171. Valdembri D, Caswell PT, Anderson KI, et al. Neuropilin-1/GIPC1 signaling regulates alpha5beta1 integrin traffic and function in endothelial cells. *PLoS Biol*. Jan 27 2009;7(1):e25. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000025

172. Prahst C, Héroult M, Lanahan AA, et al. Neuropilin-1-VEGFR-2 complexing requires the PDZ-binding domain of neuropilin-1. *J Biol Chem*. Sep 12 2008;283(37):25110-25114. doi:10.1074/jbc.C800137200

173. Chen H, He Z, Bagri A, Tessier-Lavigne M. Semaphorin-neuropilin interactions underlying sympathetic axon responses to class III semaphorins. *Neuron*. Dec 1998;21(6):1283-90. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80648-0

174. Tordjman R, Lepelletier Y, Lemarchandel V, et al. A neuronal receptor, neuropilin-1, is essential for the initiation of the primary immune response. *Nat Immunol.* May 2002;3(5):477-82. doi:10.1038/ni789

175. Holmes DI, Zachary I. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease. *Genome Biol*. 2005;6(2):209. doi:10.1186/gb-2005-6-2-209

176. Soker S, Fidder H, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M. Characterization of novel vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptors on tumor cells that bind VEGF165 via its exon 7-encoded domain. *J Biol Chem*. Mar 8 1996;271(10):5761-7. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.10.5761

177. Gitay-Goren H, Soker S, Vlodavsky I, Neufeld G. The binding of vascular endothelial growth factor to its receptors is dependent on cell surface-associated heparin-like molecules. *J Biol Chem*. Mar 25 1992;267(9):6093-8.

178. Vander Kooi CW, Jusino MA, Perman B, Neau DB, Bellamy HD, Leahy DJ. Structural basis for ligand and heparin binding to neuropilin B domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Apr 10 2007;104(15):6152-7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0700043104

179. Krilleke D, DeErkenez A, Schubert W, et al. Molecular mapping and functional characterization of the VEGF164 heparin-binding domain. *J Biol Chem.* Sep 21 2007;282(38):28045-56. doi:10.1074/jbc.M700319200

180. Mamluk R, Gechtman Z, Kutcher ME, Gasiunas N, Gallagher J, Klagsbrun M. Neuropilin-1 binds vascular endothelial growth factor 165, placenta growth factor-2, and heparin via its b1b2 domain. *J Biol Chem*. Jul 5 2002;277(27):24818-25. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200730200

181. Cantuti-Castelvetri L, Ojha R, Pedro LD, et al. Neuropilin-1 facilitates SARS-CoV-2 cell entry and infectivity. *Science*. Nov 13 2020;370(6518):856-860. doi:10.1126/science.abd2985

182. Daly JL, Simonetti B, Klein K, et al. Neuropilin-1 is a host factor for SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Science*. Nov 13 2020;370(6518):861-865. doi:10.1126/science.abd3072
183. Wrapp D, Wang N, Corbett KS, et al. Cryo-EM structure of the 2019-nCoV spike in the prefusion conformation. *Science*. Mar 13 2020;367(6483):1260-1263. doi:10.1126/science.abb2507

184. Walls AC, Park YJ, Tortorici MA, Wall A, McGuire AT, Veesler D. Structure, Function, and Antigenicity of the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Glycoprotein. *Cell*. Apr 16 2020;181(2):281-292.e6. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.058

185. Hoffman T, Kolstad L, Rönnberg B, Lundkvist Å. Evaluation of Production Lots of a Rapid Point-of-Care Lateral Flow Serological Test Intended for Identification of IgM and IgG against the N-Terminal Part of the Spike Protein (S1) of SARS-CoV-2. *Viruses*. May 31 2021;13(6)doi:10.3390/v13061043 186. Teesalu T, Sugahara KN, Kotamraju VR, Ruoslahti E. C-end rule peptides mediate neuropilin-1-dependent cell, vascular, and tissue penetration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Sep 22 2009;106(38):16157-62. doi:10.1073/pnas.0908201106

187. Pang HB, Braun GB, Friman T, et al. An endocytosis pathway initiated through neuropilin-1 and regulated by nutrient availability. *Nat Commun*. Oct 3 2014;5:4904. doi:10.1038/ncomms5904

188. Kusunoki H, Tanaka T, Kohno T, et al. A novel neuropilin-1-binding sequence in the human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. *Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteom*. Apr 2018;1866(4):541-548. doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2018.02.003 189. Manel N, Kim FJ, Kinet S, Taylor N, Sitbon M, Battini JL. The ubiquitous glucose transporter GLUT-1 is a receptor for HTLV. *Cell*. Nov 14 2003;115(4):449-59. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(03)00881-x

190. Pragallapati S, Manyam R. Glucose transporter 1 in health and disease. *J Oral Maxillofac Pathol*. Sep-Dec 2019;23(3):443-449. doi:10.4103/jomfp.JOMFP\_22\_18 191. Manel N, Kinet S, Battini JL, Kim FJ, Taylor N, Sitbon M. The HTLV receptor is an early T-cell activation marker whose expression requires de novo protein synthesis. *Blood*. Mar 1 2003;101(5):1913-8. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-09-2681

192. Manel N, Battini JL, Sitbon M. Human T cell leukemia virus envelope binding and virus entry are mediated by distinct domains of the glucose transporter GLUT1. *J Biol Chem.* Aug 12 2005;280(32):29025-9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M504549200

193. Daenke S, Booth S. Molecular mechanisms affecting HTLV type 1-dependent fusion at the cell membrane: implications for inhibiting viral transmission. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*. Nov 1 2000;16(16):1731-6. doi:10.1089/08892220050193227 194. Daenke S, Booth S. HTLV-1-induced cell fusion is limited at two distinct steps in the fusion pathway after receptor binding. *J Cell Sci*. Jan 2000;113 (Pt 1):37-44. doi:10.1242/jcs.113.1.37

195. Maerz AL, Center RJ, Kemp BE, Kobe B, Poumbourios P. Functional implications of the human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein helical hairpin structure. *J Virol*. Jul 2000;74(14):6614-21. doi:10.1128/jvi.74.14.6614-6621.2000

196. Rosenberg AR, Delamarre L, Pique C, Pham D, Dokhélar MC. The ectodomain of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 TM glycoprotein is involved in postfusion events. *J Virol*. Oct 1997;71(10):7180-6. doi:10.1128/jvi.71.10.7180-7186.1997 197. Rosenberg AR, Delamarre L, Preira A, Dokhélar MC. Analysis of functional conservation in the surface and transmembrane glycoprotein subunits of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2. *J Virol*. Sep 1998;72(9):7609-14. doi:10.1128/jvi.72.9.7609-7614.1998

198. Martin JL, Maldonado JO, Mueller JD, Zhang W, Mansky LM. Molecular Studies of HTLV-1 Replication: An Update. *Viruses*. Jan 27 2016;8(2)doi:10.3390/v8020031 199. Cook LB, Melamed A, Niederer H, et al. The role of HTLV-1 clonality, proviral structure, and genomic integration site in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Blood*. Jun 19 2014;123(25):3925-31. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-02-553602

200. Kirk PD, Huvet M, Melamed A, Maertens GN, Bangham CR. Retroviruses integrate into a shared, non-palindromic DNA motif. *Nat Microbiol*. Nov 14 2016;2:16212. doi:10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.212

201. Gillet NA, Malani N, Melamed A, et al. The host genomic environment of the provirus determines the abundance of HTLV-1-infected T-cell clones. *Blood*. Mar 17 2011;117(11):3113-22. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-10-312926

202. Melamed A, Laydon DJ, Gillet NA, Tanaka Y, Taylor GP, Bangham CR. Genome-wide determinants of proviral targeting, clonal abundance and expression in natural HTLV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog*. Mar 2013;9(3):e1003271.

doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003271

203. Melamed A, Fitzgerald TW, Wang Y, Ma J, Birney E, Bangham CRM. Selective clonal persistence of human retroviruses in vivo: Radial chromatin organization, integration site, and host transcription. *Sci Adv.* Apr 29 2022;8(17):eabm6210. doi:10.1126/sciadv.abm6210

204. Barnhart MK, Connor LM, Marriott SJ. Function of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 21-base-pair repeats in basal transcription. *J Virol*. Jan 1997;71(1):337-44. doi:10.1128/jvi.71.1.337-344.1997

205. Yoshida M, Satou Y, Yasunaga J, Fujisawa J, Matsuoka M. Transcriptional control of spliced and unspliced human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 bZIP factor (HBZ) gene. *J Virol*. Oct 2008;82(19):9359-68. doi:10.1128/jvi.00242-08

206. Gazon H, Lemasson I, Polakowski N, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) bZIP factor requires cellular transcription factor JunD to upregulate HTLV-1 antisense transcription from the 3' long terminal repeat. *J Virol*. Sep 2012;86(17):9070-8. doi:10.1128/jvi.00661-12

207. Arpin-André C, Laverdure S, Barbeau B, Gross A, Mesnard JM. Construction of a reporter vector for analysis of bidirectional transcriptional activity of retrovirus LTR. *Plasmid.* Jul 2014;74:45-51. doi:10.1016/j.plasmid.2014.06.001

208. Seiki M, Hattori S, Hirayama Y, Yoshida M. Human adult T-cell leukemia virus: complete nucleotide sequence of the provirus genome integrated in leukemia cell DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jun 1983;80(12):3618-22. doi:10.1073/pnas.80.12.3618 209. Yao J, Wigdahl B. Human T cell lymphotropic virus type I genomic expression and impact on intracellular signaling pathways during neurodegenerative disease and leukemia. *Front Biosci.* Jan 1 2000;5:D138-68. doi:10.2741/yao

210. Jiang S, Inada T, Tanaka M, Furuta RA, Shingu K, Fujisawa J. Involvement of TORC2, a CREB co-activator, in the in vivo-specific transcriptional control of HTLV-1. *Retrovirology*. Aug 11 2009;6:73. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-6-73

211. Montminy MR, Bilezikjian LM. Binding of a nuclear protein to the cyclic-AMP response element of the somatostatin gene. *Nature*. Jul 9-15 1987;328(6126):175-8. doi:10.1038/328175a0

212. Montminy MR, Sevarino KA, Wagner JA, Mandel G, Goodman RH. Identification of a cyclic-AMP-responsive element within the rat somatostatin gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Sep 1986;83(18):6682-6. doi:10.1073/pnas.83.18.6682

213. Montagne J, Béraud C, Crenon I, et al. Tax1 induction of the HTLV-I 21 bp enhancer requires cooperation between two cellular DNA-binding proteins. *Embo j.* Mar 1990;9(3):957-64. doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1990.tb08194.x

214. Currer R, Van Duyne R, Jaworski E, et al. HTLV tax: a fascinating multifunctional co-regulator of viral and cellular pathways. *Front Microbiol*. 2012;3:406. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2012.00406

215. Seiki M, Inoue J, Hidaka M, Yoshida M. Two cis-acting elements responsible for posttranscriptional trans-regulation of gene expression of human T-cell leukemia virus type I. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Oct 1988;85(19):7124-8. doi:10.1073/pnas.85.19.7124 216. Koralnik IJ, Fullen J, Franchini G. The p12I, p13II, and p30II proteins encoded by human T-cell leukemia/lymphotropic virus type I open reading frames I and II are localized in three different cellular compartments. *J Virol*. Apr 1993;67(4):2360-6. doi:10.1128/jvi.67.4.2360-2366.1993

217. Baydoun HH, Bellon M, Nicot C. HTLV-1 Yin and Yang: Rex and p30 master regulators of viral mRNA trafficking. *AIDS Rev*. Oct-Dec 2008;10(4):195-204.

218. Pique C, Ureta-Vidal A, Gessain A, et al. Evidence for the chronic in vivo production of human T cell leukemia virus type I Rof and Tof proteins from cytotoxic T lymphocytes directed against viral peptides. *J Exp Med*. Feb 7 2000;191(3):567-72. doi:10.1084/jem.191.3.567

219. Edwards D, Fenizia C, Gold H, et al. Orf-I and orf-II-encoded proteins in HTLV-1 infection and persistence. *Viruses*. Jun 2011;3(6):861-85. doi:10.3390/v3060861 220. Bai XT, Nicot C. Overview on HTLV-1 p12, p8, p30, p13: accomplices in persistent infection and viral pathogenesis. *Front Microbiol*. 2012;3:400. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2012.00400

221. Pise-Masison CA, de Castro-Amarante MF, Enose-Akahata Y, et al. Codependence of HTLV-1 p12 and p8 functions in virus persistence. *PLoS Pathog*. Nov 2014;10(11):e1004454. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004454

222. Silic-Benussi M, Biasiotto R, Andresen V, Franchini G, D'Agostino DM, Ciminale V. HTLV-1 p13, a small protein with a busy agenda. *Mol Aspects Med*. Oct 2010;31(5):350-8. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2010.03.001

223. Valeri VW, Hryniewicz A, Andresen V, et al. Requirement of the human T-cell leukemia virus p12 and p30 products for infectivity of human dendritic cells and macaques but not rabbits. *Blood*. Nov 11 2010;116(19):3809-17. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-05-284141

224. Bangham CRM, Matsuoka M. Human T-cell leukaemia virus type 1: parasitism and pathogenesis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*. Oct 19 2017;372(1732)doi:10.1098/rstb.2016.0272

225. Kashanchi F, Brady JN. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional gene regulation of HTLV-1. *Oncogene*. Sep 5 2005;24(39):5938-51. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208973

226. Gaudray G, Gachon F, Basbous J, Biard-Piechaczyk M, Devaux C, Mesnard JM. The complementary strand of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 RNA genome encodes a bZIP transcription factor that down-regulates viral transcription. *J Virol*. Dec 2002;76(24):12813-22. doi:10.1128/jvi.76.24.12813-12822.2002

227. Larocca D, Chao LA, Seto MH, Brunck TK. Human T-cell leukemia virus minus strand transcription in infected T-cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. Sep 15 1989;163(2):1006-13.

228. Murata K, Hayashibara T, Sugahara K, et al. A novel alternative splicing isoform of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 bZIP factor (HBZ-SI) targets distinct subnuclear localization. *J Virol*. Mar 2006;80(5):2495-505. doi:10.1128/jvi.80.5.2495-2505.2006 229. Felber BK, Paskalis H, Kleinman-Ewing C, Wong-Staal F, Pavlakis GN. The pX protein of HTLV-I is a transcriptional activator of its long terminal repeats. *Science*. Aug 16 1985;229(4714):675-9. doi:10.1126/science.2992082

230. Rosen CA, Sodroski JG, Haseltine WA. Location of cis-acting regulatory sequences in the human T-cell leukemia virus type I long terminal repeat. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Oct 1985;82(19):6502-6. doi:10.1073/pnas.82.19.6502

231. Brady J, Jeang KT, Duvall J, Khoury G. Identification of p40x-responsive regulatory sequences within the human T-cell leukemia virus type I long terminal repeat. *J Virol*. Jul 1987;61(7):2175-81. doi:10.1128/jvi.61.7.2175-2181.1987

232. Yoshida M. Multiple viral strategies of HTLV-1 for dysregulation of cell growth control. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2001;19:475-96. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.475 233. Franklin AA, Kubik MF, Uittenbogaard MN, et al. Transactivation by the human T-cell leukemia virus Tax protein is mediated through enhanced binding of activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2) ATF-2 response and cAMP element-binding protein (CREB). *J Biol Chem*. Oct 5 1993;268(28):21225-31.

234. Bodor J, Walker W, Flemington E, Spetz AL, Habener JF. Modulation of Tax and PKA-mediated expression of HTLV-I promoter via cAMP response element binding and modulator proteins CREB and CREM. *FEBS Lett*. Dec 27 1995;377(3):413-8. doi:10.1016/0014-5793(95)01299-0

235. Kim YM, Ramírez JÁ, Mick JE, Giebler HA, Yan JP, Nyborg JK. Molecular characterization of the Tax-containing HTLV-1 enhancer complex reveals a prominent role for CREB phosphorylation in Tax transactivation. *J Biol Chem*. Jun 29 2007;282(26):18750-7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M700391200

236. Lenzmeier BA, Giebler HA, Nyborg JK. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax requires direct access to DNA for recruitment of CREB binding protein to the viral promoter. *Mol Cell Biol*. Feb 1998;18(2):721-31. doi:10.1128/mcb.18.2.721 237. Lenzmeier BA, Baird EE, Dervan PB, Nyborg JK. The tax protein-DNA interaction is essential for HTLV-I transactivation in vitro. *J Mol Biol*. Aug 27 1999;291(4):731-44. doi:10.1006/jmbi.1999.2969

238. Wagner S, Green MR. HTLV-I Tax protein stimulation of DNA binding of bZIP proteins by enhancing dimerization. *Science*. Oct 15 1993;262(5132):395-9. doi:10.1126/science.8211160

239. Anderson MG, Dynan WS. Quantitative studies of the effect of HTLV-I Tax protein on CREB protein--DNA binding. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Aug 11 1994;22(15):3194-201. doi:10.1093/nar/22.15.3194

240. Tie F, Adya N, Greene WC, Giam CZ. Interaction of the human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax dimer with CREB and the viral 21-base-pair repeat. *J Virol*. Dec 1996;70(12):8368-74. doi:10.1128/jvi.70.12.8368-8374.1996

241. Kwok RP, Laurance ME, Lundblad JR, et al. Control of cAMP-regulated enhancers by the viral transactivator Tax through CREB and the co-activator CBP. *Nature*. Apr 18 1996;380(6575):642-6. doi:10.1038/380642a0

242. Laurance ME, Kwok RP, Huang MS, Richards JP, Lundblad JR, Goodman RH. Differential activation of viral and cellular promoters by human T-cell lymphotropic virus-1 tax and cAMP-responsive element modulator isoforms. *J Biol Chem*. Jan 31 1997;272(5):2646-51. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.5.2646

243. Harrod R, Kuo YL, Tang Y, et al. p300 and p300/cAMP-responsive elementbinding protein associated factor interact with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type-1 Tax in a multi-histone acetyltransferase/activator-enhancer complex. *J Biol Chem*. Apr 21 2000;275(16):11852-7. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.16.11852 244. Lu H, Pise-Masison CA, Fletcher TM, et al. Acetylation of nucleosomal histones by p300 facilitates transcription from tax-responsive human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 chromatin template. *Mol Cell Biol*. Jul 2002;22(13):4450-62.

doi:10.1128/mcb.22.13.4450-4462.2002

245. Goodman RH, Smolik S. CBP/p300 in cell growth, transformation, and development. *Genes Dev.* Jul 1 2000;14(13):1553-77.

246. Chan HM, La Thangue NB. p300/CBP proteins: HATs for transcriptional bridges and scaffolds. *J Cell Sci.* Jul 2001;114(Pt 13):2363-73. doi:10.1242/jcs.114.13.2363
247. Giebler HA, Loring JE, van Orden K, et al. Anchoring of CREB binding protein to the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 promoter: a molecular mechanism of Tax transactivation. *Mol Cell Biol*. Sep 1997;17(9):5156-64. doi:10.1128/mcb.17.9.5156
248. Harrod R, Tang Y, Nicot C, et al. An exposed KID-like domain in human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 Tax is responsible for the recruitment of coactivators CBP/p300. *Mol Cell Biol*. Sep 1998;18(9):5052-61. doi:10.1128/mcb.18.9.5052
249. Lemasson I, Nyborg JK. Human T-cell leukemia virus type I tax repression of p73beta is mediated through competition for the C/H1 domain of CBP. *J Biol Chem*.

May 11 2001;276(19):15720-7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100131200

250. Scoggin KÈ, Úlloa A, Nyborg JK. The oncoprotein Tax binds the SRC-1interacting domain of CBP/p300 to mediate transcriptional activation. *Mol Cell Biol*. Aug 2001;21(16):5520-30. doi:10.1128/mcb.21.16.5520-5530.2001

251. Yan JP, Garrus JE, Giebler HA, Stargell LA, Nyborg JK. Molecular interactions between the coactivator CBP and the human T-cell leukemia virus Tax protein. *J Mol Biol*. Aug 21 1998;281(3):395-400. doi:10.1006/jmbi.1998.1951

252. Zeng L, Zhang Q, Gerona-Navarro G, Moshkina N, Zhou MM. Structural basis of site-specific histone recognition by the bromodomains of human coactivators PCAF and CBP/p300. *Structure*. Apr 2008;16(4):643-52. doi:10.1016/j.str.2008.01.010

253. Kashanchi F, Duvall JF, Kwok RP, Lundblad JR, Goodman RH, Brady JN. The coactivator CBP stimulates human T-cell lymphotrophic virus type I Tax transactivation in vitro. *J Biol Chem*. Dec 18 1998;273(51):34646-52. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.51.34646 254. Sharma N, Nyborg JK. The coactivators CBP/p300 and the histone chaperone NAP1 promote transcription-independent nucleosome eviction at the HTLV-1 promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jun 10 2008;105(23):7959-63.

doi:10.1073/pnas.0800534105

255. Nyborg JK, Egan D, Sharma N. The HTLV-1 Tax protein: revealing mechanisms of transcriptional activation through histone acetylation and nucleosome disassembly. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. Mar-Apr 2010;1799(3-4):266-74.

doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2009.09.002

256. Qu Z, Xiao G. Human T-cell lymphotropic virus: a model of NF-κB-associated tumorigenesis. *Viruses*. Jun 2011;3(6):714-49. doi:10.3390/v3060714

257. Zhang J, Yamada O, Kawagishi K, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax modulates interferon-alpha signal transduction through competitive usage of the coactivator CBP/p300. *Virology*. Sep 30 2008;379(2):306-13.

doi:10.1016/j.virol.2008.06.035

258. Zhang LL, Wei JY, Wang L, Huang SL, Chen JL. Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 and its oncogenesis. *Acta Pharmacol Sin*. Aug 2017;38(8):1093-1103. doi:10.1038/aps.2017.17

259. Kuo YL, Giam CZ. Activation of the anaphase promoting complex by HTLV-1 tax leads to senescence. *Embo j.* Apr 19 2006;25(8):1741-52.

doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601054

260. Zhi H, Yang L, Kuo YL, Ho YK, Shih HM, Giam CZ. NF-κB hyper-activation by HTLV-1 tax induces cellular senescence, but can be alleviated by the viral anti-sense protein HBZ. *PLoS Pathog.* Apr 2011;7(4):e1002025. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002025 261. Takahashi M, Higuchi M, Makokha GN, et al. HTLV-1 Tax oncoprotein stimulates ROS production and apoptosis in T cells by interacting with USP10. *Blood.* Aug 1 2013;122(5):715-25. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-03-493718

262. Kinjo T, Ham-Terhune J, Peloponese JM, Jr., Jeang KT. Induction of reactive oxygen species by human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 tax correlates with DNA damage and expression of cellular senescence marker. *J Virol*. May 2010;84(10):5431-7. doi:10.1128/jvi.02460-09

263. Nicot C, Tie F, Giam CZ. Cytoplasmic forms of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax induce NF-kappaB activation. *J Virol*. Aug 1998;72(8):6777-84. doi:10.1128/jvi.72.8.6777-6784.1998

264. Chun AC, Zhou Y, Wong CM, Kung HF, Jeang KT, Jin DY. Coiled-coil motif as a structural basis for the interaction of HTLV type 1 Tax with cellular cofactors. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*. Nov 1 2000;16(16):1689-94. doi:10.1089/08892220050193155 265. Gachon F, Thebault S, Peleraux A, Devaux C, Mesnard JM. Molecular interactions involved in the transactivation of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1

promoter mediated by Tax and CREB-2 (ATF-4). *Mol Cell Biol*. May 2000;20(10):3470-81. doi:10.1128/mcb.20.10.3470-3481.2000

266. Xiao G, Sun SC. Activation of IKKalpha and IKKbeta through their fusion with HTLV-I tax protein. *Oncogene*. Oct 26 2000;19(45):5198-203.

doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203894

267. Li J, Li H, Tsai MD. Direct binding of the N-terminus of HTLV-1 tax oncoprotein to cyclin-dependent kinase 4 is a dominant path to stimulate the kinase activity. *Biochemistry*. Jun 10 2003;42(22):6921-8. doi:10.1021/bi034369n

268. Hirata A, Higuchi M, Niinuma A, et al. PDZ domain-binding motif of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax oncoprotein augments the transforming activity in a rat fibroblast cell line. *Virology*. Jan 5 2004;318(1):327-36. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2003.10.006 269. Wu K, Bottazzi ME, de la Fuente C, et al. Protein profile of tax-associated complexes. *J Biol Chem*. Jan 2 2004;279(1):495-508. doi:10.1074/jbc.M310069200 270. Kfoury Y, Nasr R, Journo C, Mahieux R, Pique C, Bazarbachi A. The multifaceted oncoprotein Tax: subcellular localization, posttranslational modifications, and NF-κB activation. *Adv Cancer Res*. 2012;113:85-120. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-394280-7.00003-8

271. Ng PW, Iha H, Iwanaga Y, et al. Genome-wide expression changes induced by HTLV-1 Tax: evidence for MLK-3 mixed lineage kinase involvement in Tax-mediated NF-kappaB activation. *Oncogene*. Jul 27 2001;20(33):4484-96. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1204513

272. Mazurov D, Ilinskaya A, Heidecker G, Lloyd P, Derse D. Quantitative comparison of HTLV-1 and HIV-1 cell-to-cell infection with new replication dependent vectors. *PLoS Pathog.* Feb 26 2010;6(2):e1000788. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000788

273. Koenig S, Woods RM, Brewah YA, et al. Characterization of MHC class I restricted cytotoxic T cell responses to tax in HTLV-1 infected patients with neurologic disease. *J Immunol.* Oct 1 1993;151(7):3874-83.

274. Hanon E, Hall S, Taylor GP, et al. Abundant tax protein expression in CD4+ T cells infected with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I (HTLV-I) is prevented by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Blood*. Feb 15 2000;95(4):1386-92.

275. Kannagi M, Harada S, Maruyama I, et al. Predominant recognition of human T cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-I) pX gene products by human CD8+ cytotoxic T cells directed against HTLV-I-infected cells. *Int Immunol*. Aug 1991;3(8):761-7. doi:10.1093/intimm/3.8.761

276. Mahgoub M, Yasunaga JI, Iwami S, et al. Sporadic on/off switching of HTLV-1 Tax expression is crucial to maintain the whole population of virus-induced leukemic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Feb 6 2018;115(6):E1269-e1278.

doi:10.1073/pnas.1715724115

277. Kiik H, Ramanayake S, Miura M, Tanaka Y, Melamed A, Bangham CRM. Timecourse of host cell transcription during the HTLV-1 transcriptional burst. *PLoS Pathog.* May 2022;18(5):e1010387. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1010387

278. Tamiya S, Matsuoka M, Etoh K, et al. Two types of defective human Tlymphotropic virus type I provirus in adult T-cell leukemia. *Blood*. Oct 15 1996;88(8):3065-73.

279. Miyazaki M, Yasunaga J, Taniguchi Y, Tamiya S, Nakahata T, Matsuoka M. Preferential selection of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 provirus lacking the 5' long terminal repeat during oncogenesis. *J Virol*. Jun 2007;81(11):5714-23. doi:10.1128/jvi.02511-06

280. Koiwa T, Hamano-Usami A, Ishida T, et al. 5'-long terminal repeat-selective CpG methylation of latent human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 provirus in vitro and in vivo. *J Virol*. Sep 2002;76(18):9389-97. doi:10.1128/jvi.76.18.9389-9397.2002

281. Taniguchi Y, Nosaka K, Yasunaga J, et al. Silencing of human T-cell leukemia virus type I gene transcription by epigenetic mechanisms. *Retrovirology*. Oct 22 2005;2:64. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-2-64

282. Furukawa Y, Kubota R, Tara M, Izumo S, Osame M. Existence of escape mutant in HTLV-I tax during the development of adult T-cell leukemia. *Blood*. Feb 15 2001;97(4):987-93. doi:10.1182/blood.v97.4.987

283. Fan J, Ma G, Nosaka K, et al. APOBEC3G generates nonsense mutations in human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 proviral genomes in vivo. *J Virol*. Jul 2010;84(14):7278-87. doi:10.1128/jvi.02239-09

284. Takeda S, Maeda M, Morikawa S, et al. Genetic and epigenetic inactivation of tax gene in adult T-cell leukemia cells. *Int J Cancer*. Apr 20 2004;109(4):559-67. doi:10.1002/ijc.20007

285. Bangham CRM. Human T Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1: Persistence and Pathogenesis. *Annu Rev Immunol*. Apr 26 2018;36:43-71. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053222

286. Li M, Kesic M, Yin H, Yu L, Green PL. Kinetic analysis of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 gene expression in cell culture and infected animals. *J Virol*. Apr 2009;83(8):3788-97. doi:10.1128/jvi.02315-08

287. Muñoz E, Suri D, Amini S, Khalili K, Jiménez SA. Stimulation of alpha 1 (I) procollagen gene expression in NIH-3T3 cells by the human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) Tax gene. *J Clin Invest*. Nov 1995;96(5):2413-20. doi:10.1172/jci118298 288. Kress AK, Kalmer M, Rowan AG, Grassmann R, Fleckenstein B. The tumor marker Fascin is strongly induced by the Tax oncoprotein of HTLV-1 through NF-kappaB signals. *Blood*. Mar 31 2011;117(13):3609-12. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-305805

289. Gross C, Wiesmann V, Millen S, et al. The Tax-Inducible Actin-Bundling Protein Fascin Is Crucial for Release and Cell-to-Cell Transmission of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 (HTLV-1). *PLoS Pathog*. Oct 2016;12(10):e1005916.

doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005916

290. Hsu DK, Hammes SR, Kuwabara I, Greene WC, Liu FT. Human T lymphotropic virus-I infection of human T lymphocytes induces expression of the beta-galactosidebinding lectin, galectin-3. *Am J Pathol*. May 1996;148(5):1661-70.

291. Chevalier SA, Turpin J, Cachat A, et al. Gem-induced cytoskeleton remodeling increases cellular migration of HTLV-1-infected cells, formation of infected-to-target T-cell conjugates and viral transmission. *PLoS Pathog*. Feb 2014;10(2):e1003917. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003917

292. Nejmeddine M, Negi VS, Mukherjee S, et al. HTLV-1-Tax and ICAM-1 act on Tcell signal pathways to polarize the microtubule-organizing center at the virological synapse. *Blood*. Jul 30 2009;114(5):1016-25. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-136770 293. Daenke S, McCracken SA, Booth S. Human T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma virus type 1 syncytium formation is regulated in a cell-specific manner by ICAM-1, ICAM-3 and VCAM-1 and can be inhibited by antibodies to integrin beta2 or beta7. *J Gen Virol*.

Jun 1999;80 ( Pt 6):1429-1436. doi:10.1099/0022-1317-80-6-1429

294. Hiyoshi M, Takahashi N, Eltalkhawy YM, et al. M-Sec induced by HTLV-1 mediates an efficient viral transmission. *PLoS Pathog.* Nov 2021;17(11):e1010126. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1010126

295. Hildreth JE, Subramanium A, Hampton RA. Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-induced syncytium formation mediated by vascular cell adhesion molecule-1: evidence for involvement of cell adhesion molecules in HTLV-1 biology. *J Virol*. Feb 1997;71(2):1173-80. doi:10.1128/jvi.71.2.1173-1180.1997

296. Valentin H, Lemasson I, Hamaia S, et al. Transcriptional activation of the vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 gene in T lymphocytes expressing human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 Tax protein. *J Virol*. Nov 1997;71(11):8522-30. doi:10.1128/jvi.71.11.8522-8530.1997

297. Satou Y, Yasunaga J, Yoshida M, Matsuoka M. HTLV-I basic leucine zipper factor gene mRNA supports proliferation of adult T cell leukemia cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jan 17 2006;103(3):720-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507631103

298. Boam DS, Davidson I, Chambon P. A TATA-less promoter containing binding sites for ubiquitous transcription factors mediates cell type-specific regulation of the gene for transcription enhancer factor-1 (TEF-1). *J Biol Chem*. Aug 18 1995;270(33):19487-94. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.33.19487

299. Liu S, Cowell JK. Cloning and characterization of the TATA-less promoter from the human GFI1 proto-oncogene. *Ann Hum Genet*. Jan 2000;64(Pt 1):83-6. doi:10.1017/s0003480000007971

300. Cavanagh MH, Landry S, Audet B, et al. HTLV-I antisense transcripts initiating in the 3'LTR are alternatively spliced and polyadenylated. *Retrovirology*. Mar 2 2006;3:15. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-3-15

301. Barbeau B, Peloponese JM, Mesnard JM. Functional comparison of antisense proteins of HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 in viral pathogenesis. *Front Microbiol*. 2013;4:226. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2013.00226

302. Basbous J, Arpin C, Gaudray G, Piechaczyk M, Devaux C, Mesnard JM. The HBZ factor of human T-cell leukemia virus type I dimerizes with transcription factors JunB and c-Jun and modulates their transcriptional activity. *J Biol Chem*. Oct 31 2003;278(44):43620-7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M307275200

303. Hivin P, Frédéric M, Arpin-André C, et al. Nuclear localization of HTLV-I bZIP factor (HBZ) is mediated by three distinct motifs. *J Cell Sci*. Apr 1 2005;118(Pt 7):1355-62. doi:10.1242/jcs.01727

304. Forlani G, Shallak M, Accolla RS, Romanelli MG. HTLV-1 Infection and Pathogenesis: New Insights from Cellular and Animal Models. *Int J Mol Sci.* Jul 27 2021;22(15)doi:10.3390/ijms22158001

305. Raval GU, Bidoia Č, Forlani G, Tosi G, Gessain A, Accolla RS. Localization, quantification and interaction with host factors of endogenous HTLV-1 HBZ protein in infected cells and ATL. *Retrovirology*. Jul 4 2015;12:59. doi:10.1186/s12977-015-0186-0

306. Lemasson I, Lewis MR, Polakowski N, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) bZIP protein interacts with the cellular transcription factor CREB to inhibit HTLV-1 transcription. *J Virol*. Feb 2007;81(4):1543-53. doi:10.1128/jvi.00480-06

307. Clerc I, Polakowski N, André-Arpin C, et al. An interaction between the human T cell leukemia virus type 1 basic leucine zipper factor (HBZ) and the KIX domain of p300/CBP contributes to the down-regulation of tax-dependent viral transcription by HBZ. *J Biol Chem.* Aug 29 2008;283(35):23903-13. doi:10.1074/jbc.M803116200 308. Cook PR, Polakowski N, Lemasson I. HTLV-1 HBZ protein deregulates interactions between cellular factors and the KIX domain of p300/CBP. *J Mol Biol.* Jun

10 2011;409(3):384-98. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2011.04.003

309. Gazon H, Chauhan PS, Porquet F, Hoffmann GB, Accolla R, Willems L. Epigenetic silencing of HTLV-1 expression by the HBZ RNA through interference with the basal transcription machinery. *Blood Adv.* Nov 10 2020;4(21):5574-5579. doi:10.1182/bloodadvances.2020001675

310. Wright DG, Marchal C, Hoang K, et al. Human T-cell leukemia virus type-1encoded protein HBZ represses p53 function by inhibiting the acetyltransferase activity of p300/CBP and HBO1. *Oncotarget*. Jan 12 2016;7(2):1687-706. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.6424

311. Reinke AW, Grigoryan G, Keating AE. Identification of bZIP interaction partners of viral proteins HBZ, MEQ, BZLF1, and K-bZIP using coiled-coil arrays. *Biochemistry*. Mar 9 2010;49(9):1985-97. doi:10.1021/bi902065k

312. Matsumoto J, Ohshima T, Isono O, Shimotohno K. HTLV-1 HBZ suppresses AP-1 activity by impairing both the DNA-binding ability and the stability of c-Jun protein. *Oncogene*. Feb 3 2005;24(6):1001-10. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208297 313. Polakowski N, Pearce M, Kuguyo O, Boateng G, Hoang K, Lemasson I. The splice 1 variant of HTLV-1 bZIP factor stabilizes c-Jun. *Virology*. Oct 2020;549:51-58. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2020.07.013

314. Kuhlmann AS, Villaudy J, Gazzolo L, Castellazzi M, Mesnard JM, Duc Dodon M. HTLV-1 HBZ cooperates with JunD to enhance transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (hTERT). *Retrovirology*. Dec 13 2007;4:92. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-4-92

315. Gazon H, Barbeau B, Mesnard JM, Peloponese JM, Jr. Hijacking of the AP-1 Signaling Pathway during Development of ATL. *Front Microbiol*. 2017;8:2686. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.02686

316. Borowiak M, Kuhlmann AS, Girard S, et al. HTLV-1 bZIP factor impedes the menin tumor suppressor and upregulates JunD-mediated transcription of the hTERT gene. *Carcinogenesis*. Nov 2013;34(11):2664-72. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgt221

317. Rushing AW, Rushing B, Hoang K, et al. HTLV-1 basic leucine zipper factor protects cells from oxidative stress by upregulating expression of Heme Oxygenase I. *PLoS Pathog.* Jun 2019;15(6):e1007922. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007922

318. Ohshima T, Mukai R, Nakahara N, et al. HTLV-1 basic leucine-zipper factor, HBZ, interacts with MafB and suppresses transcription through a Maf recognition element. *J Cell Biochem*. Sep 1 2010;111(1):187-94. doi:10.1002/jcb.22687

319. Hagiya K, Yasunaga J, Satou Y, Ohshima K, Matsuoka M. ATF3, an HTLV-1 bZip factor binding protein, promotes proliferation of adult T-cell leukemia cells. *Retrovirology*. Mar 17 2011;8:19. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-8-19

320. Nakagawa M, Shaffer AL, 3rd, Ceribelli M, et al. Targeting the HTLV-I-Regulated BATF3/IRF4 Transcriptional Network in Adult T Cell Leukemia/Lymphoma. *Cancer Cell*. Aug 13 2018;34(2):286-297.e10. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2018.06.014

321. Shallak M, Alberio T, Fasano M, et al. The endogenous HBZ interactome in ATL leukemic cells reveals an unprecedented complexity of host interacting partners involved in RNA splicing. *Front Immunol*. 2022;13:939863.

doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.939863

322. Vandermeulen C, O'Grady T, Wayet J, et al. The HTLV-1 viral oncoproteins Tax and HBZ reprogram the cellular mRNA splicing landscape. *PLoS Pathog*. Sep 2021;17(9):e1009919. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1009919

323. Sugata K, Yasunaga J, Kinosada H, et al. HTLV-1 Viral Factor HBZ Induces CCR4 to Promote T-cell Migration and Proliferation. *Cancer Res.* Sep 1 2016;76(17):5069.70. doi:10.1159(0009.5472.Con.16.0261

2016;76(17):5068-79. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-16-0361

324. Yasuma K, Yasunaga J, Takemoto K, et al. HTLV-1 bZIP Factor Impairs Antiviral Immunity by Inducing Co-inhibitory Molecule, T Cell Immunoglobulin and ITIM Domain (TIGIT). *PLoS Pathog*. Jan 2016;12(1):e1005372.

doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005372

325. Mitobe Y, Yasunaga J, Furuta R, Matsuoka M. HTLV-1 bZIP Factor RNA and Protein Impart Distinct Functions on T-cell Proliferation and Survival. *Cancer Res.* Oct 1 2015;75(19):4143-52. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-15-0942

326. Rushing AW, Hoang K, Polakowski N, Lemasson I. The Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Basic Leucine Zipper Factor Attenuates Repair of Double-Stranded DNA Breaks via Nonhomologous End Joining. *J Virol*. Aug 1 2018;92(15)doi:10.1128/jvi.00672-18

327. Vernin C, Thenoz M, Pinatel C, et al. HTLV-1 bZIP factor HBZ promotes cell proliferation and genetic instability by activating OncomiRs. *Cancer Res.* Nov 1 2014;74(21):6082-93. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-13-3564

328. Arnold J, Yamamoto B, Li M, et al. Enhancement of infectivity and persistence in vivo by HBZ, a natural antisense coded protein of HTLV-1. *Blood*. May 15 2006;107(10):3976-82. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-11-4551

329. Fazio AL, Kendle W, Hoang K, Korleski E, Lemasson I, Polakowski N. Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 (HTLV-1) bZIP Factor Upregulates the Expression of ICAM-1 To Facilitate HTLV-1 Infection. *J Virol*. Oct 1 2019;93(19)doi:10.1128/jvi.00608-19

330. Polakowski N, Sarker MAK, Hoang K, et al. HBZ upregulates myoferlin expression to facilitate HTLV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog*. Feb 2023;19(2):e1011202. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1011202

331. Yasunaga JI. Viral, genetic, and immune factors in the oncogenesis of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Int J Hematol*. Apr 2023;117(4):504-511. doi:10.1007/s12185-023-03547-5

332. Soker S, Takashima S, Miao HQ, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M. Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell*. Mar 20 1998;92(6):735-45. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81402-6

333. West DC, Rees CG, Duchesne L, et al. Interactions of multiple heparin binding growth factors with neuropilin-1 and potentiation of the activity of fibroblast growth factor-2. *J Biol Chem*. Apr 8 2005;280(14):13457-64. doi:10.1074/jbc.M410924200
334. Matsushita A, Götze T, Korc M. Hepatocyte growth factor-mediated cell invasion in pancreatic cancer cells is dependent on neuropilin-1. *Cancer Res*. Nov 1 2007;67(21):10309-16. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-3256

335. Dhar K, Dhar G, Majumder M, et al. Tumor cell-derived PDGF-B potentiates mouse mesenchymal stem cells-pericytes transition and recruitment through an interaction with NRP-1. *Mol Cancer*. Aug 5 2010;9:209. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-9-209 336. Glinka Y, Prud'homme GJ. Neuropilin-1 is a receptor for transforming growth factor beta-1, activates its latent form, and promotes regulatory T cell activity. *J Leukoc Biol*. Jul 2008;84(1):302-10. doi:10.1189/jlb.0208090

337. Pellet-Many C, Frankel P, Jia H, Zachary I. Neuropilins: structure, function and role in disease. *Biochem J*. Apr 15 2008;411(2):211-26. doi:10.1042/bj20071639 338. Yelland T, Djordjevic S. Crystal Structure of the Neuropilin-1 MAM Domain: Completing the Neuropilin-1 Ectodomain Picture. *Structure*. Nov 1 2016;24(11):2008-2015. doi:10.1016/j.str.2016.08.017

339. Thébault S, Basbous J, Hivin P, Devaux C, Mesnard JM. HBZ interacts with JunD and stimulates its transcriptional activity. *FEBS Lett*. Mar 26 2004;562(1-3):165-70. doi:10.1016/s0014-5793(04)00225-x

340. Zhao T, Coutts A, Xu L, Ýu J, Ohshima K, Matsuoka M. HTLV-1 bZIP factor supports proliferation of adult T cell leukemia cells through suppression of C/EBPα signaling. *Retrovirology*. Dec 21 2013;10:159. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-10-159 341. Ma G, Yasunaga J, Matsuoka M. Multifaceted functions and roles of HBZ in HTLV-1 pathogenesis. *Retrovirology*. Mar 15 2016;13:16. doi:10.1186/s12977-016-0249-x

342. Alasiri A, Abboud Guerr J, Hall WW, Sheehy N. Novel Interactions between the Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1 Antisense Protein HBZ and the SWI/SNF Chromatin Remodeling Family: Implications for Viral Life Cycle. *J Virol*. Aug 15 2019;93(16)doi:10.1128/jvi.00412-19

343. Polakowski N, Gregory H, Mesnard JM, Lemasson I. Expression of a protein involved in bone resorption, Dkk1, is activated by HTLV-1 bZIP factor through its activation domain. *Retrovirology*. Jul 23 2010;7:61. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-7-61 344. Ward Y, Yap SF, Ravichandran V, et al. The GTP binding proteins Gem and Rad are negative regulators of the Rho-Rho kinase pathway. *J Cell Biol*. Apr 15 2002;157(2):291-302. doi:10.1083/jcb.200111026

345. Rosenbloom KR, Sloan CA, Malladi VS, et al. ENCODE data in the UCSC Genome Browser: year 5 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Jan 2013;41(Database issue):D56-63. doi:10.1093/nar/gks1172

346. Moore JE, Purcaro MJ, Pratt HE, et al. Expanded encyclopaedias of DNA elements in the human and mouse genomes. *Nature*. Jul 2020;583(7818):699-710. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2493-4

347. Bhat NK, Adachi Y, Samuel KP, Derse D. HTLV-1 gene expression by defective proviruses in an infected T-cell line. *Virology*. Sep 1993;196(1):15-24. doi:10.1006/viro.1993.1450

348. Wang S, Zhao L, Zhang X, Zhang J, Shang H, Liang G. Neuropilin-1, a myeloid cell-specific protein, is an inhibitor of HIV-1 infectivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Jan 11 2022;119(2)doi:10.1073/pnas.2114884119

349. Gillet NA, Cook L, Laydon DJ, et al. Strongyloidiasis and infective dermatitis alter human T lymphotropic virus-1 clonality in vivo. *PLoS Pathog.* 2013;9(4):e1003263. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003263

350. Cook LB, Melamed A, Demontis MA, et al. Rapid dissemination of human Tlymphotropic virus type 1 during primary infection in transplant recipients. *Retrovirology*. Jan 8 2016;13:3. doi:10.1186/s12977-015-0236-7

351. Heintzman ND, Stuart RK, Hon G, et al. Distinct and predictive chromatin signatures of transcriptional promoters and enhancers in the human genome. *Nat Genet*. Mar 2007;39(3):311-8. doi:10.1038/ng1966

352. Heintzman ND, Ren B. Finding distal regulatory elements in the human genome. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* Dec 2009;19(6):541-9. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2009.09.006

353. Gerdes MJ, Myakishev M, Frost NA, et al. Activator protein-1 activity regulates epithelial tumor cell identity. *Cancer Res.* Aug 1 2006;66(15):7578-88. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-1247

354. Usui T, Yanagihara K, Tsukasaki K, et al. Characteristic expression of HTLV-1 basic zipper factor (HBZ) transcripts in HTLV-1 provirus-positive cells. *Retrovirology*. Apr 22 2008;5:34. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-5-34

355. Cáceres CJ, Angulo J, Lowy F, et al. Non-canonical translation initiation of the spliced mRNA encoding the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 basic leucine zipper protein. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Nov 16 2018;46(20):11030-11047. doi:10.1093/nar/gky802 356. Polakowski N, Terol M, Hoang K, et al. HBZ stimulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor/TrkB autocrine/paracrine signaling to promote survival of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-Infected T cells. *J Virol.* Nov 2014;88(22):13482-94. doi:10.1128/jvi.02285-14

357. Stevenson M, Meier C, Mann AM, Chapman N, Wasiak A. Envelope glycoprotein of HIV induces interference and cytolysis resistance in CD4+ cells: mechanism for persistence in AIDS. *Cell*. May 6 1988;53(3):483-96. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(88)90168-7

358. Weller SK, Joy AE, Temin HM. Correlation between cell killing and massive second-round superinfection by members of some subgroups of avian leukosis virus. *J Virol*. Jan 1980;33(1):494-506. doi:10.1128/jvi.33.1.494-506.1980

359. Lindwasser OW, Chaudhuri R, Bonifacino JS. Mechanisms of CD4 downregulation by the Nef and Vpu proteins of primate immunodeficiency viruses. *Curr Mol Med*. Mar 2007;7(2):171-84. doi:10.2174/156652407780059177

360. Xiao T, Cai Y, Chen B. HIV-1 Entry and Membrane Fusion Inhibitors. *Viruses*. Apr 23 2021;13(5)doi:10.3390/v13050735

361. Al-Saleem J, Dirksen WP, Martinez MP, et al. HTLV-1 Tax-1 interacts with SNX27 to regulate cellular localization of the HTLV-1 receptor molecule, GLUT1. *PLoS One*. 2019;14(3):e0214059. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0214059

362. Prud'homme GJ, Glinka Y. Neuropilins are multifunctional coreceptors involved in tumor initiation, growth, metastasis and immunity. *Oncotarget*. Sep 2012;3(9):921-39. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.626

363. Higuchi Y, Yasunaga J-i, Matsuoka M. HTLV-1's Foxy Strategy for Survival and Transmission. Review. *Frontiers in Virology*. 2022-January-03 2022;1doi:10.3389/fviro.2021.792659

364. Laverdure S, Polakowski N, Hoang K, Lemasson I. Permissive Sense and Antisense Transcription from the 5' and 3' Long Terminal Repeats of Human T-Cell Leukemia Virus Type 1. *J Virol*. Jan 20 2016;90(7):3600-10. doi:10.1128/jvi.02634-15 365. Rousset R, Desbois C, Bantignies F, Jalinot P. Effects on NF-kappa B1/p105 processing of the interaction between the HTLV-1 transactivator Tax and the proteasome. *Nature*. May 23 1996;381(6580):328-31. doi:10.1038/381328a0 366. Yee JK, Miyanohara A, LaPorte P, Bouic K, Burns JC, Friedmann T. A general method for the generation of high-titer, pantropic retroviral vectors: highly efficient infection of primary hepatocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Sep 27 1994;91(20):9564-8. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.20.9564

367. Golden RJ, Chen B, Li T, et al. An Argonaute phosphorylation cycle promotes microRNA-mediated silencing. *Nature*. Feb 9 2017;542(7640):197-202. doi:10.1038/nature21025

368. Stewart SA, Dykxhoorn DM, Palliser D, et al. Lentivirus-delivered stable gene silencing by RNAi in primary cells. *Rna*. Apr 2003;9(4):493-501. doi:10.1261/rna.2192803

369. Lemasson I, Polakowski NJ, Laybourn PJ, Nyborg JK. Transcription regulatory complexes bind the human T-cell leukemia virus 5' and 3' long terminal repeats to control gene expression. *Mol Cell Biol*. Jul 2004;24(14):6117-26.

doi:10.1128/mcb.24.14.6117-6126.2004

370. Frank SR, Schroeder M, Fernandez P, Taubert S, Amati B. Binding of c-Myc to chromatin mediates mitogen-induced acetylation of histone H4 and gene activation. *Genes Dev.* Aug 15 2001;15(16):2069-82. doi:10.1101/gad.906601

371. Robinson JT, Thorvaldsdóttir H, Winckler W, et al. Integrative genomics viewer. *Nat Biotechnol.* Jan 2011;29(1):24-6. doi:10.1038/nbt.1754

372. Rosenbloom KR, Dreszer TR, Pheasant M, et al. ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC Genome Browser. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Jan 2010;38(Database issue):D620-5. doi:10.1093/nar/gkp961

373. Castro-Mondragon JA, Riudavets-Puig R, Rauluseviciute I, et al. JASPAR 2022: the 9th release of the open-access database of transcription factor binding profiles. *Nucleic Acids Res.* Jan 7 2022;50(D1):D165-d173. doi:10.1093/nar/gkab1113
374. Eychène A, Rocques N, Pouponnot C. A new MAFia in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. Sep 2008;8(9):683-93. doi:10.1038/nrc2460

375. Rossignol M, Pouysségur J, Klagsbrun M. Characterization of the neuropilin-1 promoter; gene expression is mediated by the transcription factor Sp1. *J Cell Biochem*. Mar 1 2003;88(4):744-57. doi:10.1002/jcb.10384

376. Garcia JV, Miller AD. Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cellsurface CD4 by nef. *Nature*. Apr 11 1991;350(6318):508-11. doi:10.1038/350508a0 377. Bour S, Schubert U, Strebel K. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein specifically binds to the cytoplasmic domain of CD4: implications for the mechanism of degradation. *J Virol*. Mar 1995;69(3):1510-20. doi:10.1128/jvi.69.3.1510-1520.1995

378. Aramori I, Ferguson SS, Bieniasz PD, Zhang J, Cullen B, Cullen MG. Molecular mechanism of desensitization of the chemokine receptor CCR-5: receptor signaling and internalization are dissociable from its role as an HIV-1 co-receptor. *Embo j.* Aug 1 1997;16(15):4606-16. doi:10.1093/emboj/16.15.4606

379. Amara A, Gall SL, Schwartz O, et al. HIV coreceptor downregulation as antiviral principle: SDF-1alpha-dependent internalization of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 contributes to inhibition of HIV replication. *J Exp Med*. Jul 7 1997;186(1):139-46. doi:10.1084/jem.186.1.139

380. Cagnon L, Rossi JJ. Downregulation of the CCR5 beta-chemokine receptor and inhibition of HIV-1 infection by stable VA1-ribozyme chimeric transcripts. *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev*. Aug 2000;10(4):251-61. doi:10.1089/108729000421439
381. Shi F, Shang L, Yang LY, et al. Neuropilin-1 contributes to esophageal squamous cancer progression via promoting P65-dependent cell proliferation. *Oncogene*. Feb 15 2018;37(7):935-943. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.399

382. Luo M, Hou L, Li J, et al. VEGF/NRP-1axis promotes progression of breast cancer via enhancement of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and activation of NF-κB and β-catenin. *Cancer Lett.* Apr 1 2016;373(1):1-11. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.010 383. Hong TM, Chen YL, Wu YY, et al. Targeting neuropilin 1 as an antitumor strategy in lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* Aug 15 2007;13(16):4759-68. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-07-0001

384. Li L, Jiang X, Zhang Q, et al. Neuropilin-1 is associated with clinicopathology of gastric cancer and contributes to cell proliferation and migration as multifunctional coreceptors. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res.* Jan 22 2016;35:16. doi:10.1186/s13046-016-0291-5 385. Moodad S, Akkouche A, Hleihel R, et al. Mouse Models That Enhanced Our Understanding of Adult T Cell Leukemia. *Front Microbiol.* 2018;9:558. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.00558

386. Tanaka-Nakanishi A, Yasunaga J, Takai K, Matsuoka M. HTLV-1 bZIP factor suppresses apoptosis by attenuating the function of FoxO3a and altering its localization. *Cancer Res.* Jan 1 2014;74(1):188-200. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.Can-13-0436